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On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), | am pleased to
present the Annual Report of China Castson 81 Finance Company
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022. The Company is
an investment company pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

With the support of our shareholders, our Company name was
changed from “China Internet Investment Finance Holdings
Limited” to “China Castson 81 Finance Company Limited” and the
Chinese name of " E#HE81E R BMR A A" was adopted as the
Company’s new secondary name. As highlighted in the Company’s
annual reports for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 31
December 2021, the Company will identify and consider potential
investment opportunities in new economy sector and sustainable
agriculture, green food, and biotech driven through new
technological breakthrough. With this new focus on the various
industry sectors, the Company will not restrict its private equity
investments mainly in the internet finance sector and would take a
diversified approach in order to enhance the long term returns at a
level of risk suitable to the Company and its shareholders. In order
to highlight the Group’s new strategy and non-focus on the
internet finance sector, the Board believes that the Proposed
Change of Company Name would provide the Company with a
fresh corporate identity and image which will benefit its future
business development.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).
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As at 31 December 2022, our net asset value amounted to about
HK$55.6 million and decreased by about HK$27.9 million, as
compared to that of last year. During the year, the Group suffered
an operational loss of about HK$28.0 million (2021: HK$9.5
million).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's portfolio value of the Group
increased by HK$5.7 million and amounted to about HK$48.5
million. Our portfolio comprised a mix of Hong Kong-listed equities
which were classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss. The current and non-current portions of the listed equities
portfolio were in the amount of about HK$36.8 million and
HK$11.7 million, respectively.

The year 2022 was a challenging and difficult year for capital
markets and both equities and bonds performed unsatisfactorily.
The Hong Kong stock market fell amid the global market
correction. Most markets fell on the monetary tightening by major
central banks amid persistent global inflationary pressures. Worries
about recession risks also affected corporate earnings outlook and
stock market performance. Prolonged geopolitical conflicts in
Ukraine and energy supply issues in Europe further increased the
market volatility.

The gross proceeds from the disposal of investments decreased
from HK$136.8 million to about HK$31.4 million. Trading activities
were reduced as turnover in the Hong Kong stock market fell in
2022, and the decline was largely in line with trends in overseas
markets.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the revenue of the Group
of HK$0.5 million (2021: HK$0.5 million) primarily comprised
dividend income from our equity investments.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022, the loss from operations
increased from HK$9.5 million to about HK$28.0 million. The fair
value loss was about HK$10.8 million which was in line with the
market performance. The HSI and HSCEI hit their 13- and 17-year
lows, whilst the Hang Seng TECH Index fell to the lowest level
since its launch at one point. The market decline seemed to be
largely driven by external macro factors, partly attributable to
worries about US interest rate hikes, a global economic slowdown
and lingering geopolitical risks related to Ukraine. Rate-sensitive
technology stocks led losses.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Hang Seng Index
("HSI") and Hang Seng TECH Index (“HSTI") substantially dropped
15.5% and 27.2% respectively. During the current year, the net
fair value losses in our investment portfolio were about HK$10.8
million. The overall performance in listed equities portfolio was in
line with the market indices. We also suffered net fair value losses
of about HK$281,000 and HK$2,363,900 of our investments in
constituent of HSI and HSTI, respectively. There were also net fair
value loss of our investments in other Main Board stocks of about
HK$7.7 million.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recognised
government grants of about HK$0.3 million from the 2022
Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund
provided by the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
Government. The Scheme provided wage subsidies to employers
for the period from May to July 2022, mainly to retain their current
employees. Other income in prior year mainly represented the bank
interest income.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022, other net losses amounted
to HK$36,000 and mainly represented the loss in deregistration of
a subsidiary which was partly offset by the exchange gain arising
on the translation of assets denominated in US dollars. Other net
gains in prior year amounted to HK$8,938,000 and mainly
represented the gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
and the exchange gain arising on the translation of assets
denominated in US dollars.

Administrative expenses for the year dropped from about HK$18.6
million in prior year to HK$16.6 million and was partly attributed
to the cost control measures. During the year, certain inactive
subsidiaries were either deregistered or underwent the similar
process for the sake of cost-saving. Other operating expenses
comprised the management fee to the Investment Manager of
about HK$482,000 (2021: HK$505,000) and finance costs
represented the office mortgage interest.

The interest in an associate represented our interests in the 30%
shareholdings of Superb Kingdom Limited and its subsidiaries and
it had no carrying value at the reporting date.

The global economic outlook improved in late 2022 and most
major overseas markets rebounded amid easing price pressures
and interest rate hike concerns. Moderating inflation in the US and
Eurozone raised hopes for a potential deceleration in monetary
tightening.

The reopening of borders between the China and Hong Kong in
early 2023 also positively improved the investor sentiment.

However, there are still growing worries of a slowing global
economy. The International Monetary Fund and the World Bank
both warned about the risk of a global recession amid interest rate
hikes. Prolonged geopolitical tensions in Ukraine had also
widespread consequences for the global economy.
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In October 2022, the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
published a consultation paper on proposals to expand Hong
Kong's existing listing regime to permit listings of Specialist
Technology Companies and it is expected the new proposed
Specialist Technology rules will help to drive growth in talent and
investment across five frontier industries, which include
next-generation IT, advanced hardware, advanced materials, new
energy and environmental protection, new food and agricultural
technologies. This also echoes ESG investing and together with
biotech companies, these sectors are generally considered to be
benefitted from the ESG opportunities or can reduce the ESG risks.
Going forward, it will be preferable to integrate the ESG issues into
our investment decision making process. Different ways to
strengthen our financial position will also be considered as
necessary. After the full reopening of Hong Kong-mainland border,
we will continue to explore PE, SPAC-related and pre-IPO
investment opportunities on a proactive but prudent manner and
hope to enjoy a better return when the market is back to normal.

On behalf of the Company, | would express my heartfelt gratitude
towards all of the directors, management and staff members for
their support and contribution to the Group.

On behalf of the Board

China Castson 81 Finance Company Limited
Lam Man Chan
Chairman

Date: 27 March 2023
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As at 31 December 2022, the bank and cash balances decreased to
approximately HK$1.8 million (2021: HK$35.3 million) mainly
because of the increase in equity investments. The net current
assets decreased to approximately HK$35.0 million (2021: HK$49.9
million) mainly to finance the operations. As at 31 December 2022,
the Group had no material capital commitment (2021: Nil).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group maintained a low level of
gearing ratio of 2.0% as defined by total borrowings divided by
total equity (31 December 2021: 2.0%).

As at 31 December 2022, property, plant and equipment
amounted to approximately HK$8.8 million (2021: HK$9.4 million).

During the year, save for deregistration or strike-off of certain
inactive subsidiaries for the purpose of corporate group
rationalization, there were no significant acquisitions or disposals
of subsidiaries by the Group.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company’s total number of issued
shares remained to be 141,423,187 at par value of HK$0.01 each.

The 2012 Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 31
July 2012 has expired on the tenth anniversary of its adoption.
During the year, 885,638 share options under the 2012 Share
Option Scheme were lapsed and no share options were granted,
exercised and cancelled. On 27 June 2022, the 2022 Share Option
Scheme was adopted and no options has been offered or granted
during the year. There are no shares options outstanding as at 31
December 2022.
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The net losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
held as at 31 December 2022 to the date of approval of the
consolidated financial statements amounted to approximately
HK$3.0 million.

The investment portfolio primarily comprises listed equities in Hong
Kong stock market, and other funds are usually maintained in the
banks. Majority of them are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
The Board considered the Group had no significant exposure to
foreign exchange fluctuation as at the balance sheet date.

As at 31 December 2022, the office premises with a carrying
amount of about HK$8.8 million (2021: HK$9.3 million) was
pledged for an instalment loan.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had 16 employees (2021:
21) and directors. The remuneration packages for the employees
and the directors were in line with the prevailing market practice
and are determined on the basis of performance and experience.
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Disclosure required under the Listing Rules in relation to each
of the major investments held by the Group as at the balance
sheet date are mainly set out in the note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements in pages 187 to 192 of this
report.

The abovementioned major investments represented
investments in equity securities of issuers listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
performance of such listed issuers during their respective
latest financial period/year, material factors underlying their
respective results and financial position, significant events, if
any, during their respective financial periods under review,
and their respective future prospects are disclosed in their
respective announcements/reports made available on the
website of HKEx. To facilitate a review on the performance of
the significant investments held by the Group, relevant
information is extracted from such announcements/reports
and provided below for easy reference. The Company has not
independently verified the information published by such
listed issuers. All monetary and percentage figures cited
below are approximate figures only.

These significant investments are held for achieving capital
appreciation or generating interest or dividend income. To
meet our investment objective, listed securities are managed
and reviewed on a portfolio basis. Regarding listed equities,
the buy-and hold strategy and short-term trading tactics are
used to enhance the investment returns. Investment in
unlisted equities is reviewed on an investment -by-investment
basis and can typically provide a high return if there is a
successful exit.
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1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

Growth Up Group is one of the established backpack
and luggage manufacturers and exporters principally
operating in the design, development, manufacture and
sales of a diverse product portfolio under its private
label products; and branded products covering licensed
brand products. Its shares were listed on the Main
Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange since 2019.

Its revenue for the financial year 2021 from continuing
operation was approximately HK$304.7 million
representing an increase of approximately HK$28.1
million or approximately 10.2% on a year-on-year basis.
The loss for the year (including continuing and
discontinued operation) amounted to approximately
HK$3.0 million as compared to approximately HK$14.5
million in prior year.

Its Branded Label Products Business incurred losses for
the two financial years 2021 and 2020 in the amount
of approximately HK$8.3 million and approximately
HK$14.5 million respectively. This business was
disposed for a consideration of HK$30.5 million and it
shifted its business focus to Private Label Products
Business.

In the first half of it financial year 2022, its revenue of
private label products business increased by approximately
HK$20.4 million or approximately 12.3% on a year-on-year
basis because of the significant increase in sales of
essential bags.

It suffered from a loss of approximately HK$4.9 million
because gross profit margin decreased from approximately
20.0% to approximately 16.0% on a year-on-year basis.

The net asset value as at 31 December 2021 was
approximately HK$104.7 million (31 December 2020:
HK$107.9 million).
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1.6

2.1

2.2

The share price of Growth Up Group on the Stock
Exchange at the end of December 2022 dropped to
HK$0.295 (31 December 2021: HK$0.315), down about
6.3%. The highest and lowest trading prices of Growth
Up Group’s shares on the Stock Exchange during the
year ended 31 December 2022 were HK$2.28 and
HK$0.134 respectively.

China Oriented and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the provision of driving training services in
the PRC. China Oriented operated two driving schools
located in Zhumadian City, Henan Province, the PRC,
namely Tong Tai School and Shun Da School. Its shares
were listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange since 2019. Its revenues are mostly depending
on the demand for the driving training services in Henan
Province and particularly Zhumadian City. The key
factors which drive the demand for driving training
services include population growth, expansion of
logistics industry and increase in household income and
living standard in Zhumadian City.

Its revenue for the financial year 2021 slightly declined
by Renminbi (“RMB”) 0.8 million (or approximately
1.2% on a year-on-year basis) to RMB67.2 million.

Its loss for the year was approximately RMB3.5 million
as compared to a profit of approximately RMB6.8
million for the prior year.
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China Oriented encountered many challenges in the
financial year of 2021. Despite positive signs of
economic rebound during the first half of the year
2021, the overall economy of Henan province for the
second half of the year 2021 was adversely impacted by
sporadic outbreaks of Covid-19 cases, extreme weather
conditions and flooding. The entire driving training
system in Henan province was temporarily suspended
during the third quarter of the year 2021, affecting
driving training and testing of trainees. Meanwhile,
there were regulatory changes introduced by the PRC
government relating to setting-up of driving schools in
the PRC which came into effect since the third quarter
of the year 2021, which lowered the threshold for
existing Small Vehicles driving schools to enter into the
field of providing Large Vehicles driving training
services, thus intensified the competition in the driving
training services market and putting pressure on Tong
Tai School and Shun Da School in adjusting course fees
to capture and maintain market shares.

The net asset value as at 31 December 2021 was
approximately RMB206.7 million (31 December 2020:
RMB210.1 million).

In the first half of its financial year 2022, its revenue
decreased by RMB4.0 million to RMB31.5 million. Its
net profit was approximately RMB59,000 and dropped
from approximately RMB4.0 million on a year-on-year
basis.

The share price of China Oriented on the Stock
Exchange at the end of December 2022 changed to
HK$0.227 (31 December 2021: HK$0.255), down
11.0%. The highest and lowest trading prices of China
Oriented’s shares on the Stock Exchange during the
year ended 31 December 2022 were HK$0.285 and
HK$0.188, respectively.
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KNT and its subsidiaries are mainly engaged in the
manufacturing and trading of garment products and
accessories.

KNT is an one-stop solutions provider of bridesmaid
dresses, bridal gowns and special occasion dresses. KNT
principally sells its products to brand apparel companies
based in the United States. KNT is the sole supplier of
certain largest customers for bridesmaid dresses whom
had maintained long years of relationship.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, KNT recorded
revenue of approximately HK$80.0 million, representing
an increase of approximately 27.6% as compared to
that of approximately HK$62.7 million for the year
ended 31 March 2021. Revenue from the United States
accounted for approximately 78.6% and 46.2% of the
total revenue of KNT for the year ended 31 March 2021
and 2022 respectively. Loss was reduced to HK$25.1
million from HK$44.7 million on a year-on-year basis
because of (i) the decrease in impairment loss on trade
receivables and deposits; (ii) the decrease in inventories
written-down and (iii) the increase in other income.

In the first half of its financial year 2022, KNT recorded
revenue of approximately HK$37.3 million, representing
a decrease of approximately 0.5% as compared to that
of approximately HK$37.5 million in last corresponding
period. The gross profit margin decreased from 13.7%
for the six months ended 30 September 2021 to 9.4%
for the six months ended 30 September 2022. Loss for
the period amounted to approximately HK$18.1 million
for the six months ended 30 September 2022,
representing an increase in loss of approximately
141.3% as compared to loss of approximately HK$7.5
million for the six months ended 30 September 2021.

The net asset value as at 31 March 2022 was approximately
HK$104.1 million (31 March 2021: HK$44.8 million).
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The share price of KNT on the Stock Exchange at the
end of December 2022 dropped to HK$0.43 (31
December 2021: HK$0.47), down about 8.5%. The
highest and lowest trading prices of KNT's shares on
the Stock Exchange during the year ended 31 December
2022 were HK$0.65 and HK$0.29 respectively.

HKEX and its subsidiaries own and operate the only
stock exchange and futures exchange in Hong Kong
and their related clearing houses, a clearing house for
clearing over-the-counter derivatives contracts in Hong
Kong, an exchange and a clearing house for the trading
and clearing of base, ferrous and precious metals
futures and options contracts operating in the United
Kingdom, and a commodity trading platform in the
Mainland.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, total revenue
and other income of $18,456 million was 12 per cent
lower than the record 2021. Core business revenue was
down 9% against 2021, reflecting reduced trading and
clearing fees from lower Headline ADT and Stock
Connect Northbound ADT, and lower depository fees
and listing fees. Profit attributable to shareholders of
HKEX was $10,078 million, 20% lower than the record
2021.

The net asset value as at 31 December 2022 was
approximately HK$50.1 billion (31 December 2021:
HK$49.9 billion).

The share price of HKEX on the Stock Exchange at the
end of December 2022 dropped to HK$337.2 (31
December 2021: HK$455.4), down about 26%. The
highest and lowest trading prices of HKEX's shares on
the Stock Exchange during the year ended 31 December
2022 were HK$483.6 and HK$208.2 respectively.
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Bright Culture and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the video content operation, and
eCommerce promotion services. It is an independent
producer of variety programs in China. It shares were
listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange in 2020.

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2021
amounted to approximately RMB302.9 million,
representing a decrease of 40.1% from approximately
RMB505.8 million in 2020.

Profit for the year ended 31 December 2021 amounted
to approximately RMB49.5 million, representing a
turnaround of Bright Culture’s financial performance
from a loss of approximately RMB198.6 million in 2020.

Net assets for the year ended 31 December 2021
amounted to approximately RMB1,175.6 million,
representing an increase of 6.4% from approximately
RMB1,104.5 million in 2020.

In the first half of its financial year 2022, Bright
Culture’s revenue increased by 6.7% from RMB310.2
million in the first half of 2021 to RMB331.0 million in
the first half of 2022. The revenue from media platform
increased by 56% to RMB302.5 million in the first half
of the year from RMB193.4 million in the first half of
2021. Bright Culture’s profit for the first half of 2022
decreased by 63.8% to RMB20.9 million from RMB57.8
million for the first half of 2021.
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In early January 2023, Bright Culture entered into the
Strategic Cooperation Agreement with the Consultants,
who accumulated extensive experience in influencer
and KOL incubation and online streaming and
technology-related industries in the PRC. Pursuant to
the Strategic Cooperation Agreement, the Consultants
guarantee that the Cooperation Business generate
audited revenue of not less than RMB300 million and
audited net profit of not less than RMB30 million. in the
first year, and the annual increase of the audited
revenue and audited net profit thereafter shall not be
less than 20% during the Cooperation Period.

The share price of Bright Culture on the Stock Exchange
at the end of December 2022 dropped to HK$0.25 (31
December 2021: HK$0.67), down about 62.7%. The
highest and lowest trading prices of Bright Culture’s
shares on the Stock Exchange during the year ended 31
December 2022 were HK$0.76 and HK$0.146
respectively.

PT International and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in in a variety of business activities, including
trading of commodities, petrochemical storage business,
metal recycling, port and port-related services, provision
of management services, financial institute business and
loan financing services.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, PT International
reported a loss of HK$158.4 million (2021: profit of
HK$167.1 million which was mainly due to the fair
value loss of financial instruments, in particular, PT
International’s investment in AFC Mercury Fund which
principally invested in shares of companies listed on the
Korea Exchange, principally STX Corporation Limited.
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The net asset value as at 31 March 2022 was
approximately HK$716.2 million (31 March 2021:
HK$715.1 million).

In the first half of its financial year 2023, PT
International reported a loss of HK$90.3 million
attributable to the owners of PT International (2022:
loss of HK$95.6 million. The loss was mainly due to the
unrealised fair value loss of financial instruments, in
particular, the its’s investment in AFC Mercury Fund.

The share price of PT International on the Stock
Exchange at the end of December 2022 dropped to
HK$0.175 (31 December 2021: HK$0.27), down about
35.2%. The highest and lowest trading prices of PT
International’s shares on the Stock Exchange during the
year ended 31 December 2022 were HK$0.375 and
HK$0.056 respectively.

In early 2023, PT International announced that they
commenced legal proceedings in the High Court of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region against
plaintiffs an outstanding amount of about HK$47.9
million.

Golden Century and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the coalbed methane gas exploration and
exploitation, sale of electronic components, financial
business, wealth management, comprehensive
healthcare and proprietary investment.

Golden Century recorded a loss of approximately
HK$62.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2021
(2020: HK$64.6 million) representing a decrease of
approximately 3.4% as compared to 2020.
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Due to the keen market competition, Golden Century’s
revenue generated from the sales of medical devices and
epidemic-prevention supplies and products under the
comprehensive healthcare business recorded a decrease
of about 82.6% from HK$60.4 million for 2020 to
HK$10.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2021.
In addition, there was a further decline in the electronic
components business with a decrease of 74.8% from
HK$7.0 million for 2020 to HK$1.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

The net asset value as at 31 December 2021 was
approximately HK$24.8 million (31 December 2020:
HK$38.1 million).

In the first half of its financial year 2022, Golden Century’s
revenue decreased by about 29.2% to approximately
HK$8.5 million (2021: approximately HK$12.0 million).
The loss for the six months ended 30 June 2022 amounted
to approximately HK$46.2 million (2021: HK$29.0 million),
representing an increase of approximately of 59.0%.

The share price of Golden Century on the Stock
Exchange at the end of December 2022 dropped to
HK$0.077 (31 December 2021: HK$0.202), down about
61.9%. The highest and lowest trading prices of Golden
Century’s shares on the Stock Exchange during the year
ended 31 December 2022 were HK$0.228 and
HK$0.045 respectively.

Subsequent to the reporting date, the entire
investments in Golden Century were disposed of
because of its unsatisfactory performance and the
abrupt drop in its share price.
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Shuang Yun is a Singapore based contractor engaged in
road works services and construction ancillary services.
The road works services provided comprise of mainly: (i)
road construction services (i.e. new road construction,
road widening, and construction of road-related
facilities); and (ii) construction ancillary services (e.g.
road pavement and marking maintenance works, and
road upgrading services). Its shares were listed on the
Main Board since 2017.

Its road works services comprise mainly of: (i) road
construction services (i.e. new road construction, road
widening and construction of road-related facilities);
and (ii) construction ancillary services (e.g. road
pavement and marking maintenance works and road
upgrading services).

Its revenue for the year 2021 increased by 19.9%
year-on-year to approximately Singapore dollars (“S")
$78.4 million mainly because its construction work
recovered from the impact of COVID-19. Profit after tax
also increased from approximately $S$0.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately $$2.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2021.

The net asset value as at 31 December 2021 was
approximately S$57.0 million (31 December 2020:
S$55.2 million).

For the first half of its financial year 2022, its revenue
increased by 28.7% to as approximately $$53.3 million
because of the recovery of construction activity to
pre-pandemic level. Profit after taxation increased to
approximately S$1.5 million.

8.1

8.2

8.3

8.4

8E S R IR AER  HREER
ITERBREEREERY - HEZHZ
EERIEBREEZBE (i)?ﬁﬁ%@?&
AR (BB ER - BRHBER
HEABBREER) R @EEHW&
(Pl E R RIZREETIREUAR
BEEREANERE) -EHBRHEZZT
—EFRRERLET -

HER\CZERIEREEZETRE ()
BRELRE (HBEKER  BK
ME R BEABREER) « RiEE
Bl & AR 75 (191 20 B% 10 68 o8 e T 43 e o
TRARBEERASCER) °

R —FEKREREERI9.9%
Z #978,400,000% 0 3% 7T ([ 37 o0 4%
JL)) YRR EZETREE#20198
MEESR2EZEPMERR - REE
BT T —_EF+-_A=+—H
1F F JE 89 49600,000%T A1 3% 7T 18 hn &=
BHE T —F+_A=+—8HItHF
JE #9#92,000,000%F N3 7T °

WNZEZ—F+=-A=+—RHZEE
JF B #) A57,000,00087 mn ot (=&
—ZETF+=ZA=+—H 55,200,000
B IT) °

HE-T-_FUBRFEL¥YF -
H Uy 25 38 IN28.7% = #953,300,0005%T
T - AR EEFEEIREIES
BEERTHIKT - BRI EAIGINELD
1,500,000%7 N3 7T ©

TEER 81 2RARRA | ZBZZHEFR



8.5

9.1

9.2

9.3

The share price of Shuang Yun on the Stock Exchange
at the end of December 2022 dropped to HK$0.115 (31
December 2021: HK$0.26), down about 55.8%. The
highest and lowest trading prices of Shuang Yun ’s
shares on the Stock Exchange during the year ended 31
December 2022 were HK$0.35 and HK$0.082
respectively.

Tencent and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
the provision of value-added services (“VAS"), online
advertising and fintech and business services. Tencent is
one of the market leader in the PRC internet market.

Its revenues decreased by 1% to RMB554.6 billion for
the year ended 31 December 2022 on a year-on-year
basis. Profit attributable to equity holders of Tencent
decreased by 16% year-on-year to RMB188.2 billion for
the year ended 31 December 2022. Non-IFRS profit
attributable to equity holders of Tencent decreased by
7% to RMB115.6 billion for the year ended 31
December 2022. While industry conditions were
challenging in the first half of the year, Tencent
streamlined its cost structure, rationalised non-core
businesses, and initiated new revenue-generating
services, which enabled Tencent to resume earnings
growth in the second half of the year.

The net asset value as at 31 December 2022 was
approximately RMB782.9 billion (31 December 2021:
RMB876.7 billion). The drop of net asset value was
mainly attributable to the net losses from changes in
fair value of financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income of about RMB148.7 billion and
the payment of cash dividend of about RMB130.2
billion.
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9.4

10.1

10.2

10.3

The share price of Tencent on the Stock Exchange at
the end of December 2022 dropped to HK$334 (31
December 2021: HK$456.8), down about 22.4%. The
highest and lowest trading prices of Tencent’s shares on
the Stock Exchange during the year ended 31 December
2022 were HK$488.0 and HK$297.0 respectively.

JD.com is a leading technology-driven e-commerce
company transforming to become a leading supply
chain-based technology and service provider.

Net revenues for the full year of 2022 were RMB1,046.2
billion (US$151.7 billion), an increase of 9.9% from the
full year of 2021. Net service revenues for the full year
of 2022 were RMB181.2 billion (US$26.3 billion), an
increase of 33.3% from the full year of 2021.
from operations for the full year of 2022 was RMB19.7
billion (US$2.9 billion), compared to RMB4.1 billion for
the full year of 2021.

Income

Net income attributable to ordinary shareholders of
JD.com for the full year of 2022 was RMB10.4 billion
(US$1.5 billion), compared to a net loss of RMB3.6
billion for the full year of 2021.

10.4 The share price of JD.com on the Stock Exchange at the

10.5

end of December 2022 dropped to HK$220.2 (31
December 2021: HK$274.0), down about 19.6%. The
highest and lowest trading prices of JD. Com’s shares on
the Stock Exchange during the year ended 31 December
2022 were HK$308.2 and HK$138.9 respectively.

The net asset value as at 31 December 2022 was
approximately RMB274.1 billion (31 December 2021:
RMB246.8 billion).
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance
report of the Company for the Reporting Period.

The Company is committed to maintaining and implementing
a high standard of corporate governance and recognises that
good governance can help the business to deliver its
strategies, generate shareholder value and meet its
obligations towards shareholders and other stakeholders. The
Company has established a governance structure, and
embeds governance and principles in the business to ensure
accountability, fairness, integrity and transparency.

The Board adheres to corporate governance practices by
adopting and complying with the established rules, codes,
guidelines under the Corporate Governance Code (the “"CG
Code"”) set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The
Company has followed the CG Code and formulated its own
policies and procedures regarding the corporate governance
practices. During the financial year of 2022, the Company
complied with all of the provisions under the CG Code except
for the following:

It is required that an agenda and accompanying board
papers should be sent, in full, to all Directors for regular
board meetings and as far as practicable in all other
cases. These papers should be sent in a timely manner
and at least 3 days before the intended date of a board
or board committee meeting (or other agreed period).

Due to the practical reasons, agenda and related board
papers have not been sent, in full, in 3 days in advance
to certain meetings of the Board or Board Committee.
Save for the disclosure of certain inside information
which required timely publication of announcements,
the Company Secretary has used the best endeavours
to fulfil the above practice of three days advance notice.
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The Company adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed issuers (the “"Model
Code”) contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its
codes of conduct regarding securities transactions by
Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, having made specific
enquiry of all the Directors, all the Directors of the Company
have confirmed that they had complied with the required
standards as set out in the Model Code regarding the
securities transactions by the Directors and there were no
incidents of non-compliance with the required standard set
out in the Model Code.

The mission of the Company is to become a well-known
investment company in Hong Kong, and our business
philosophy is to benefit “Employee, Shareholders and
Community.” We believe that sustainable development is the
key to our success, and the positive impact on the community
as well as the environment will bring long term value to all of
our key stakeholders.

As an investment company under the Chapter 21 of the
Listing Rules, our primary investment objective is to achieve
capital appreciation and generating stable income from
interests and dividends. The Company will also consider ways
to integrate ESG factors in our investing processes.

The Board has overall responsibility for the management of
the Company and the implementation of its investment
policy, which includes, inter alia, the adoption of long term
corporate strategies, assessment of investment projects,
supervision of its management and review of its financial
performance to ensure that the Company’s investments are
conducted in accordance with its objectives.

R B B BRAN LT AR RIBH 8% 1 A £ B
TAEFETESFRZZBRETR(BE
SR EREFETELSRHZIBTE
All - B AR E NI ST R BT 82 SR E AR

,\
# o

HE-_ZTZ-_—_F#+-_A=+—HIFE "
KRERBESELAEBERE X272
REEFCDHER BESCETESFETES
RGP BEETRIFMEFAEEE - X EE
RIEEFRIME R EEENET ©

ARRIHERERIEBHNENERERT
BPWEERERRERET BRI
@] - JAHRE - TREERIRFIKINN
g MUHRARRENREBZERA
METEMNEMRE R REYER-

ER—FREBELTRUEBNELTOHRE
DA BHANEEREERRERENE
B TRASMBEFESRTHRA -
ARABIKZBWMAEAKRE & RER
AEMARMMKREBIE -

EZgREANAERBEETERHITH
RERK HPBERAREDAERE -
AHEIRERR  BEEARFEEENU LR
AMBRIR  AERARBZRETIKE
HERET

TEER 81 @BMBERRR | ZEBEZZFFH



The Company appoints a professional investment manager to
manage its investment portfolio. With effect from 25 January
2021, Success Advance Investments Limited had been
appointed as the Company’s investment manager (the
Appointment”) for a term of two years from 25 January
2021. Upon the expiry of the original fixed term of the
Appointment on 25 January 2023, the Appointment has been
extended automatically for a further term of one year subject
to the termination by either party with notice and our
Investment Manager agreed to receive a reduced monthly fee
from HK$45,000 to HK$22,500 subject to mutual review as
necessary.

The Company establishes its purposes, values and strategy as
mentioned above in Section 2. The Company emphasizes a
culture of creating long term value to stakeholders and we
recognize the importance of creating and maintaining a
culture of inclusion in our workplace and implementing
female and family-friendly incentives. We strive to maintain a
suitable workplace for all employees, promote economic
growth and create more job opportunities. We also reckons
that our sustainable performance is aligned to good
governance practices and a culture of compliance has been
cultivated amongst our staff.

All directors act with integrity and promote the above desired
cultures.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties as set out in code provision A.2.1 of the
Corporate Governance Code. The Board had reviewed the
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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Under code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code, the board should review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of directors and senior
management. All directors should participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. Through the course of their
directorship, Directors are updated on any developments or
changes affecting the Company and their obligations to it at
regular Board meetings. In order to ensure that Directors
continue to further their understanding of the issues facing
the Group, the Company will further strengthen the provision
of Board training, ranging from corporate governance to
regulatory issues.

Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. This is to ensure that their contribution into the Board
remains informed and relevant. All Directors have participated
in continuous professional development by studying materials
relevant to their duties and responsibilities. The Company
Secretary also provided relevant training materials for the
self-study of Directors.

During the year, relevant reading materials, including
regulatory updates, seminar handouts and briefings, have
also been provided to the Directors for their reference and
studying to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness
of good corporate governance practices.
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There are currently five Directors in the Board: the Chairman,
one Executive Director, and three Independent non-executive
Directors (“INEDs”). The roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer are separate. The Board regularly reviews its
size and composition to ensure that the Board can have a
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspective
appropriate to the requirements of our investment business.
We started to develop our own board skill matrix and
emphasized the investment skills and knowledge, risk
management and compliance knowledge.

The Company has set out the approach to achieve diversity of
its board of directors (the “Board”) of China Castson 81
Finance Company Limited (the “Company”). The Company
recognises the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance
the quality of its performance and to maintain high standards
of corporate governance.

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees increasing diversity at the
Board level as an essential element in supporting the
attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development. In designing the Board’'s composition, Board
diversity has been considered from a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments will
be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits
of diversity on the Board.
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Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service with the Group. The
ultimate decision will be based on merits and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board. The
nomination committee of the Board (the “Nomination
Committee”) will review this Policy and the measurable
objectives, at least annually as appropriate, to ensure the
effectiveness of this Policy. The Nomination Committee will
discuss any revisions that may be required, recommend any
such revisions to the Board, and monitor the implementation
of this Policy.

Under Code provision B.1.3, the board should review the
implementation and effectiveness of the diversity policy on
annual basis. The Nomination Committee will also report
annually on the Board’'s composition under diversity
perspectives. Currently, there is a female director on the
board and the Nomination Committee recommended us to
maintain a female director on the board as our target. The
Board also revised the board diversity policy accordingly.

The Directors’ biographical details are set out in the section
of “Biography of Directors and Chief Executive Officer” on
pages 105 to 112. The Board members for the year ended 31
December 2022 and as at the date up to this report were:

Chairman and Non-Executive Director
Dr. Lam Man Chan

Executive Director
Mr. Lee Kwok Leung

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon

Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy

Ms. Florence Ng
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The Board conducts at least four regular Board meetings a
year at approximately quarterly intervals in addition to other
Board meetings that are required for significant and
important issues, and for statutory purposes. The Board
meetings are attended by a majority of the Directors in
person or through other electronic means of communication.
Appropriate and sufficient information is provided to the
Board members in a timely manner to keep them abreast of
the Group’s latest development and thus assist them in
discharging their duties.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, other than
resolutions passed in writing by all the Directors, the Board
held six (6) meetings for all directors and one (1) meeting
between the Chairman and all Independent Non-executive
Directors. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Company convened an annual general meeting ("AGM").

The attendance of the Directors at the Board Meetings and
General Meetings for the year ended 31 December 2022 is
set out as below:

Chairman and Non-Executive Director EERFEBTES
Dr. Lam Man Chan M E +
Executive Director HITES

Mr. Lee Kwok Leung FEIREAE
Independent Non-executive Directors BAKBITES
Dr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon REHE L

Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy EBRALAE

Ms. Florence Ng REBFE L+

To the best knowledge of the Board, there is no financial,
business or family relationship among members of the Board
as at 31 December 2022. All of them are free to exercise
their individual judgment.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board has
met with the requirements of Rules 3.10(1), Rule 3.10(2) and
Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules, relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive directors,
representing at least one third of the Board, and with at least
one possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect
of his independence in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the Company considers each of them to be
independent.

According to Code provision B.2.3 and B.2.4, INEDs who
have served more than nine years on board, their further
appointment should be subject to separate resolution. As all
INEDs of the Company having served for more than nine
years, the Company may appoint a new INED no later than
their AGM to be held in 2023, or replace an existing INED.

The current Non-executive Director and Independent
Non-executive Directors of the Company are not appointed
for a specific term, all Directors (including Executive and
Non-executive) of the Company are subject to retirement by
rotation at the annual general meeting as specified in the
bye-laws of the Company.

During the year, the board size and composition was
reviewed by the Nomination Committee. With the use of the
board skill matrix, the Committee assisted the Board to
ensure that there are diversity of skills, experience,
perspective, gender representation on the board.
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The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Company and
ensure that they are prepared in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards. The Directors
also ensure the timely publication of such financial statements.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company, RSM
Hong Kong, with regard to their reporting responsibilities on
the Company’s financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 127 to 130.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries,
they are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

The code provision C.2. stipulates that the role of Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. To ensure a balance
of power and authority, Dr. Lam Man Chan and Dr. Yeung
Cheuk Kwong were appointed as the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company respectively. The major
duties of the Chairman are to provide leadership to the Board
and spearhead overall corporate development and strategic
planning whilst the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for
implementing the decisions and strategy approved by the
Board and managing day-to-day operations of the Group
with the supports of the Executive Director.

The Code provision C.2.7 of the Corporate Governance Code
states that the chairman of the board of directors of a listed
issuer should hold meetings with the independent
non-executive directors at least annually without the presence
of other directors. During the year, the Chairman had held a
meeting with the Independent Non-executive Directors
without the presence of other directors.
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The Audit Committee of the Company was established
with its written terms of reference formulated in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.
The Audit Committee currently consists of three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Dr. Ng
Chi Yeung, Simon, Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy and
Ms. Florence Ng. Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy is the
Chairman of the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee has adopted terms of reference which are in
line with the CG Code. The Audit Committee met
regularly during the year to review the completeness,
accuracy and fairness of the Company’s financial
statements, the Company’s financial reporting system
and internal control procedures, the scope and nature
of the external audit and matters concerning the
engagement of external auditor.

The Audit Committee is also responsible for reviewing
the Company’s interim and annual financial statements
and making recommendations as to the approval of the
Company’s interim and annual financial statements by
the Board.

During the year, the Audit Committee held 3 meetings
and the attendance of the members at the meetings for
the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out as below:

Independent Non-executive Directors BUEHMITES
Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy (Chairman) BBERE(EE)
Dr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon REHHE L

Ms. Florence Ng REBEBL LT
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The Remuneration Committee of the Company was
established primarily to review and make recommendations
to the Board on matters relating to the remuneration of
the Directors and the senior management of the
Company. The Remuneration Committee currently
consists of three Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely, Dr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon, Mr. Tam Yuk Sang,
Sammy and Ms. Florence Ng. Mr. Tam Yuk Sang,
Sammy is the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. The Remuneration Committee has adopted
terms of reference which are in line with the CG Code
to review the remuneration policy and remuneration
packages of the Directors.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held one
meeting and has reviewed the level of Independent
non-executive directors’ fees by making comparison to
peers.

The attendance of the members at the meeting for the
year ended 31 December 2022 is set out as below:

RRRZHEMEEBERIL - TERF
EERARARREEBZFHNER
ARt MEERELHERER - #
MEEERRH =—RBFIUIFNTE
= HREHBL BRERERR
RELTHEK - BIEELRERFHE
BEegxXF FHZEECRMELR
ERTAI—HZBERE HERES
BUEEZHMBERFMFE -

FR FHEZEEEET - REH
535 38 B2 [F) 5 4F LU B2 T 28 45 98 32 IR L
TEZEREKF -

ERERE_T-_—F+_A=+—
ALFEZERLFEBEREINMT

Independent Non-executive Directors BAUEHITES

Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy (Chairman) BIBELE(EE) 1
Dr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon REHE L 1
Ms. Florence Ng REBEBL LT 1
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The Nomination Committee currently consists of one
Executive Director, namely, Mr. Lee Kwok Leung and
three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Dr.
Ng Chi Yeung, Simon, Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy and
Ms. Florence Ng. Dr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon is the
Chairman of the Committee. During the year, the
Nomination Committee reviewed the composition,
structure, size of the board and the board diversity.

During the year, the Nomination Committee held two
(2) meetings and the attendance of the members at the
meeting for the year ended 31 December 2022 is set
out as below:

Executive Director BITES

Mr. Lee Kwok Leung TEBREE
Independent Non-executive Directors BAFEHITESE
Dr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon (Chairman)

Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy EBAESLAE

Ms. Florence Ng RV L+

REBEL(XF)

REZESHKA—BNTES  H
FEREL  UAR=ZF2BIIFATE
2 HREHEL BREALERR
RRRITHENK - REHZBELRZES
IR -FRN REZEERIESS
ZHEK - RE -BEUNEFESSZ T
b e

FHN REZEERTTHRQRE
FOEKEBEEZZ-_—_+=A
= +—HIEFEZEH LR XEET
LU
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The joint company secretaries of the Company, Mr. Leung
Yiu Wah and Ms. Cheng Suk Fun, have duly complied with
the relevant professional training requirement under Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

The joint company secretaries play an important role in
supporting the board by ensuring good information flow
within the board and that board policy and procedures are
followed. They are responsible for advising the board
through the chairman and/or the chief executive on
governance matters and also facilitate induction and
professional development of directors.

Both of the joint company secretaries are employees of the
Company and have day-today knowledge of our affairs.

They report to the board chairman and/or the chief executive.
All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
company secretaries to ensure that board procedures, and all
applicable law, rules and regulations, are followed.

The board of directors (the “Board”) of China Castson 81
Finance Company Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”) has adopted the dividend policy
which aims to provide stable returns to its shareholders and
to maintain a healthy financial position which allows the
Company to take advantage of any investment opportunities
that may arise from time to time.

Subject to the applicable laws in Bermuda and the Company’s
bye-laws, the Board may propose final dividends on an
annual basis and/or may declare interim dividends or special
dividends from time to time. The Board will consider, inter
alia, the Company’s and the Group’s operating results,
accumulated and future earnings, dividends received from
the Group companies, gearing, liquidity position, capital
commitment requirement and investment opportunities of
the Group, the volatility expected in its future earnings,
financial flexibility, tax considerations, flotation costs and
contractual and legal restrictions. General economic
conditions and relevant external factors will also be taken
into account.
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The dividend payout ratio may vary from year to year. There
is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular
amount for any given period.

Subject to the applicable laws in Bermuda and the Company’s
bye-laws, dividends may be paid in cash or to be satisfied
wholly or partly in the form of allotment of shares by the
Company. The Board may also consider the issuance of bonus
shares or distribution of specific assets of any kind, including
debentures or warrants to subscribe securities of the
Company or any other company, on a basis permitted by the
applicable laws and regulations and in such manner as the
Board thinks expedient.

The Board will regularly review the dividend policy and will
amend and/or modify the dividend policy if necessary.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for
Directors’ liabilities in respect of potential legal actions
against the Directors arising out of corporate activities of the
Group pursuant to code provision A.1.8 of the new CG Code.
Such directors’ liability insurance will be reviewed and
renewed annually. Throughout the year ended 31 December
2022, no claim has been made against the Directors.

Newly appointed directors of the Company will receive a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on
appointment. Every new Board member will receive our latest
version of Policies and Procedures manual which includes the
terms of reference of the Board and various board
committees, our investment policies and the guidelines on
conducts which include policies governing conflicts of
interest, anti-corruption guidelines of Directors and staff.

All directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. Ongoing training can help Directors keep abreast of
current trends, regulatory requirements and issues facing the
Group while remains informed and relevant. Our company
secretaries have arranged suitable training for directors.
Further details of training to our Directors and staff are set
out in the Section 4.3 of the ESG Report.
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If a substantial shareholder or a director of the Company has
a potential conflict of interest in a material matter to be
considered by the board, that matter should be dealt with by
a physical board meeting (telephonic or videoconferencing
may be counted as physical attendance) instead of a written
resolution. Independent non-executive directors who have no
material interest therein should be present at that board
meeting.

The Board is responsible for overseeing the preparation of
annual financial statements. We publishes the annual and
interim results within three months and two months
respectively after the relevant period ends. In preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022,
the Board adopted appropriate accounting policies
consistently, made prudent and reasonable judgements and
estimates, and ensured that the financial statements were
prepared on a going concern basis and show a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2022 and of the Group's consolidated financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended.

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate system
of internal control for the Company and has regularly
reviewed the internal control policy so as to safeguard the
Group's assets. During the year, the Company identified and
evaluated its key risks and likely uncertainties. The Audit
Committee has reviewed the findings and risk profile of the
Company.

Internal audit function

Given its lean operations, the Company’s internal audit
function has been primarily provided by professional firms.
During the year, BT Corporate Governance Limited reviewed
the reviewed the internal control procedures relating to the of
certain risk areas of the Group.
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Framework of risk management

Risk management is defined as the overall process of

identifying and understanding its own risks and taking

informed actions. This is to help it achieve its strategic

objectives, reduce the likelihood of failure and decrease the

uncertainty of overall business performance. Such risks would

include material risks relating to ESG factors.

(a)

Responsibility of the board and the management

The Company adopts a simple and practical approach
towards the risk management process. The Company
embeds the risk management features within our
investment management as well as operational areas
(including finance, human resources, and information
technology) and these operating units adopt the risk
management systems on a day-to-day basis.

These systems are designed to mitigate the risk of failure
to achieve relevant objectives, and provide reasonable
assurance against material misstatement or loss.
Moreover, the management annually reviews and
updates its risk profile, aiming to provide assurance to
the Board on the effectiveness of the risk management
systems, and the Board will oversee the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems on an ongoing
basic.

The Company has established policies for improper
conduct reporting (ie whistblowing) and anti-corruption,
respectively. Further details are set out in Section 5.3 of
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on
page 84.
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Risk management working group and role of the Audit
Committee

A risk management working group is mainly to advise
the Board on the Group’s risk profile and risk
assessment; to consider current and emerging risks and
risk exposures relating to the Group's business and
strategies to ensure that appropriate arrangements are
in place to control and mitigate the risks effectively; and
to review the Group's risk management policy on a
regular basis.

The Audit Committee supports the Board in monitoring
the risk exposure, the design and operating
effectiveness of the underlying risk management and
internal controls systems. The Audit Committee, acting
on behalf of the Board, oversees the following process:

- regular reviews of the principal business risks, and
related control measures, the strengths and
weaknesses of the overall internal controls system
and action plans for improvement;

- regular reviews of internal audit reports, including
action plans to address the identified control
weaknesses, status update and its
implementations; and

- regular reports by the external auditors of any
control issues identified in the course of their
work and discussion with the external auditors of
the scope of their respective review and findings.

The Audit Committee will then report to the Board after
due review of the effectiveness of the Group’s system
of internal controls. The Board considers the works and
findings of the Audit Committee in forming its own
view on the effectiveness of the system.
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Our approach for managing risk is underpinned by our
understanding of our current risk exposures, and how
our risks are changing over time. The risk assessment
includes identifying relevant objectives, identifying
events that could affect the achievement of objectives,
determining risk tolerance, assessing the likelihood/
significance of risks and evaluating the portfolio of
risks. Internal controls and risk management are
integrated into our investment operations.

The risk management working group performed the
continuous risk assessment, and maintained and
updated its risk register. It also reviewed emergent risks.
During the year, the spread of COVID-19 has seriously
impacted the economy. The following are considered to
be relatively high risks to us: a. Market risk, b.
Geopolitical risk, c. Inflationary risk, d. Equity price risk,
e. Volatility risk, f. Omicron pandemic risk, g. Liquidity
risk, h. Strategic risk, i. Interest rate risk and j. Currency
risk (items b., c., f., i. and j. were considered as
relatively low risks in 2021).
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The following highlights the major risks to the Group TYHNREER S - —FHEITZF
based on the annual risk assessment conducted in EREFTEmERNz AEREZERKE -
2022.

Market Risk T35 & B

Market risk is the risk that deteriorates profitability
or affects ability to meet business objectives
arising from the movement in market prices, such
as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
equity prices.

misEREIEETISER (NEX - FXRREAE
RE)EHMERBNE NI BRTEEKEKR
BRZeN 2 AR -

Political/Geopolitical Risk Bi& 4 B4 B b
Political risk is an important factor for allocation of
investment portfolio, which can minimize the
negative effects arising on the occurrence of
significant or unexpected political events.

oA ESRREEAGN —HEERE - &
FEANEIBREGEAERFELENEEY “E
FRE -

Geopolitical risk is the risk associated with the
tensions between national governments that affect
the normal course of international relations. Lack
of such awareness may result in wrong investment
decision- making.

ik BUR B B =2 B SR BUF 2 8 5 B R B R IE % 59
EEKTZENERBAER HZARNEZTEA
RESIBUEH SR RAVIREIRK o
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Regular update of capital market expectations
and monitoring the exposure to implement
appropriate measures on a timely and effective
manner.
EHEREATSAARERE@RER - AW
REE KB B R EUE E R 16 ©

Monitoring of development of the key political
events.

EHNERBUAEMHMER -

Incorporate geopolitical risk into the investment
process, together with Investment Manager.
HEELRE—B  SHM&ABLRRERAAKRER
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There are three kinds of geopolitical risk: event
risk, exogenous risk and thematic risk.
BB BUE R - FHERR - INERR
[2. Bz o

R g

a) Event risk evolves set dates known in advance.

=R EALMBEIE BHRE -

b)  Exogenous risk is a sudden or unanticipated
risk.
HNE R E — R RAM R B IR BIMER -
Q) Thematic risk is a known risk that evolves
and expands over a period of time.
HERRE-BEMARR  E£-REHRNE
BIEA -

Inflationary Risk & bR /& i

Inflationary risk is the risk that inflation will
undermine an investment’s returns through a
decline in purchasing power.
AREARISEREFVIRBBEE N TRMESK
B R R o

Bond payments are most at inflationary risk
because their payouts are generally based on fixed
interest rates, meaning an increase in inflation
diminishes their purchasing power.
BHEOXNEINBRARTROZESZK AR
XNRBREREENEEL  EERZFBR L
FHEElEsEESN -

The US and European countries encountered high
inflation and US has increased its interest rate by
about 3% during the period from January to
October 2022.

FHEBMNBEREBI SEK XER-_T==
—RAE+APBEEEMNEXESO3% °

Assessment of geopolitical threats by
consideration of likelihood it will occur, speed of
its impact, and the size and nature of the impact

mEEEEBEENAI BN

?/EﬂﬁfifLA&

EMRE R EERF A EBOA

a)

Event risk: To assess the consequence of
political events which often result in
changes to investor expectation related to
a country’s cooperative stance.

SRR FEBUBEHNERR  %FF
HEEEFREEY —EABRRXNAIELS

M FRER S AR -

Exogenous risk: To assess time impact of
sudden uprisings, invasions, or the
aftermath of natural disasters.

SNERBE AT RBEEG  ARSBARK
ERIRNEHETE -

Thematic risk: To assess climate change,
cyber threats and ongoing threat of
terrorism.
HERER : A EREEL @
BORMERRE -

BB M

Monitoring the interest rate exposures to
implement appropriate measures.
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Equity Price Risk B& A< {8 1% & &

Price risk arises from fluctuation in market prices of
our investment in listed equity securities. The
management manages the exposure by maintaining
a portfolio of listed equity securities with different
risk exposure.

ERABRRARARIMKE FTHRARZZFZ TS
BRRKY -EEEABBAETARRERE 2 £
BAFEFEERERZER

Concentration Risk £ 7 [ k&

Concentration of equity price may arise if the
Group has a significant investment in a single
equity investment. Details of the major investment
are disclosed in note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements.
BRABRETRRNAEERNE -—REAKRER 2K
BELER - TEREZHBRES M B REM
21 R -

Volatility Risk 3§ 5f /& k&

It arises from the change of value of an investment
or portfolio as a result of the volatility of the
underlying assets.
RBEBRBRRREAEANZEERIAER 2R
BRREEAEEEY -

Omicron Pandemic Risk Omicrons& 15 /& k&
Subvariants of Omicron, especially BA.5, have
challenged the world with ever more transmissible
versions of the virus in 2022.
Omicron#) S5 BV B fE IR (0 HZBAS) IE LR
BMR T FHEIERE -

China’s zero-COVID strategy protects people’s
lives. Both the infection rate and mortality rate in
China are the lowest in the world.
FEHEESTRIERE T AP Em o AR
RRAERIT R [ RKE -
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Constantly reviewing the investment strategies
with the Investment Manager and consider to
devise appropriate equity investment strategy.
HEEELETHERRERE  UEBHER
AR SR -

Regularly monitoring the position sizing limits
and reviewing the concentration analysis.
FHEREUEHIREREEETREDN -

Monitoring the volatility of the underlying
investments and considering using appropriate
financial instruments with Investment Manager.
HEEKBEERERREZ KRBT EZERERS
HERIA-

Monitor the development of the pandemic.
EREIBHER -



10.

11.

Liquidity Risk B & £ &

It is the potential risks that our Group will be
unable to meet its obligations when they fall due
because of an inability to obtain adequate funding
or liquidate assets.
RBECEBREAESERAREESEHE SRS
BEZFEMBEBTIRECT 2 EERR -

Strategic Risk % B /&g

Strategic risk may arise from the pursuit of an
unsuccessful business plan, failed business decision
or from a failure to respond well to changes in the
business environment.
REEERIRNARERINEEEBKTE  BRARRK
KRIAREHZ SR EEBRRFEL L -

Health and Safety Risks fi# 5 8 %2 2 F i
Occupational health and safety risks mainly arise
from hazards such as the pandemic of infectious
diseases. It can lead to harm, injury, death or
illness of an employee in a workplace.
BEEREAz2ERIBRAZERE WX
MITERE - ZEREEASIBEERIIESMX
5 XFE RTHER °

Regulatory Risk 552 &k

Regulatory risk is the risk that a change in regulations
or legislation will adversely affect a security,
company, or industry.
EERERERERIENEETHZ S  REIHIT
XEEMNZE AR -

Close monitoring of the regulatory risk in relation
to each of the investee company, and reporting to
be made as appropriate.

EYENREZERKREARNEERR - W@

B R o

Holding sufficient liquid assets to ensure that
sufficient cash flows are available to meet all
financial commitments and to capitalize
opportunities for business expansions.

FRABAARRDEE HMREGERHEEN
EEMNPAMBAE  URIEBERBRERER -

Reviewing the strategic asset allocation and
regular update of capital market expectations
together with the Investment Manager.
AR EERREEREYTHEHRER
TiGTEA

Monitoring the virus situation and implementing
additional precautionary measures. Staying alert
to novel infectious diseases and encouraging
staff to take vaccination.

ERREBN BREINENEE - Wi E
RRRFEG  WEHBEIEBEES -

Incorporate regulatory risk in the investment
process.
REERBRMARERRE -

TEER 81 @BMBERRR | ZEBEZZFFH



12. Interest Rate Risk Fl|Z= @&

Our Group analyses its interest rate exposure on a Monitoring the interest rate exposures to
dynamic basis and considers managing this risk in implement appropriate measures.
a cost-effective manner when appropriate, EERFRER  UREBUEE OB -

through a variety of means. Interest rate risk arises
from the unexpected changes in the interest rate.
AREBEBRPEEESNEN RER - W EERE
EREREBRFR UAKARGZ 2 FAERZ
B o F @R B A TER 2 A R EEE o

Interest rate risk is the probability of a decline in Update the market development of the interest
the value of an asset resulting from unexpected rate trend in the capital markets.

fluctuations in interest rates. Interest rate risk is EHEARAMSHNAINEBENTMSGEE

mostly associated with fixed-income assets (e.g.

bonds) rather than with equity investment.

MEEREIEARMNEZNEINNBEREEEE

THROBX - MERARAZEEBETERAEE (0

BH)BH MIRERERERM -

13. Investment Risk 18 & E k&

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of Monitoring and assessing the development of
occurrence of losses on any particular unlisted investee companies.

investment. ERRAHEREHRAFIZEE -
RERBRAAER/EMERNFELTIREZLEE

Z AR -

14. Climate Change Risk 50 1% £t & i&
Details are set out in the section of TCFD Report
on pages 96 to 104 of this report.
HERARNMEFEICE104E /) R IK H0BE B 75 1 55
TENERER D -
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15. Currency Risk & & &8

Currency risk or exchange rate risk refers to the
exposure, in regard to unpredictable gains or loss
due to changes in the value of one currency in
relation to another currency. During the year
2022, the US dollar has risen by almost 15%
against some of the world’s most traded
currencies.

E¥EARIEXRREEAN -—BEBHEERNS
—EBEBNEEREtMEENTAEAINERA
HRER RT__F ZTAHER LI
FERRKNEE LTR5% °

16. Cyber Security Risk 4848 & 2 E
Cyber security remains a key risk trend to most
operating enterprises.
BRLE2HUARIFIKLELERARTIEZRRBY -

17. Credit Risk 5@
Credit risk arises when the counterparty would fail
to discharges its obligations under the terms and
cause a financial loss to the Group.
EERBRIREF I RERGRBETERLE &
HAEERXPBELISHRZ AR -

The Audit Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board as to the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditors, which is
subject to the approval by the Board and at general meetings of
the Company by the shareholders. For the year ended 31
December 2022, the fee paid/payable in respect of audit services
and non-audit services to the Company’s auditor, RSM Hong
Kong, was approximately HK$360,000 and HK$51,000
respectively.

Consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure if arises.

i R ERIMNER B - ZBHETE I -

Ongoing cyber security control enhancement to
align with industry practices and standards.
FERABR LT 2ERER  AHETEIEDN
FIHRZE o

Monitoring the credit exposures on a continuous
basis.
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Details of Directors’ remunerations during the Reporting
Period are set out in Notes 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The implementation of shareholders communication policy
(including two-way communication channels and review of
their effectiveness) is a new mandatory requirement and has
been complied with. The Board and management maintain a
continuing dialogue with the Group’s shareholders and
investors through various channels. First, the Company’s
publications include financial reports (interim and annual reports),
results announcements, corporate announcement, circulars and
other regulatory disclosures. These aim to enable the Group’s
shareholders to have timely and updated information of the
Group. The other channels are through the Company’s websites
(http://www.irasia.com/listco.hk/810 and/or www.hk0810.com);
and annual general meetings and other general meetings.

The Company has approved its shareholders communication
policy during the year, and believes it is appropriate and
effective. The policy is also available on the Company’s websites.

Further details about the Group’s engagement activities with
shareholders and other stakeholders in 2022 are set out in
the Section 2.4 of the Environment, Social and Governance
Report on pages 62 to 64.

At each general meeting, the chairman of that meeting will
propose a separate resolution for each substantially separate
issue with the advice of the Company’s lawyers as necessary
and avoid “bundling” resolutions unless they are
interdependent and linked forming one significant proposal.

The Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, other members of the
Board and the external auditor attend the annual general
meeting to meet the shareholders. The chairmen of the audit,
remuneration, and nomination committee (as appropriate) also
attend such meeting and the Directors will answer questions
raised by the shareholders on the issues set out in the meeting’s
agenda.
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Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing through the Company
Secretary whose contact details are as follows:

Address: Unit 18, 9/F., Block B, Focal Industrial Centre, 21
Man Lok Street, Hunghom, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Email: info@hk0810.com

Shareholders may also make enquiries with Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

Shareholders can submit a written requisition to move a
resolution at the shareholders’ meeting. The number of
shareholders shall represent not less than one-twentieth of
the total voting rights of all shareholders having at the date
of the requisition a right to vote at the shareholders’ meeting,
or who are no less than one hundred shareholders.

The written requisition must state the resolution,
accompanied by a statement of not more than one thousand
words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution of the business to be dealt with at the
shareholders’ meeting. It must also be signed by all the
shareholders concerned and be deposited at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong at Unit 18, 9/F.,
Block B, Focal Industrial Centre, 21 Man Lok Street,
Hunghom, Kowloon, for the attention of the Company
Secretary not less than six weeks before the shareholders’
meeting in case of a requisition requiring notice of a
resolution and not less than one week before the
shareholders’ meeting in case of any other requisition.

The shareholders concerned must deposit a sum of money
reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in
serving the notice for the resolution and circulating the
statement submitted by the shareholders concerned under
applicable laws and rules.
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On behalf of the Company, | am pleased to present the
seventh Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG")
report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.
This report demonstrates our ongoing efforts and
commitment enhancing our sustainability performance in
areas such as employee care and community participation.
We are committed to fulfilling societal obligations by
fostering a collaborative and inclusive workplace culture and
creating a positive impact on the community where we
operate.

Year 2022 is an extremely difficult year for the global
financial markets with the continuous impacts of the
COVID-19 pandemic. Because of the climate change, we saw
more droughts, hurricanes. powerful floods, terrifying
wildfires, and unusually early heat waves globally. In
September 2022, the Category 4 hurricane lan came ashore
as one of the strongest storms ever to strike Florida which
moved across the state with damaging winds, heavy rains
and power outages. The high socio-economic and
environmental cost of the extreme weather highlighted the
vulnerability of the world’s most populous nation to climate
change impacts and the need for urgent action to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions. Increased heatwaves, droughts
and floods are affecting billions of people worldwide,
contributing further to poverty, hunger and instability. The
COVID-19 pandemic and the war in Ukraine have further
delayed the urgently needed transition to greener economies.
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During the year, we decided to change the company name.
The Company will identify and consider potential investment
opportunities in new economy sector and sustainable
agriculture, green food, and biotech driven through new
technological breakthrough. As part of ESG investing, the
sectors are generally considered to be benefitted from the
ESG opportunities or can reduce the ESG risks. ESG investing
is an approach to managing assets where ESG factors are
explicitly incorporated in investment decisions with long-term
return of the investment portfolio in mind. In particular, to
address the climate -related risks. it is generally preferable to
identify those sectors which are more likely to be adversely
affected by the transition to a low-carbon economy and will
tilt away from companies that are carbon-intensive or own
fossil fuel reserves, and tilts towards companies that generate
green revenues as far as possible. This can further integrate
the ESG factors into our investing operations. With this new
focus, the Company will not restrict its private equity
investments mainly in the internet finance sector and could
take a diversified approach in order to enhance the long term
returns at a level of risk suitable to the Company and its
shareholders. In order to highlight the Group’s new strategy
and non-focus on the internet finance sector, the Board
believes that the Change of Company Name would provide
the Company with a fresh corporate identity and image
which will benefit its future business development.

We also introduced a new shareholders communication policy
in this year. This aims to set out the Company’s strategies for
maintaining continuous and open communication with its
shareholders to establish a two-way relationship and
communication. Engagement is regarded as one of the key
initiatives for improving governance. As we advance, we
continue our commitment to understanding the needs of our
stakeholders and the community, and hope to build a better
community where we operate.
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The Company’s mission is to become a well-known
investment company in Hong Kong. Our business philosophy
is “to benefit Employees, Shareholders and Community.”

Sustainable development is the key to our success, and the
positive impact on the community as well as the environment
will bring long- term value to all key stakeholders. As an
investment company, our primary objective is to achieve
capital appreciation as well as generating stable income from
interests and dividends. The Company also concerns about
the environmental, social and governance ("ESG") factors
and their impacts on our investment portfolio. ESG investing
recognises the generation of long-term sustainable returns
should be dependent on stable, well-functioning and
well-governed social, environmental and economic systems. It
can enhance long term value by using ESG factors to mitigate
risks and identify growth opportunities.

In the course of our investment operations, we also
implement various tasks of sustainable development, and
employees care to ensure adherence to our business
philosophy.

An ESG working group (“ESG Working Group”) was
established in 2020 to follow up the ESG-related matters and
it mainly comprises key management members. This report
was prepared by the ESG Working Group in accordance with
the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) using the internal data of the Group.

All important areas were identified through stakeholder
engagement and materiality assessment. We approached
stakeholders via various channels to obtain opinions on ESG
issues in our business, and set priorities on the important
areas to be reported by reference to their impacts on the
environment, economy and society and on stakeholders. We
aim to provide objective, accurate and fair information in this
report.
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The reporting period is from 1 January 2022 to 31 December
2022. Unless otherwise specified, the report covers the
investment operations of our office in Hong Kong and the
office operation is considered to be small in terms of
headcounts and office space.

A detailed content index of the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide issued by the Stock Exchange is
included in the end of this report. Regarding the information
of our corporate governance, please refer to the corporate
governance report.

We adopt the four reporting principles outlined in the ESG
Reporting Guide, aiming to respond to ESG matters that are
relevant to the stakeholders and our operations.

Through regular communication regularly
with stakeholders, we strike to better
understand their concerns about sustainability
issues that affect them. Based on the results
of the communication, we re-examine and
confirm the material issues of this report
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We have developed data collection procedures

to record and monitor ESG metrics with the
coordination of the ESG working group.
Where applicable, this report discloses the
guantitative data for the year to allow
stakeholders to understand our performance.
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In order to disclose our ESG \
performance in an impartial manner, we ” \
maintain a balance of reporting and / “' ‘

disclosure of the progress and ongoing
challenges in the key areas.
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In accordance with the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide of the Stock
Exchange, the quantitative information in this
Report has been prepared in a consistent
manner to allow readers to compare with the
previous reports of the Company.
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This report is published in both Chinese and English. If there
is any discrepancy, the English version shall prevail. Your
feedback will help us to improve the content disclosed in the
report and you are welcome to provide us with your valuable
comments.

The Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) are a collection of
17 interlinked goals designed to be a “blueprint to achieve a
better and more sustainable future for all”, and are intended
to be achieved by the year 2030. According to the
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) of 2022 issued by the
United Nations, the aspirations set out in the 2030 Agenda
were in jeopardy as the world faced cascading and interlinked
global crises and conflicts. With the COVID-19 pandemic in
its third year, the war in Ukraine exacerbated food, energy,
humanitarian and refugee crises. The financial services
industry is considered as a vital enabler for the real economy
and could support improved economic well-beings through
prosperity under the SDGs 7 to 11. It also positively influences
ESG practices of investee companies under SDGs 13 to 16.
Investing in renewable energy (SDGs 7,13) and other
infrastructure projects (SDGs 6,9) can also meet demands of
impact investors.
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We have identified the priorities for the SDGs related to the HMEmMEEANEEEKBRNTHER
Group’s operations and integrated them to better guide EEEELERE IWBEHEES  UEHH
ESG-related activities. FEEESGAERAE B -

The Group’s actions that are aligned with SDGs

SDGs A/ BB R B R AEENTHHEUTSEEZRRAE R
Goal 3- good health We provide a safe working environment amid the novel
and well-being coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. We implemented a series
Bi%3 - RiFfeFREsEat of guidelines and measures to ensure the safety of

employees, and spared no effort to prevent and control the
pandemic.

R BB S (20198 RmER) BESRM - ZLMREER
EHIERE - BZE-RINREBEIRE2N & LEMK
2N EIE T -

Goal 5 - gender equality This is achieved by recognizing the importance of creating

BiE5- HRIEE and maintaining a culture of inclusion in our workplace and
implementing female and family-friendly incentives.
RERE-—BR BARBINETESHEERER &
BENENEEN - WEE G LR ER L EBENE M o

Goal 8 - decent work We strive to maintain a suitable workplace for all employees,
and economic promote economic growth and create more job
growth opportunities. Please refer to the Section 4.2 “Health and

BiR 8- BB LIEM Safety” for further details.
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An efficient management structure and regular communication

with stakeholders are important to lead our sustainable

development. An ESG management structure has been
developed with a dedicated ESG Working Group in place to
ensure the effective implementation of ESG policies and

measures. We gather the feedbacks and expectations of

internal and external stakeholders through regular

engagement. This helps us to evaluate our operations, mitigate

the ESG-related risks and seize business opportunities.

Below is the statement from the Company’s Board of
Directors (“Board”) explaining the oversight of
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") issues
and how the Group approaches the management of
ESG issues.

Governance Structure and Board'’s Oversight

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG
strategy and reporting. It provides oversight of ESG
issues with an emphasis on the Group’s long-term
development and positioning, through the Sustainability
Governance Structure outlined below.

The Board is responsible for steering our ESG's overall
direction. The Executive Committee is charged with the
responsibility to guide the ESG Working Group in
implementing ESG policies and measures, and oversees
the running of our ESG system.
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Responsible party 884 Core responsibility /0 E4E

It
R
it

Shareholders and other Stakeholders

PR B E A s AR &

Board of Directors o Provides strategic advice to the Executive Committee
BExwg MATEESRHRBER

Executive Committee o Implements ESG-related procedures and internal control
WITEE® measures

WMITIRE g RERHBERF RABIES i

o Oversees work of the ESG working Group

EBERE #HehERaTHENMMIE

o Approves ESG Reports, and ensures the accuracy of the key
performance indicator data

EHRR HERELAME  URREBEMIERHEDN

S 1 b
ESG Working Group o Facilitates the implementation of ESG policies across
RE e kERIENA business units

EBEXFMAIERRE  HEREABR

o Collates ESG key performance indicator data

BIBIRIE g LERBRESIREEE

o Prepares ESG Reports
REIRIE g REBWRE

o Reports to the Executive Committee on the implementation
status of ESG initiatives
MATEEEREABRE LG RESBENNITER

The Sustainability Governance Structure is mainly AREEEETAEBIEHENMISER
supported by the ESG Working Group, constituted by FHERMEBIE e REATIE/ N AL o
senior representatives from a cross-section of BB B

departments. The structure also includes:

e Executive Committee; s HITEBEE:
. Risk Management Working Group reporting to the . RRERIENE ERNESELE
Board and Audit Committee. “EEEER-
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The Board approved the Sustainability Framework
including sustainability priorities, as well as the
long-term sustainability goals and targets for each of
the sustainability priorities, after taking into
consideration such factors as international benchmarks
and best practices.

The approved Sustainability Framework covers the
following four sustainability priorities:

o Climate Resilience: Adapt to climate change and
decarbonize the business

° Resource Management: Optimize the use and
management of natural resources (energy, water
and materials)

o Well-being: Sustain a healthy, inclusive and safe
environment and promote social wellbeing

J Sustainable Investment and ESG Investing:
Promote sustainability practices in investment.

Our Environmental Policy

2231 Policy Statement
We are committed to minimising the
environmental impacts of their business. Good
business practices can have a fundamental effect
on environmental protection. We seek to conduct
its activities in an environmentally responsible
manner and to develop a range of management
practices aimed at promoting sustainable
development.

2232 Sustainable Development
We endeavor to achieve a high standard of
environmental care in developing its business and
to give due consideration to environmental risks
that would damage the natural and built
environment in conducting its business. We
believe that such conduct would add value to us
and our stakeholders, and contribute to the
enhancement of the environment and the
well-being of the society.
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2233 Management Practices
We seek to implement sound environmental
programmes that use resources more efficiently
and effectively. These include the following:

o Promote energy efficiency

° Improve consumption of materials to reduce
waste generation and dispose of waste in an
environmentally acceptable manner

° Promote recycling and the use of recycled or
environmentally friendly materials

° Give preference to suppliers and contractors
who adopt environmentally friendly practices

o Meet all relevant environmental, health and
safety laws and regulations

J Support environmental initiatives, partly
through our community programmes

2234 Promoting Environmental Awareness
We seek to promote public awareness of the
importance of environmental protection and of
the responsibility of management, employees and
other stakeholders to work in partnership for the
benefit of the environment. It is committed to
communicating environmental practices externally.

The Group believes that its sustainable performance is
linked to good environmental practices and pays
attention to environmental factors in its decision-making
processes.

We strive to incorporate environmental risk assessments
into investment decisions. Investees are expected to
fulfil the appropriate compliance obligations applicable
to their business.
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All employees are encouraged to conduct their duties in
an environmentally responsible manner. The Group’ s
environmental policy was approved by the Board of
Directors and forms an integral part of its corporate
social responsibility. Senior executives are tasked with
its implementation. The environmental policy will be
monitored and periodically reviewed in the light of new
developments.

ESG risks and opportunities to the Company are
identified by the ESG Working Group. ESG risks are
managed by the Risk Management Working Group and
ESG opportunities are addressed by the relevant
departments and functions.

The Sustainability Framework, sustainability priorities,
long-term sustainability goals and targets, and KPIs are
set with reference to the Group's principal business in
the Investment sector. The Board reviews progress on
the implementation of the sustainability goals and
targets with reference to the KPIs principally through
regular reporting of the ESG Working Group to the
Executive Committee.

An internal materiality assessment was conducted by our ESG
Working Group together with the senior management. We
have taken into our account of the following factors:

a. overall mission and, corporate values, policies and
procedures manual, its risk management framework,
risk register and related studies/analyses.

b. Laws, regulations, international agreements, or
voluntary agreements of strategic significance to the
Company.

c.  Main topics and future challenges for the investment

companies, particularly considering relevant guidance
and resources.
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Regarding external materiality assessment, stakeholder
engagement is an important tool that a company can use to
identify, develop and achieve accountable and strategic
responses to ESG issues. In order to understand the
significant operational subjects that are sufficiently concerned
by the stakeholders, our ESG Working Group adopted a
systematic approach of identification, prioritization and
review and conduct surveys or interviews with internal and
external stakeholders to identify the sufficiently important
and relevant ESG issues which are the sustainable focuses
that the Group needs to pay close attention.

BRI EEMTG HP—BHEEFR
RNEEEEL2E - A ¥R RMERER -
e RkERZERRN HEMEEAER
EXRBUENLE - RTHRANSZEBEERTS
FMITHERCERE  RANERE L&k
ERIIENEEHERM —EZF(LHHER
BEFFREERE  LHAINDF R $H
MEETASNGH  UBEIEHFTD
REMELNRE g RELEE - ';¥
HEAAEETERYBEINBELR
BH

The following flowchart summarizes the materiality analysis

process:

We have identified four material topics: “Climate Change”,

AT AR B E B AT B

Updated ESG issues based on the results of the internal materiality assessment
and the Company’s previous ESG Report with reference to the HKEX's ESG
Reporting Guide, non-financial disclosure of the peers and focus areas of
media coverage

BEANBEEUTHRERRARAFBENRE  HEREBRE  U2EEFE
BRE GRIE - g RER|REES) - RAEFEVBEERBEAREBREH
BERE - BHERE  teghERME

Collected the materiality scores of ESG issues rated by both internal and
external stakeholders mainly through a questionnaire survey
F2RBMESAE  WEANIBMREFEELRE HERECHENEEN
5

Based on the responses to “importance to stakeholders” and “importance to

the Company” the materiality scores of stakeholders were compiled, each and

every ESG issue ranked and the results presented in a materiality matrix

BREY (BN RERENEEL] M [HRARNEZN] MEEE - BEMNR
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After an analysis of the results, a further review was conducted by the ESG
Working Group

BRI e hERTHENMEGERETHTERBIFE—TES

HMERFENBEEEREE  H 5l RIRIKE

“Development and Training”, “Anti-corruption” and Be)  [BREEI] - [RES I RIHEEE
“Community Investment”. Going forward, we will enhance our B o R - HMIGINRIRIE - L REEH

ESG management and strive to optimize our ESG performance.
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2.4 Stakeholders Engagement

Stakeholders are entities or individuals that can reasonably be
expected to be significantly affected by our activities; and/or
whose actions can reasonably be expected to affect our
ability of to successfully implement our strategies and achieve
our objectives.

Our external stakeholder groups mainly include: Investors/
shareholders/members, Suppliers/business partners,
Employees, Government and regulators, NGOs and lobby
groups, Local communities, Competitors/peers and/or Experts
and specialists (e.g. professional/industry associations and
academia). If the ESG Working Group does not have the
resources to contact representatives from every stakeholder
group, we focus on key stakeholders only.

The following table outlines the expectations and demands of
major stakeholders and related communication channels:

2.4

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
B HEREARS

M HEAE S8

MNEHEERETAERAZRMANER
EBREZE &/i LT8R A E A

R ERPIRIHEITRE LEK B IRH8E
NEEREAER AL -
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FER(PIINEE " EREBREE) - i
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TERBEEZF S AR E ML RFRKIA
KRB BRE

Expectation and

Major communication

Stakeholder channels
TISHEE IREERE
Employees . Regular meetings .
-1 1k
. Performance appraisal o
BHER
. Trainings
&3l .
. Employee caring
activities
BEREEY
° Ofﬂce publ|cat|ons/ema|ls
WABHRY, EF
. Online learning
EREE
Shareholders . Members' general .
and investors meetings
REREREE i EYN ©
. Annual and interim reports
FERERTHES
. Shareholders meetings o
BREE:
. Corporate official website
RAE B .

demand on of ESG
HIRE - HERERN
HERER

Remuneration and benefits
M RER

Career Development and
Training opportunities
BELRNEIIHKE
Anti-corruption

K&

Financial Performance

Communication
and responses

RERERE

Encourage participation in
continuous training
HE2 EREET
Competitive salary and
benefits
ABRENNOF S REN

Improve profitability

MBRE HERTE

Corporate Transparency o Regular publication of
Risk Control NAV per share and
ARERAERRES routine information
Development and disclosure on the website
Training of the Hong Kong Stock
B RIE Exchange
Anti-corruption THEREBREEFER
K& BB AR R

Community Investment

HERE

TEREE

Strive to improve risk
management and internal
control systems
BhBERBER LA
EREES
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Expectation and
demand on of ESG
HIRE - HERERD
HERER

Major communication Communication
Stakeholder

RESHERE

channels

FRBER

and responses
BEREE

Service providers
and suppliers

AR R A R IR

Governments and
regulatory bodies

HEBEREE SR

Communities and
Non-governments
organisations (NGOs)

HERIMEIHEEAT AL

Regular meetings

fle

Emails

e

Regular review and
feedback

EREERRE
Corporate official website
RAE A

Websites of Government
and regulatory bodies

B REEHRERS

Charity donations
HERE
Sponsorships

2§

Visits to NGOs
BilBEFEGER
Volunteer activities

SEELE

Development and Training
BT
Anti-corruption

R&B

Community Investment

HERE

Compliance of laws and
regulations
HRERER
Anti-corruption

RES

Pay tax and duties in
accordance with the law

(i e

Community Investment
HRKRE

Giving back to society

B tak-
Environmental protection
B}

Promote timely
communication
RERRER

Fulfil contractual
obligations
BiTRHER

Build responsible supply
chain

BUHEREE

Adhere to the laws and
regulations

BT ERER

Pay and tax and duties in
full on time

UG

Participate in charity

activities

BEEEED

Committed to charities

BORGRES

Adhere to green operation

and reduce the usage of

fuel
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Materiality Matrix EEMER

During the year, the Group identified a number of RERN AEBDHFNZHRE ek
environmental, social and operating-related issues, and LEREME WETEEBRFAERFAK
assessed their importance to stakeholders and the Group, AEZERENASEEE R AEER
mainly through surveys and interviews. These assessments FEEN - ZETHELAEEBRAESE
helped the Group to ensure that its development could be in REMFTENEEEENHERTR -
line with stakeholders’ expectations, and demands. The EEEEHNIANTEB B

matters of concern are set out in the following materiality
matrix:

Materiality Matrix
EEMIERE

N
[}
3
o
S
e al L L
S e B3 B7 B8
o2 Development and Anti-Corruption Community Investment
S g Training R&E5 HERE
SE . BRREH
2% 2 Q Q q ® Q
9] (
Ex = A\
W A1 A2 A3 B1 A4
[T Emissions  Use of Resources The Environmentand Employment Climate Change
§, & 3¢ EiRER Nature Resources ERE FIREL
g% . RIERXAER °
Aan E
iz = = al
g - B6 BS B2
o Product Responsibility Supply Chain Management Health and Safety
E $TER PrEEERE BEER2
Low & Medium °F S HehE
Internal assessment (importance to the Group)
RS (HAEENEEM)
* . m 4 o o @ . U=
Environment &35 A\ Employment 128 a = Operations & &
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility: N/A [BEB6: EmEF: TEA
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The subject areas in the above Table used the taxonomy in the ESG
Reporting Guide issued by the HKEX for Environment (subject area
A) and Social (subject area B) areas. Detail of which can also be
found at the content index set out on pages 85 to 95 of this
report.

We are committed to balancing operations and environment
protection, and aim to contribute to a green and environmental-friendly
society through energy conservation and emissions reduction.

In order to fulfil the corporate citizen responsibilities, the Group
strives to promote sustainability and continuously employ new
technologies and new measures to minimize the environmental risk
and impact of its business operations, thus achieving sustainable
development. The Group strictly complies with all applicable
environmental laws and regulations. During the year, there were
no cases of violation of relevant regulations or code of conduct
within the Group.

The Group's office operations do not directly generate
significant air emissions, hazardous waste or waste
water discharge and thus environmental issues are
identified to be non-material aspects. The most
common emission from our daily business activities is
greenhouse gas (“GHG") emission, mainly generated
from the consumption of purchased electricity and the
fuel.

Environmental protection is very important for our
sustainable development. The environmental
management system is spearheaded by the ESG
Working Group in accordance with our environmental
policy. Our policy strives to achieve a high standard of
environmental care in developing our business and to
give due consideration to environmental risks that
would damage the natural and built environment in
conducting our business.
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Management practices are implemented to control GHG
emissions and reduce the generation of both hazardous
and non-hazardous wastes, so as to minimize the
environmental risk and impact of the Company’s
operations.

During the year, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance of environmental laws and regulations
in Hong Kong that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to emissions of waste gases and
greenhouse gases, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous wastes. We were not subject to any
punishment for violating applicable laws and
regulations.

As energy consumption accounts for a major part of the
Group’s GHG emissions, we seek to implement sounds
environmental practices that can achieve energy
conservation.

We promote energy efficiency by deploying natural light
and use energy-saving lightings, where feasible. Our
conference room windows can allow more natural
sunlight to go in and reduce the use of LED lighting.
Refrigerator is kept away from sunlight and well
ventilated. The air filters of air-conditioners are cleaned
regularly to improve cool air flow efficiency. We have
implemented switch off light policy and used energy
consumption equipment (e.g. computer will be switched
automatically while not in use). Energy saving mode of
vehicles is also compulsorily activated.
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We have implemented procedures to ensure proper
disposal of solid waste and reduce waste at sources.
The Group's wastes are mainly classified into two
categories in its business, including general wastes and
recyclable wastes. The Group does not generate any
hazardous waste in the ordinary course of business
because of our straightforward office operation.

3.1.4.1 Waste of electrical and electronic equipment
Computers or office’s electrical and electronic
equipment are well maintained to prolong life
span. Staffs are encouraged to recycle the
electrical and electronic waste through EPD
assigned recyclers. Thus, the waste is not material.

3.1.4.2 Other office wastes
Staffs are encouraged to reuse stationeries, e.g.,
paper clips, folders, binders, envelopes. Recycling
bins to separate papers, metal and plastic are
available at office. We also encourage our staff to
avoid the consumption of paper cups and other
disposable utensils.

3.1.4.3Paper reduction

For environmental protection, we implement
policies to reduce the use of paper. We promote
electronic communications and “think before you
copy” attitude and encourage our employees to
use both sides of the paper for printing and
copying. We adopt double-sided printing and
photocopying. Sending email is suggested instead
of letters or fax when possible and the E-fax
system was adopted without fax printing.
Clouding computing system is used for access of
emails.
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The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance
with the Waste Disposal Ordinance and other applicable
laws and regulations that have a significant impact
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharging into water and land, generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste of the Group
during the year.

No fines or non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations had been reported in
the year.

The Group’s core business does not directly generate
significant air emissions. The greenhouse gases include
carbon dioxide, and nitrogen oxides, which can trap the
heat energy radiated from the Earth. The increasing
concentrations of greenhouse gases have led to global
warming. The most common emission from its daily
business activities is greenhouse gas (“GHG") and is
mainly generated from the consumption of purchased
electricity and the fuel consumed from the use of motor
vehicles.

Fuel consumption of motor vehicles is currently the
major sources of air pollutants which include nitrogen
oxides ("NOx"), sulphur oxides (“SOx") and particulate
matter (“PM"”) emissions. The calculation of each
emission in the following table is mainly based on the
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs issued by
the HKEX and the approximate estimation of kilometers
travelled by vehicles. The fuel consumption mainly
comes from the use of vehicles. Going forward, we
would consider to replace the existing company cars
with more environmentally friendly ones, such as EV or
hybrid cars.
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Gaseous Emissions from the Use of Mobile Combustion

Sources

Environmental Performance

RIRRE

/R E R E £ s B K

NOx
SOx
PM

REY
mey

Kg T%&
Kg T
Kg T7

Year 2022 Year 2021
2B B
10.39 21.83
0.19 0.43
0.76 1.59

GHG emission

= SRR HER

Year 2022
— g

Year 2021
—EBE_——£

GHG emission (Scope 1) BERBEHER (FEE1)

It represents (the petrol and R RIBEHMARFRN tCO,e 35.77 80.23
diesel consumption from B M AR B9 SR 0m WStk E £
company cars and vessel, N ESRIHFE ©
which was disposed of
during the year.

GHG emission (Scope 2) BEREHR (EE2)

It represents the electricity ERENEEFNEE tCO,e 9.30 9.69
purchased from power HEE M—fLiRE =
suppliers

Total GHG emissions mEREHREE tCO,e 45.07 89.92

W—fbiREE

Average number of employees  FRFHE & A Employee 16.5 22
for the year {=3=]

GHG emission intensity =R B P RGAE tCO,e/Employee 2.73 4.09

W =S ikE =
&EE

3.1.6.1The above environmental KPIs illustrated a general

down trend.

i
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The Group does not generate hazardous waste
including chemical wastes, clinical wastes and
hazardous chemicals in its operations.

Non-hazardous wastes produced are mainly general
office consumables and are not material., We handle
the wastes using the 4Rs rules, and as explained in
Section 3.2.1 wastes are kept to be a low level. As such,
no relevant figure is quantified in view of its
immateriality, and no reduction target has been set.

We set out our GHG emission reduction targets in 2020
and would reduce the 3-year average total GHG
emissions by 5 to 10% for the two financial years 2021
to 2022. The target for 2022 reduction is about 2.5%
to 5% on a yearly basis. We reduced the Scope 1
emission through the lower usage in petrol for
transport. The emission factor for electricity utilization
in Hong Kong dropped from 0.51 to 0.37 in April 2021
and increased slightly to 0.39 since April 2022. The
total GHG emissions for Scope 1 and Scope 2 dropped
from 89.92 to 45.07 tonnes CO2e. We met the target
reductions from the years 2021 to 2022 because the
petrol consumption was significantly reduced.

In October 2022, the ESG working group has reviewed
our emission situation and recommended a target
reduction for financial year 2023 in the range of 2% to
4% per annum.
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3.1.8.1Decarbonization measures

Since the Group’s business does not involve any
manufacturing activities, combustion of fuels in
company cars is our major source for direct
emissions under Scope 1 and electricity purchased
from power companies is the major source for
indirect emissions under Scope 2. As the total
carbon emissions is insignificant, and the following
abatement measures may be implemented when
appropriate:

1. To incorporate low-carbon criteria in
procurement specifications

2. To further the green office procedures as
mentioned in 3.3 below

3. To replace company cars to electric/
zero-emissions vehicles

Waste collection and storage points are set up to collect
recyclable and non-recyclable waste separately.
Currently, the quantity of the waste is not material.

The Group grasps every opportunity to encourage its
employees in supporting green initiatives in daily
operations and incorporate environmental sustainability
into our business operation.

The implementation of 4Rs rule can reduce the use of
resources and the 4Rs rule refers to reduce, reuse,
recycle and replace.

Reduce means reducing the use of resource that helps
reducing the generation of wastes. We encourage our
staff to buy office supplies with less package and
reduce the use of disposable items (e.g. paper cups,
paper plates), polystyrene foam lunch boxes and non-
rechargeable batteries..
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Reuse means use the items again or for more than one EEFRAREBAERYREISEA
purpose. Our staff is encouraged to use both sides of RZEEM - - RMSEEBE TFEHRER
paper for writing and printing, and wash and reuse EXMIE - WFXEMEEERER
plastic and glass containers. Recycle means changing MITEAZE - B ZIEIEEEM R &
waste material into usable goods. Recycling of wastes A /Y G - BEE YR B U F A AT
can maximize the use of resources, decrease the rate of UNEXKEEHFEER  BIEERD
exhaustion of resources and reduce the pollution. SHIFER LR AT R o
We have recycling bins in place to collect waste paper, HMRELOUWAE DRI ERESR - B
plastic bottles and aluminum can separately. Replace B iR 6 - B2 E A LDWEIR
means the use of recycled or environmentally friendly BB R—RERESR -
materials to replace the disposable or wasteful
products..
3.2.2 Energy and resource consumptions for the 322 FKEENERRRERE#HE
Group
Environmental Performance Year 2022 Year 2021
RERT 5 —g== —g=—f
Electricity consumption HE KWh T EFLE 24,122 24,712
Average number of employee FAFHEEAZ  Employee EE 16.5 22
for the year
Electricity intensity AERE KWH/employee 1,462 1,277
TERE &S
Fuel Consumption WRELDEFE Litres A7+ 13,122 28,092
Average number of FAFHEBEAZ Employeelg 8 16.5 22
employee for the year
Fuel intensity AR R E Litres/employee 795 1,123
DI EE
Water Consumption =i M3 37 5 oK 21 44
Average number of FRFHEREAE Employee ES 16.5 22
employee for the year
Water intensity FKEE M3/employee 1.27 2.0
MK/ RE
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The target for the two financial years 2021 and 2022
were set to reduce the 3-year average energy
consumption by 5% (i.e. about 2.5% per year) and in
the long term of 10 years, the reduction target is about
25% to 30% of the average level. Although we ceased
the office operation in Shenzhen in about 2019, that
had the effect of raising the 3-year average rate, the
overall reduction for the years 2021 and 2022 was yet
to be met. The electricity consumption dropped by
2.5% from 24,712 kwh to 24,122 kwh during the year.
We will consider measures to close this gap of reduction
target plan of 5% in the coming financial years.

Our water consumption is not material and we
implement 4Rs rules to reduce its consumption. Water
Pollution Control Ordinance has been closely monitored
and the water consumption was reduced from 44M? to
21M? during the year. A 3% to 5% annual reduction to
the average consumption level will be targeted by 2030.
We will review the target and review the possibilities to
change it, as and when appropriate. We have saved
water by: a) turning off the water tap promptly, b)
checking for water leakage from taps or pipes; and c)
by keeping the water level in toilet tanks to a minimum
to reduce spillage.

We are not engaged in any manufacture of goods, and
there is no packaging material used for finished
products.

We are committed to sustainability by seeking to reduce
the environmental impact of our operations, with a
particular focus on the reduction of greenhouse gas
emissions and conservation of resources. We
incorporate environmental responsibility into our daily
operations through the implementation of green
operation and green procurement policies to reduce the
environmental impact and consumption of natural
resources. We will continue to study the possible ways
to reduce emissions, including the use of electric
vehicles as replacement.
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To properly manage the office and effectively implement
environmental policies, we actively implement an
environmental management system, in an effort to
ensure compliance with relevant regulations, improve
environmental performance, and prevent environmental
pollution.

The Group encourages all employees to participate in
different kinds of recycling activities and reduce the use
of natural resources. We also update our management
and staff on the ESG requirements through attending
online training sessions as provided by the HKEX and
other related bodies.

During the year, there is no significant impact on the
environment and natural resources from the operations.
Employees are well-informed of our green measures
through the regular circulation of relevant information
to advocate their awareness and behavioral change.

We support environmental efforts, including protecting
biodiversity, reducing ecological footprint and raising
awareness of climate change. The Group has
implemented various measures to protect water
resources and reduce waste. The Group will continue to
encourage green office and resources conservation in
order to contribute to the sustainable development of
mankind.

The Group is concerned about climate change issues
and strives to take measures to reduce greenhouse gas
emissions from business operations in order to combat
climate change. To illustrate our strong determination,
we have reduced from the staff’s business travel and
the related Scope-3 indirect emission.

We carry out local procurement, use environment-friendly
materials to reduce the carbon footprint and impact on
climate change of our operations, so as to create an
ideal living place for our next generation.

CHINA CASTSON 81 FINANCE COMPANY LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2022

REEBERAZEXLERATRER
B HABEGETREEENE B
NERETERRE  RERERA
Wy IERBIFAR -

AEBESEE2REREE2EZBERD
WiEd  BERMDRABERNER -
BAFITE RS I BB AT R E
BRABBRANELIFIIRE  &X
ERERETIHRFNERE HEkE
ARME °

FAR AEEEESEHRERRA
BRELEATE - AEEUTEHIK
HHEENN T ARRERESE
AEENRRER  REEERRE
o RERBERRRITR

BPZHRATEY  BRRELEYS
B R AR RIS H R IR
EHRE - AEECERZEERRE
ERKEREBADIRE - NEBESEE
SR ERANBOER  BRARDH
AREEREHER -

AEEBIRRELCHE  ALZNEK
BERAIERELEEDELNRE
RPN WERHREE(C - RRA
IR KR IET
BRI 1T S AAR R L E 3 PR HE AR ©

BRI ETTIRE - ERRERER
PAR 2> 3 AP9 2 48 18 72 A Bl B UM B
RIFFEEOTE  BEMNHT—HKE
i —EE A RS



Climate change is often cited as a leading
environmental priority for investors and due
consideration should be made to the climate-related
risks including transition risks and physical risks. We
support the Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (“TCFD") and our second set of TCFD report
was included in this annual report.

We understand that it is essential to have a high-quality
and moral team of management to maintain
operational efficiency and improve overall performance
Our business success depends on our ability to attract,
retain and cultivate employees. Each employee is an
important family member to us and we strive to provide
employees with a work-life balance environment, in the
hope that they can firmly stand with the Group to
create the future together. The Group is committed to
creating a fair and comfortable working environment.

Management policies have been formulated in strict
compliance with relevant labour laws in Hong Kong.
They cover Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and
relevant laws and regulations in respect of employees’
compensation, recruitment, promotion, dismissal,
working hours, holidays, equal opportunities, diversity,
anti-discrimination, benefits and welfare, so as to fully
protect and respect employees’ rights and create an
ideal workplace for employees.

During the year, the Group complied with applicable
local laws and regulations on compensation, recruitment,
promotion, dismissal, working hours, holidays, equal
opportunities, diversity, anti-discrimination, benefits and
welfare, child labour and forced labour. There were no
major employee or labour disputes that disrupted our
normal business operations, nor were we subject to any
punishment for violating applicable laws and regulations.
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Human resources are the valuable assets and
indispensable to our Company. We are committed to
providing our staff a fair and equitable workplace
where they are treated equally in every aspect of their
work or employment and the staff is motivated to grow
with our Company and meet our company goals to
strive for the excellence in the industry.

We adopt fair and non-discriminatory recruitment
policies and comply with the requirements of the
ordinances of the Anti-discrimination and Personal Data
and Privacy aiming to recruit the appropriate and
qualified staff to grow with the Company.

Based on the market rates and benefits, we offer
reasonable and competitive salary to attract candidates
to join us and retain them. We strictly adhere to the
statutory requirements as stated in the relevant
employment laws, ensuring the rights and interests of
our staff being properly protected.

The Group is committed to creating an inclusive and
non-discriminatory workplace, providing equal
opportunities for all employees regardless of gender,
age, nationality, religion, sexual orientation or physical
fitness, and giving fair consideration to al | job
applicants.

We follow the principles of fairness, impartiality and
openness to recruit and promote the right employees
and never discriminate against job applicants on the
grounds of race, colour, social status, place of birth,
nationality, religion, disability, gender, sexual
orientation, trade union membership, political position
or age. We prohibit the employment of child labour in
accordance with relevant standards and regulations.
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4.1.5

4.1.6

41.7

Protection of rights and interests

We continually review the employee compensation
policy to ensure that employee compensation can be in
tandem with the Company’s performance. We believe
that employees should be rewarded fairly based on their
contribution, and provide attractive compensation and
benefits to employees. In addition, each employee may
resign by giving a reasonable period’s notice.

The Code of Practice Human Resources Management
issued by the Office of the Privacy Commissioner for
Personal Data has also been observed when handling
employment-related data.

Employee communication

Cohesion among employees is a key driving force for
corporate development, and good communication
channels with employees serve as the cornerstone of
the Group’s operations. Accordingly, we set up channels
to collect employees’ opinions, actively listen to their
opinions and suggestions, and take timely measures in
response to matters of high concern to employees to
protect their interests.

Staff composition
As at 31 December 2022, we employed a total of 16
employees, and all of them were located in Hong Kong.
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Senior Staff

General Staff

BRAT —BAT
No. of staff No. of Staff
EIHA BETIHAH
41-50 41-508% - - = =
50 or above 50%% 8k VA 8 100 8 100
Total BET 8 100 8 100

Senior Staff

General Staff

ERET —RET
By gender No. of staff No. of Staff
1 51 ET#HAH ET#HAH
Female oy 2 25 5 62
Male St 6 75 3 38
Total HET 8 100 8 100
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As at 31 December 2021, we employed a total of 21
employees, and all of them were located in Hong Kong.

Senior Staff

R=F-—%+-A=+-0 ARFAA
HEANZEE  BEHERES -

General Staff

BRET —mRET
No. of staff No. of Staff
BETHAH EITHA
41-50 41-507% = = 1 8
50 or above 50578 A | 8 100 12 92
Total et 8 100 13 100

Senior Staff

General Staff

SRET —®RET
By gender No. of staff No. of Staff
4 5l ETHH ET#HH
Female % 2 25 7 54
Male B4 6 75 6 46
Total B 8 100 13 100

4.1.8During the year ended 31 December 2022, the turnover
rate was 23.8%.

4.2 Health and Safety
4.2.1 Management policy
We implement various policies and measures to
maintain a safe and healthy workplace for the
employees. We value safety and take effective measures
to reduce safety risks. In accordance with laws and
regulations, we have formulated a set of appropriate
safety management programs, including hazard
identification and risk assessment and control, in order
to reduce and control potential occupational safety and
health hazards in business operations. We strictly abide
by the relevant safety laws and regulations. During the
year, there was no case of the prosecution against the
Group for violation of occupational safety-related laws.
Good housekeeping is essential to the maintenance of a
healthy workplace to the employees. Maintaining good
air circulation, we employ registered company to carry
out monthly maintenance service and annual
sterilization to the air conditioners in order to prevent
any possible diseases to be transmitted through the air
conditioning system.
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During the year, in view of the potential hazard arising
from the Omicron pandemic, the Company took
precautionary measures and stayed alert against the
disease. We also requested our colleagues to maintain
good personal hygiene.

During the year, the Group complied with the
regulatory requirements for workplace safety in Hong
Kong. We have not suffered any accidents or
complaints that have a material adverse effect on our
operations, nor were we subject to any punishment for
violating applicable laws and regulations.

During the past three years, there was no work-related
fatalities occurred.

We firmly trust that continuous learning and
development can help staff to utilize fully their potential
and it is important to their future career development
and also supports the growth and strengthens the
competitiveness. The department heads will provide on
the job trainings to their new staff and help them to
grasp the job knowledge and duties. The job
performance appraisal will be conducted for the new
staff during the probation for assessing their
performance. Training programs will be planned for the
new staff against the performance assessment.

We provide continuous learning to the staff and
encourage them to attend online trainings or workshops
as provided by external training organisations. To
maintain our staff’s professionalism and career
development, we support our staff for their continuous
professional trainings.

We provide all new staff with the orientation program
that will help them to know the Company culture, its
rules and regulations and their benefits. On the job
training will be provided to our staff during the term of
their employment.
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4.3.3 ESG training and other trainings
To enhance the ESG investing, training is essential.

4331 ESG training

During the year, our ESG Working Group
encouraged active learning through the self-study
of useful materials, publications, and books,
including the training resources/materials offered
by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. An internal
continuing training system was used, which
allowed our staff to grasp a better understanding
of the ESG issues and keep ourselves abreast of
the relevant knowledge and latest requirements.

4332 Other trainings

Apart from orientation training, we also provide
corporate culture training and professional skills
training to enhance professionalism and achieve
continuous improvement with us. We assess the
training requirements of our staff regularly and
encourage them to receive continuous training in
their respective professions.

4.3.4 The percentages of full-time employees trained in 2022
and 2021 remained the same as shown below:

133 B« HEREEEIIR
BMBEE  HEREEES B
WA b o

434

4331

4332

BRI g REBREF

FR - ZMHRE g kER
THENESBBEREERR - H
EERNEBEME - HRY - &
£ PREBBITRM El’]in
INEIR MK o 8RR FRE
BlES: ﬁﬁzﬁ’ﬁfi’]ﬁl}]ﬂ?ﬁéﬁa
S g RERMEN TR I
BT AN N R RFTAE ©

H %5l

BRABUEFION - HPITIR R Z
XAt B E e E ) - AR
BEITHERKTF » EHEM—IE
ERFEEY - RAEHFTEE
ITHBIIRER  UBREES
BENEXRERZFEE -

“ECCFR T -FXIERE
BOLERTE W

By gender b3 BB
Female g3

Male B

By employee category RESERZ S
Management BIEE

Senior staff SRET
General staff —RETL

27 27
73 73
64 64
18 18
18 18
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435 The average training hours completed per full-time A3 T E-—ER - FEEEL2EE

—=

employee in 2022 and 2021 are as follows: BEMZINFHIRENT :

Average hours per employee

BRES TR
By gender A RIE 2
Female 2 28.0 26.2
Male Bt 24.8 22.5
By employee category RESERZ S
Management EIE [ 31.3 28.0
Senior BRET 29.5 29.3
General —fRBET 2.0 2.0
43.511n general, the average hours were comparable to 4351 BREKE - TR T FEIE
those of prior years. 2o
4.4 Labour Standards 4.4 ¥ T X8|
4.4.1 Management policy and compliance with laws 44V EBBRRBFEELER
and regulations
We recruit staff in accordance with the Hong Kong BB EEREREGHNBEET &
Employment Ordinance and prohibit any form of forced IF AT R & 48 T 2 sa 488 T
labour and forced overtime work. During the reporting E - RNI{EHRR » WEEPAE T Kk
period, there were no cases of child labour or forced HAE T B IES0 o« B REEAER
labour and we were not aware of any non-compliance R ER R ER o

of relevant laws and regulations.

SECTION 5 OUR OPERATION ESHRMNEE
5.1 Product Responsibility 51 EmER
5.1.1 Management Policy 5.1 EEHE
The Company is an investment company and does not KNG ABHERNT  TEEINRTIHE
produce nor sell any products. Product responsibility is FEER ERETERfImeEg -

found to be irrelevant to us.
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We rely on our vendors, agencies and third-party service
providers to support our operation. This enables us to
operate efficiently but potentially exposes us to certain
risks. Suppliers and service providers are also the
important stakeholders in the Group’s business value
chain and are closely connected with us. They mainly
consist of securities brokers, investment management
companies, and other services providers. We maintain
close contact with them to ensure good communication.
As of 2022, we had about 33 suppliers and service
providers in Hong Kong (2021: 42).

Effective supply chain management is vital to safeguard
our business and to promote responsible practices
among companies in our community. For financial
services, we work with reliable third-party service
providers who have demonstrably high corporate
standard. We conduct regular reviews to ensure they
can meet the requirements of our service contracts.

Our procurement of equipment and office supplies
mainly refers to the computers, printer consumable and
stationery. The procurement is normally to be not
material. We review the needs and availability before a
request for purchasing. We prefer to purchase in bulk
to minimize resources utilization in transportation and
packaging wastes generated in transportation.

Regarding supplier and service providers selection,
staffs are encouraged to select local suppliers and this
demonstrates our support for our community, while
eliminating unnecessart transportation can reduce our
impact on the environment.
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We are committed to ensuring that no bribes, payment
or advantages are solicited from or given or offered to
any persons, whether in the public or private sector, for
any purpose. We regard honesty, integrity, and fair play
as the core values that must be upheld by our
colleagues at all times.

We establish an internal control system, which provides
the internal supervision, risk control and anti-corruption
management to ensure that our business procedures
are in compliance with local and international laws on
the prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.

We implement improper conduct reporting and our
employees are encouraged to report improper conduct,
fraud and other irregularities. The investigation results
will be submitted to our management in the case of
fraud involving non-senior management personnel, or
to the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee in
the case of fraud involving senior management
personnel.

During the year, the Group abided by all relevant laws
and regulations on the prevention of bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering. Neither the Group nor any
of its employees were prosecuted for or convicted of
corruption.

Training will be provided to new staff and useful
updates of the relevant laws and regulations will also be
made available.
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We strive to build a sustainable community by supporting
local initiatives that create effective and lasting benefits to
the community through corporate philanthropy, establishing
community partnerships, and encouraging our employees to
participate in volunteer work. We contribute to the
communities in which we operate and our policy will be
communicated to the Company’s stakeholders, including our
employees, shareholders, and business partners. We are
committed to the continual development of this policy and its
integration into our operations.

We strive to be a part of our communities, to serve and
contribute by promoting corporate social responsibility.
During the year, our Chairman was awarded the Medal of
Honour in recognition of his contribution made to the
society.

Our focus areas of community involvement are education,
poverty alleviation, health, the elderly and culture. We will
encourage staff to volunteer their time and core skills to
benefit local communities, which can give our staff the
chance to find out more about the social and environmental
issues and reinforce our corporate values.

During the year, the amount of contributions to Po
Leung Kuk and Concerted Efforts Resources Centre
Limited was HK$45,000 (2021: HK$45,000) and the
number of hours that the staff volunteered for charities
or NGOs was 16.5 (2021: 9.5).

We view education as the cornerstone for maintaining
growth and development in our communities. Our goal is to
support youths to become outstanding leaders and more
importantly lifelong learners who embrace positive social
values. Our Chairman is a philanthropist and contributes his
time and donations to education. He had acted as the school
manager of Lam Man Chan Primary School, which aims to
reinforce student’s capacity for independent learning as well
as bi-literacy.
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CONTENT INDEX OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND EABII(BRE HEREARE
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE OF THE HONG KONG Eol)RBZES
STOCK EXCHANGE

ESG Reporting Referring section
Guide of HKEX in this ESG Report

EBBRXORIE - Description ARIE -HER
HEREARKEES) @@ ERARSHAEE

Part B: Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

BEf % : HMEIHERE

Governance Structure A statement from the Board containing the following Section 1.1 Message from the
BIRETE elements: F1.160 Chairman
HESSRLNER SHHEETIAR : x E BB
(i)  adisclosure of the Board’s oversight of ESG issues; Section 1.2 Our Corporate
BREEFEHIRE HEREAFENEE E1.260 Values
KM EEE
(i) the Board’s ESG management approach and
strategy, including the process used to evaluate, Section 1.3  Basis for
prioritise and manage material ESG-related issues  £51.3( Preparation of the
(including risks to the issuer’s businesses); and Report
EEENRET  HERELCERFHKERE - BEF mEARENELE

i BRI RERERNRE  HEREREEE
H (BREBETAZBNEAR) MBEE: &

(iii)  how the Board reviews progress made against
ESG-related goals and targets with an explanation
of how they relate to the issuer’s businesses.
EZMRRE e RERBHEERRIEE
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ESG Reporting Referring section
Guide of HKEX in this ESG Report
EBBZORIE Description AIRIE-HER
HEREREEES) fHil ERBESHBAEE
Reporting Principles A description of, or an explanation on, the application of Section 1.5 Reporting
FE R 5 8] the following Reporting Principles in the preparation of 2 1.560 Principles
the ESG report: i 3% R Al
RS RBERERSE HeRkEoRERNAERT
FfE SRR B - Section 2.3 Materiality
52350 Assessment
Materiality: The ESG report should disclose: (i) the process BE2 T
to identify and the criteria for the selection of material
ESG factors; (ii) if a stakeholder engagement is Section 2.4 Stakeholders
conducted, a description of significant stakeholders 52 480 Engagement
identified, and the process and results of the issuer’s FZAEEL R

stakeholder engagement.
BEN RR HEREAREERE: )VBNERRER -

IRNEZ2E CHAINEENEAMEORDRETA
MaEAEE2ENBRERER

Quantitative: Information on the standards,
methodologies, assumptions and/or calculation tools
used, and source of conversion factors used, for the
reporting of emissions/energy consumption (where
applicable) should be disclosed.

Bt : FRAERBERE ARER (MER) fMANEE -
FE - BER/RFETANER  URFEANER
HE=HRRETHRE -

Consistency: The issuer should disclose in the ESG report
any changes to the methods or KPIs used, or any other
relevant factors affecting a meaningful comparison.
—HBME BOTARERER HeREARMSPHEL
AERAREVEENEETSEAEMTEEERLR
MEEEE -

Reporting Boundary A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the Section 1.4 Reporting Period
FE R &5 & ESG report and describing the process used to identify F1.450 and Boundary
which entities or operations are included in the ESG W K Ei ks

report. If there is a change in the scope, the issuer should
explain the difference and reason for the change.
MREBRE HeRERAREMERSGE - Lt dE
LERNEBAARE HEREARENBE - BE
HREEFAAE  BOARBRETNRAZEREHRA -
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ESG Reporting
Guide of HKEX

FERBBXACGRE

Description

Referring section
in this ESG Report
AIRIE-HER

HERERREESD

A. Environmental

A BIR

i B

ERBEHAES

Aspect A1: Emissions

BEA1 : B

General Disclosure
— M=

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

Section 3.1
$3.150

Environmental
Responsibility
RIBEM

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges 3.1.1 Management policy
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and IR R
non-hazardous waste.
BRABERIMBEREBIN  MAKETHOHES  BEE 3.1.3 Energy conservation
BEBEREWNELEEN & B
(@) BR: Rk
(b) BFHEHETABERAZEMNMEEEIERERMNER - 3.14 Waste reduction
B REY
Note: Air emissions include NOx, SOx, and other
pollutants regulated under national laws and 3.1.5 Compliance with
regulations. relevant laws and
Mt BRERBERAAY WAty RAEMZEK regulations
ERERBEN TR - BT HEBEERER
Greenhouse gases include carbon dioxide,
methane, nitrous oxide, hydrofluorocarbons,
perfluorocarbons and sulphur hexafluoride.
BEREBE-_S/Lix T SLTR S8
ey - 2RACE RSB -
Hazardous wastes are those defined by national
regulations.
BEREMEERBROIAAESE -
KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. 3.1.6 Emissions
RSB AR IRAL BE Y T8 2R K AR R BE B BER - 213587
KPI'A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) 3.1.6 Emissions
B8 AR BB 1A 2 greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where b2 387!

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

BR(BE) keRAEK (BE2) BEREEENE (AN

B)R(ER)ZE(MNEBESEN BEREHE) -

hEER 81 SRARAR | —B-TSEFH



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R -HEREBHRS

ESG Reporting Referring section

Guide of HKEX in this ESG Report

EBBZORIE Description AIRIE-HER

HEREREREES) Mk ERREHEES

Aspect A1: Emissions

BEA1: B

KPI'A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, 3.1.7 Environmental

BB AR RUEIRAL 3 where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production performance of
volume, per facility) waste and reduction
FELEEEEYEE (AETE) R (WER) ZE (1A together
BESEM  BEREHE) - BEEVMHRERR

KRBz

KPI'A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, 3.1.7 Environmental

Bl BB EA1 4 where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production performance of
volume, per facility). waste and reduction
FEEEREEEYES (ABETE) R (WER) ZE (1B target
BESEM  BERBETHE) - BEEYHRERR

K AR B 1R

KPI' A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps 3.1.8 Target for reduction

B8R & BB 1ZA1.5 taken to achieve them. of emissions
R PRI I BV BE 2 B IR R R E R L B IR EREREY 2P 58 © WEE R 12

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous 3.1.6 Emissions

R BB WUIETIEA1 .6 wastes are handled, and a description of reduction PEp 4

target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HREBEEEREEEEYN AL - KA FTET SR REE
BRERREDBBRAMRIRE T -

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BHEA2: BRER

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including Section 3.2 Resources
— AP EE energy, water and other raw materials. F3.280 Conservation
BRERER (BFEER - KEREMRME) BHEE - BIRR &
Note: Resources may be used in production, in storage, 3.2.1 Management policy
transportation, in buildings, electronic equipment, etc. EIERE
it . BRAIARNEE  #F  Ef - BT BEFRES-
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.  3.2.2 Energy and resource
A S 45 S 12 A2 1 electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and intensity consumptions for
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). the Group
RENESNEER SHEER (W - fR3Uh) B2 REERREIR
(ATFETERBHE) RBE (MASGEEEN - BIERE K &R B
THE) -
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ESG Reporting Referring section

Guide of HKEX in this ESG Report
EBBRRCGRIE - Description ARIE -HER
HEREREEES) il ERmEHBAES
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of 3.2.2 Energy and resource
RA SR 4E BUEIZA2.2 production volume, per facility). consumptions for
BEKEREE (WABESHM - BIEFRETE) - the Group
REEB R
R B IR B
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and 3.2.3 Energy use efficiency
RABRAE FEIEA2 .3 steps taken to achieve them. target
R P ET SZ BV RE IR (2 A e B IR KR R E B 5 Lk B R P ER Y BB R
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing 3.2.4 Water conservation
BB E IR IRA2.4 water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) £ 49 F K

set and steps taken to achieve them.
R AUSREGE AR LRI A E A ERE - ARFTR] S /I KR e
BIERREDEL B IEMEKIME TR o

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in N/A

B AR RUIBIEA2.5 tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit i A
produced.
HXmAAASEMENAEE (UBEETE) &k (WER) 84
EEMAE -

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EBHEA3: RERXAER

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on  Section 3.3  Green Office

— R the environment and natural resources. %3.360 REPEA
WEBERTAHRERRAERENERTZENBR -

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the  Section 3.3  Green Office

B8R 4B BB IZA3.1 environment and natural resources and the actions taken %53.3&0 RN

to manage them.
M RBEADHRELRAERNEARZE N HKNE
BEETENTH -

Aspect A4: Climate Change

BEAL : RIREIL

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant Section 3.4 Measures for

— R climate-related issues which have impacted, and those F3.450 Climate Change
which may impact, the issuer. R H
BRIREHERARAEEHETAEEZENERARIE =)
HEEEMBE -

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which Section 3.4 Measures for

AR A WFEIZEA4L 1 have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, £53.4%% Climate Change
and the actions taken to manage them. RixZ{H
BB AR EEHBETAEETENERARIFEBRER i
REHITE) ©

EER 81 cRARAT | —2==%%% I



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R -HEREBHRS

ESG Reporting Referring section
Guide of HKEX in this ESG Report
BEEBIORIE - Description ARBE -HER
HEREREREES) Mk ERREHEES
B. Social
B. &
Employment and Labour Practices
EEREIER
Aspect B1: Employment
BEB1: E®
General Disclosure Information on: Section 4.1 Talent Management
— MR E (a) the policies; and FANES AT ER
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer 4.1.1 Management policy
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and EIEWE
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and 41.2 Compliance with
welfare. laws and regulations
EATHREE BEREA  TERE - R TS BFERBER
g Zat REFUREMGERENL :
(@) BXK: & 413 Recruitment and
(b) BFHEHBETABERATENMBBEERER remuneration
BW—RREER - RS Ko B
4.1.4 Equal opportunity
and diversity
TE#ERE T
4.1.5 Protection of rights
and interests
TR K hE a AR &
4.1.6 Employee
communication
HESNER
KPI'B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for 4.1.7 Staff composition
B R 48 SNIE1EB 1.1 example, full-or part-time), age group and geographical B TR
region.
RIER - EEEL (MEBGRE)  FEER R 2
DHEBRR -
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and 4.1.8
B 4B B 1EB 1.2 geographical region.

IR FRANRBREDMESRKLE -
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Referring section
in this ESG Report
AIRIE-HER
ERREHEES

ESG Reporting
Guide of HKEX

FERBBXACGRE
HERERREES) fHd

Description

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
[EmEB2: #ERERE

General Disclosure

Information on: Section 4.2 Health and Safety

—MRIEE (a) the policies; and FA4260 R 2
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer 4.2.1 Management policy

relating to providing a safe working environment and EIBBUR
protecting employees from occupational hazards.
FARELZE2TIEREAREREBERABEMEEN : 422

(a) BUR: &

Compliance with
laws and regulations

(b) BFHBETABEAZENHEBEERESR B REER
H—RBEEER -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in ~ 4.2.3
B 4B 4B 3B 2.1 each of the past three years including the reporting
year.
BE=ZF (BRERFE)BFRAITHMABRLEE -
KPI'B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. 4.2.3
B4R 48 R 1FB2.2 ETHEEATIEBRS -
KPI'B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures 4.2.1 Management
B 48 INIE 12823 adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored. policy
RIRPTER AN BB R R 280 - ARMBERITRER BRI
Tk e
Aspect B3: Development and Training
JBHEB3 : #ERIE
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for Section 4.3  Training and

—RIE

discharging duties at work. Description of training F4.380
activities.

BHRRTEEBITIEBRBEN B RRAENHBEK -

B IES - 4.3.1

Note: Training refers to vocational training. It may
include internal and external courses paid by the 4.3.2
employer.
Brat - SEAIEREEE - AT RiEHE N BN RSNEERIR -
4.3.3

Development
Bl RER

Management policy
EIBHE

Orientation training

ARSI

ESG training and
other trainings
RIE - HEREA
559 R B Al 35 5

twEER 81 eRARAT | —2==%%% [CLN



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R -HEREBHRS

ESG Reporting Referring section
Guide of HKEX in this ESG Report
BFREBRACRIE Description AEE - HER
HEREREEES) il ERmEHBAES
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and  4.3.4
1 48 A5 13B3.1 employee category (e.g. senior management, middle

management).

ZUERIREEREN (N RERE TREEE) DY
XilEEBD -
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee 4.3.5

8 2 45 W8 1EB3.2 by gender and employee category.
RUERREEBERE S  BEREETKIIN TR -

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[ETHB4 : 85 T#8|

General Disclosure Information on: Section 4.4  Labour Standards
— M= (a) the policies; and $4.4508 AT |
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer 4.4.1 Management policy
relating to preventing child and forced labour. and compliance with
BEAP L= T3 55 T - laws and regulations
(@) BE: K BEEBER
(b) BFHBTABEAZENHERERESR BFERRER
B — R T AR o
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment 4.4.1 Management policy
B 4§ 48 IR 1EB4.1 practices to avoid child and forced labour. and compliance with
R BB MEEABEE TR T - laws and regulations
ERBER
BFEEER
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices  Section 4.4 Labour Standards
B4R 4B IR 1EB4.2 when discovered. F44H T g

WA EBRRERBAKERBBE AR TSR

Operating Practices

EEEN

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
JEEBS : HtEHER

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of Section 5.2 Supply Chain

— B the supply chain. 65.260 Management
ERHEENRERLSRARBE - e e

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. 5.2.1 Management policy

B 5248 IR 1EB5.1 v E D HEREE - EEBR
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ESG Reporting Referring section

Guide of HKEX in this ESG Report
EBBZORIE Description AIRIE-HER
HEREREEES) il ERmEHBAES
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, 5.2.2 Our procurement
8§ 45 3B 1ZB5.2 number of suppliers where the practices are being HPIBEREE
implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

W ARERKERNED  MERTEREMNNHEER
BB ARBEBATRERTE-

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental 5.2.2 Our procurement
8§ 45 A8 12853 and social risks along the supply chain, and how they TR EE

are implemented and monitored.

M ERBRHEREEGERSBNORERLSREALNED -

ARMERBITRERTTE -

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote 522 Our procurement
84 45 5 12B5 .4 environmentally preferable products and services when P B ERBE
selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

i fE BOE B R e (2 2 A IRRE M KRB HBH - A
NEBAITRERTE -

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

BHEB6 : EmEE

General Disclosure Information on: 5.1 Product
— R E (@) the policies; and Responsibility
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that EmET

have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and
privacy matters relating to products and services provided
and methods of redress.
FRAMRHERMNBRBONRERELZS  BES  BH8
KA EE A RBRIT AR
(@ HX: K
(b) BTHBETAGEATENHBERESR
BW—RIREER -

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to N/A

8 §E 45 N FE12B6. 1 recalls for safety and health reasons. TERA
EEXEEXERAE DAL D HEGERIEH ALK
Aotk e

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints N/A

A 48 SNIE 1£B6.2 received and how they are dealt with. A3

BREBARERMRENRFEHE AR EEHITE -

twEER 81 cRARAT | —2==%5% I



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R -HEREBHRS

ESG Reporting
Guide of HKEX

Referring section
in this ESG Report

EBBZORIE Description AIRIE-HER
HEREREREES) Mk ERREHEES
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and N/A
8§ 45 A 12B6.3 protecting intellectual property rights. i A
Mg ERRENBERGANED -
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall N/A
B 4E 1515864 procedures. i A
HlEERTBEREMEKWRET -
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy  N/A

7 2 45 IR 15B6.5

policies, and how they are implemented and monitored. 1~
R EEERRERLEBRE  ARBERITRERS
7 o

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

BEB7 : RES

General Disclosure
— M=

Section 5.3
%5.355

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer 5.3.1

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

BRAMLLSBE  #$1R - MEFRAREM

Anti-corruption
R&ES

Management policy
EIRBUR

(a) % &k Compliance with
(b) BEFTHBTABERZENMBEERER laws and regulations
B—RIREER - 5.3.3 BFRRER
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt 5.3.3 Compliance with

7 2 48 AR 1RBT 1

practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
RREAAHBETALEEEREVEEANETFHFA
EHHEE RFRER -

laws and regulations

BFIRRER

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing  5.3.2 Improper conduct

8§12 45 WIE 1ZB7.2 procedures, and how they are implemented and reporting
monitored. TETRER
W BB E N RRERF  UARBEBERITRERFE -

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided 5.3.4 Anti—corruption

A 52 48 IR 1RBT .3

to directors and staff.
HimEERETREORESEI -

training
REIFHE
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ESG Reporting Referring section

Guide of HKEX in this ESG Report
BEBIORIE - Description ARBE - HER
HERERBEES) #Hik ERREHEES
Community

HE

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EEBS : HERE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the Section 6 Our Community
— R E needs of the communities where the issuer operates and 5657 Engagement
to ensure its activities take into consideration the AT 1 = 2

communities’ interests.
BN ERI2ERTHREEMELRT EMBRALER
EEEE R R R SR BUR -

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental 6.2 Focus areas of

8§12 45 5 1ZB8. 1 concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport). contribution
EITEREE(MHE REEE SIHFRK -@EE- X EIEREE
It 875) -

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus 6.2.1

A/ 48 AN IE 13882 area.

EEIHBEMBAER (WEEXNERH) -

hEEE 81 $MERAR | —BS-FER m



1.1

1.2

As an investment company, the value of the Company
is directly related to the underlying investments. Climate
Change is a systemic risk which can affect the value of
our investment portfolio and we seek to manage that
risk on behalf of the stakeholders. The Board is
supportive of initiatives that contribute towards
mitigating Climate Change risk on the Company’s
investments. The recommendations of the Taskforce on
Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) with
reference to the specific guidance for asset owners are
used to prepare this second report.

We consider to incorporate climate risk management
into investment processes, because investors are
expected to concern about the investees’ carbon
emission, emission targets and their steps to meet these
targets. It is in the interest of the industry that the
market is able to effectively reflect climate- related
risks.

a) Describe the board’s oversight of climate-related
risks and opportunities

2.1.1 Details of our board oversight and environmental
policy are set out in section 2.2.2 and 2.2.3 of the
ESG report.

b)  Describe the management’s role in assessing and
managing climate-related risks and opportunities

2.2.1Three of the committees/working group in the
management structure will be specifically
responsible for assessing and managing
climate-related risks. They are:

a) Investment Committee for monitoring the
investment portfolio, including the
climate-related exposures.

CHINA CASTSON 81 FINANCE COMPANY LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2022

1.1

ER—RIERAR  NRAIAMEAE A
HEAMNEBREBEEBRER - RIRE L
BERGERR  HAIZZRMH
BREHSEE  KRMERAKRNENE
AEBEZRER BEFEXRHEME
B AR A IR A TE B R VE RIR 2R
BIFEHE o B P8 A R AE B B 75 2 BB
THE/NATCID)EZ - BEF2EY
BERBANABESIGRE_HR

t‘:to

BMZREREAREERAKRE
B REAREHAREESHIRE
HROMENEE - EREBERES
ERZFREMRBOSE - 817X
mE - MHEREBRRERIEERR
h’ﬁﬁéﬁ%@%ﬂ§°

a) WIEESHRIZEBRER N
@ g/—,’:f—.'liﬁ

QINESTCEENRBEBURZFAB
BRRE HEREAREE
2.2.2%2.2.350 -

b) HAEEEENEMEERENA
FAEREEENAE

2 EBRERBEREEZEEES
TENMEEMAESTFENEESR
RAEBRE  E4&:

BEERER
1R 48 B 2




b) Executive Committee for implementing
relevant policies and procedures.

¢)  Risk Management Working Group, for
maintaining the risk register and managing
the risks.

2.2.2 For our investing, our Investment Committee and

Executive Committee will be responsible for the
identification and assessment of climate related
risks and opportunities in the investments on
annual basis. Investment Manager will then take
into account of them in investment decisions. We
plan to implement this strategy on or before
2025.

Describe the climate-related risks and
opportunities the organisation has identified over
the short, medium and long-term

3.1.1 We consider the physical and transition risks both

in the perspectives of the company and the
investee companies. We will also analyze them
over the short to long-term. For our investment
portfolio, going forward, the Company will
identify those sectors and companies which are
more likely to be adversely affected by the
transition to a low-carbon economy and will tilt
away from them. Companies with high green
revenues are of potential of climate-related
opportunities.

Describe the impact of climate-related risks and
opportunities on the organisation’s business,
strategy and financial planning

(0 FEREEIENE BaF
“E R E R it I E IR R

7aN
o

o o
ZoN

222 BMINEEMS - RERES
EBTREERAEBFRRINR
BREEACYELNY SR g
g REREBRENTERE
Bt hzERE - ZATEIR =
TZRFNZAIE MR R o

a) MWHARBRENNE B &Y
TR AR RE L B K 0B

3.1.

N

B ERRR R EHR AT
AEEZEERRRSERRER
BT EERERBONILSE
Rk - B FIMZEASME
FREARIR - AR A 8R! A A5 2
RREF B A X B AIEHEE
BRATMEZENTERRR - &
slmsN AR AR BENRR
HERE -

b) il RARAE R R S i B S A
% RBEMBRINTE

TEER 81 @BMBERRR | ZEBEZZFFH



3.2.1Climate change risks are assessed both in the
perspective of the Company and to our investment
portfolio and the following key risks, their impact
and management measures are identified:

Physical risks
BREAR

Physical risks resulting
from climate change can
be event driven (acute) or
longer-term shifts (chronic)
in climate patterns.

SRR TE KR % g0 aﬁ“
[ Bz AT fh & Bl = 4 (R
’\i{) jiﬁﬂ%?/gufiﬁi_ﬁj """""

(RERIE) BIHE ©

CHINA CASTSON 81 FINANCE COMPANY LIMITED |

32V EARRRI MR EAAN AR

EREECER  WHERATE
ZRKR AR ERETEER:

Physical risks may have
financial implications
for companies, such as
direct damage to assets
and indirect impacts
from supply chain
disruption.
ERRARATEEHPEE
Rt E - DImEE
XWENEETERH
e E N RETE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

In relation to the
company: Monitor
the impact regularly
and continue the risk
assessment
RARFME : EHE
EREYFENERR

In relation to our
investment portfolio:

Eﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ’ﬂﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂé\ﬁﬁ

E :

Understand the potential
physical risks to which
our investments are
exposed, by analysis of
ESG Reports of each
individual investee.

BRAIMSEAREY
SHRE -HELER
BE BRIMOKE
FrEERR BT E R -

We will also consider
how climate-related
risks and opportunities
are factored into
relevant investment
strategies
BT E B R
o= A8 8 Ja B R 38 A A
EE RS



Transition risks

HEVETENE

Policy and legal risks
R SRR R

An investment company is
strictly involved in and affected
by the latest developments
in climate-related policies
and regulations, such as the
potential introduction of policy
measures by governments and
regulators

RERAIER2ERIRIEH
BRIOERIZETE 10
BUR R BB P Bt H &Y
BT

Market risk
mizERE
Investors’ appetite for
sustainable finance products
has increased and continues to
grow
REEHAHESRERT
SKIE NSRBI AN

Uncertainties over new
regulations (greenhouse
gas emissions reduction,
carbon taxes, etc.) will
increase operating costs.
The increasing demands
and requirements of
climate-related information
disclosure may increase the
compliance costs.

AR CRER RS

BB R R M
& ER AN o ¥ R AR AE

BAERMBEENTRNE
SKAENE N - Al BE g R
MERAA o

In relation to the
Company:

SAREIME

Closely monitor
climate-related laws,
regulations and policies
enforcement.

=) B R R A B A
F - ERRBEIT -

In relation to our
investment portfolio:

AEMNREAAMS

Understand the potential
transition risks to which
our investments are
exposed, by monitoring
the carbon footprints of
each individual investee.
BEEEREMNKREY
%WW%M*%%%
V1% & P H B 60 B A B
EEE o

Monitor the market
development of green
finance products.
ERGEeTRmEMNT
ISR o
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Reputational risk

BERER

3.2.2 As an investment company, there are significant

financial impact of physical and transition risks
that may arise on each investee company’s
business, strategies for products and services,
value chain, and operations. For our stock
selection, we will integrate the investees’
climate-related risks and opportunities into their
evaluation and assessment using the bottom-up
approach.

Describe the resilience of the organisation’s
strategy, taking into consideration different
climate-related scenarios, including a 2 degree
Celsius or lower scenario

3.3.1Scenarios analysis is a tool to estimate the

financial impact of climate-related risks on the
portfolio assets. However, its effectiveness will be
dependent on the data availability of investee
companies.

3.3.2Translating the climate scenario analysis into an

investment strategy is also a challenge because
there is a wide range of plausible climate scenarios
and the probability of any given scenario is
difficult to determine. Subject to the data
availability, various climate scenario analysis tools
and climate stress tests methodologies may be
employed in future.

Lack of or delayed
actions for tackling
climate change may
damage our reputation
Tz SR EZE T
BRIREDNRE - BA
AIEERIE

Closely monitor
climate-related laws,
regulations and policies
enforcement.

EY SR RIRE AR
OERRBERAT -

3221EA—RIEERE  BEMBERR
BEHREUERRARNER Emk

AR 75 3R
BRE-

B - BEBNEEELEANM
BERME - RAKEA B

T EMITE - BREHRORIEE
38 | fa N p B A N ELRF (A R il At o

) FARBHREENL WERT
FRRRAARIEIR (B2 CRER
#EER)

331 BEA ARG RIEEER
BN EHEEEN B EN—

BT A - R HEBBEURR
BB EHR ARG IRMHE

-

3.3.28F

RIRBED B BT E KR

HEANRE - RARERZEER

BEE A NRIRB RN MR E
MBERENELRRRAMEE
BF TR ESEIE &Mk
ERAERREBERANTAR
RAREE DRI TTE
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a)

Describe the organisation’s process for identifying
and assessing climate-related risks

4.1.1For the process of identifying and assessing

climate related risks in the perspective of the
Company, stakeholder engagement and
materiality assessment are done to cover the
climate change and details of which are include in
section 2 of the ESG report.

4.1.2 For the climate-related risks in the perspective of

our investment portfolio, we plan to perform
material environmental risk analysis on an annual
basis in future. This is to understand
environmental factors that pose risks to financial
assets and translate these to inform firms’
investment decisions. The environmental risk
assessments will also be conducted at sector and
market level initially.

b)  Describe the organisation’s process for managing
climate-related risks

4.2.1 Details are set out in the column of management
measure at Section 3.2.1.

c¢)  Describe how processes for identifying, assessing

and managing climate-related risks are integrated
into the organisation’s overall risk management

4.3.1 Climate Change is considered as a principal risk to

the Company and our risk management working
group will regularly review it and report to the
Board.

4.3.2For our investment portfolio, the Investment

Committee together with our Investment Manager
will identify, assess and monitor the related
climate-related risks.
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a) Disclose the metrics used by the organisation to
assess climate-related risks and opportunities in

line with its strategy and risk management process

5.1.1For the metrics of the Company’s climate related
risk, we use the various KPIs as required by the
Listing Rules. Details of them are set out in the
Section 3 of the ESG Report.

5.1.2 For the metrics of the investment portfolio, we
would use the carbon emission intensity. However,
there are several common measurement units in
use and they are per floor area, employee and
revenue, respectively. As the measurement unit
varied across the investee companies, this makes
meaningful comparison difficult.

b) Disclose Scope 1, Scope 2, and if appropriate,
Scope 3 greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, and the
related risks

5.2.1The GHG emission intensity of investee companies
can help understand their carbon footprint

5.2.2Based on their latest ESG/Sustainability reports
(mainly of their financial year 2021) of our top 10
portfolio companies, a summary of their carbon
footprints is prepared below. The Company has
not independently verified the information
published by such listed issuers. All figures cited
below are approximate ones only.
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Top 10 Equity Investments

+RIRAERE

2021 2020
k- Sl k- - £
Scope 1 Scope 2 Emission Scope 1 Scope 2 Emission
Stock Code  Company Name Direct Emission  Indirect Emission Intensity Direct Emission  Indirect Emission Intensity
RIS PEER HENEREN HEMERR HEEN SEMEEHR SEDRMEHR HREEN
(intC0.e) (intCOLe) (in tC0.¢) (in tC0.¢) (in tC0.¢) (in tC0.¢)
(RHE_F1LH (RE_E1H (RE_ElH (RE_G1H (RE_F1E (RE_G1H
Egif) E&it) £ £gif) Eif) £gif)
T 184K Grown Up Group Investment 36.63 646.61 0.0022 per thousand 5474 924.48 0.0035 per thousand
Holdings Limited HK$ Revenue HKS Revenue
EEEERENRARLT ETAT ETR
%8000 EXH0.003
2 1871HK China Oriented International 5,266.40 1175.21 0.1 per thousand 3,878.19 878.81 0.07 per thousand
Holdings Limited RMB Revenue RMB Revenue
AEERRERAT §TTARE 5T ARK
££80.10 BXE007
3 1025HK KNT Holdings Limited 69.40 417.50 6.09 per million 71.80 440.40 8.17 per million
REERAERAE HK$ Revenue HK$ Revenue
SEEET SEEET
5600 EEE8T
4 0388HK Hong Kong Exchange and 102.00 15,973.00 ¥ 166.00 19,122.00 ¥
Clearing Limited
BEROREEMARLA
5 1859.HK China Bright Culture Group 15.77 19.37 0.00065 per ten 8.94 18.72 0.00036 per ten thousand
sy dld-t] thousand RMB RMB Revenue
Revenue BETARE
FETARY 2%10.00036
B%%0.00065
6 0372.HK PT International Development 138.00 568.00 4.63 per Employee 23.00 36.00 1.73 per Employee
Corporation B4[EB4.63 BEEE1T3
REARERAXERAA
7 0091.HK Golden Century International 1,899.54 407.98 0.06 per thousand 1,046.38 7132 0.02 per thousand
Ijl*oldin?s Group Limited HKS Revenue HKS Revenue
SREREREEARLT §T471 §TER
EXH006 8002
8 1706.HK Shuang Yun Holdings Limited 4,768.69 37.28 61.3 per million 2,231.15 10.46 35.03 per million S§
EEIRERLA Singapore dolar (*S") Revenue
§ Revenue SRENMIAT
BREMIRT EEE353
(Hmr))
E%5613
9 0700.HK Tencent Holdings Limited 3,756.48 105,956.51 1.65 per Person 3,785.86 109,715.64 1.9 per Person
EAERERLA FA165 BA19
10 9618.HK JD.com. Inc. 238,774.90 271,067.08 ¥ 355,585.45 646,827.08 ¥
RREERAERAA

* Not shown 875 I 25 %
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c¢)  Disclose the targets used by the organisation to
manage climate-related risks and opportunities

and performance against targets

5.3.1The ability for diversified investors to set
meaningful climate targets is inhibited by the
paucity in credible methodologies and data
currently available. The Company is supportive of
the development of target-setting methodologies,
and of the increasing completeness of carbon
datasets. The Company wishes to set meaningful
climate targets for its investment portfolio subject
to the limitations of currently available data.
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Dr. Lam Man Chan M.H. (“Dr. Lam”), aged 73, joined the
Company on 11 February 2014. He has over 30 years of
management experience and in depth knowledge of the electronics
industry. Dr. Lam has been awarded the Medal of Honour in July
2022 in recognition of his dedicated service to the Kwai Tsing
District, especially in the area of crime prevention.

Dr. Lam was graduated from the World Electric Engineering
College in 1969. Dr. Lam holds an honorary degree of Doctor of
Science from Armstrong University in the United States. He is
currently the chairman of Ngai Lik Group Limited (“Ngai Lik”). He
is responsible for the formulation of corporate strategy and overall
direction of Ngai Lik. Dr. Lam has invested in different industries,
including securities broking, finance business, hotel development,
motor cycle business and properties investment. He was granted
the Young Industrialist Awards of Hong Kong in 1994 and the
World Outstanding Chinese Award in 2005.

He was once a standing committee member of Qingyuan Region
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (“CPPCC") and a committee member of Guangdong
Provincial Committee and Dongguan Regional Committee of
CPPCC. Dr. Lam had been the chairman and executive director of
Ngai Lik Industrial Holdings Limited (now known as Yuan Heng Gas
Holdings Limited) (stock code: 332), a company publicly listed on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock
Exchange”), during the period from 1992 to 2010. Dr. Lam is the
husband of Ms. Ting Lai Ling who is the Project and Administration
General Manager of the Company.
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Mr. Lee Kwok Leung (“Mr. Lee”), aged 69, joined the Company
on 8 May 2014, Mr. Lee is a member of Nomination Committee.
He is a licensed person to carry out type 9 (asset management) and
Type 4 (Advising on securities) regulated activities under the SFO
since 2003 and 2018 respectively. He has over 15 years of relevant
experience by serving as one of the responsible officers of
Silverstone Investments Limited (“Silverstone”) for Type 9 (asset
management) for the period from 2003 to December 2020 and
licensed representative for Type 4 (advising on securities) regulated
activity under SFO for the period from 2018 to December 2020.
Silverstone has been the investment manager of the Company for
the period from 2015 to December 2020 providing investment
advisory services to and managing investment portfolios for
professional/institutional investors mainly in Greater China and
Hong Kong to the Company.

Mr. Lee is currently the responsible officer of Success Advance
Investments Limited (“Success Advance”) for Type 9 (asset
management) and the licensed representative for Type 4 (advising
on securities) regulated activity under SFO. Success Advance is the
new investment manager of the Company since 25 January 2021
which carries out Type 9 (asset management) and Type 4 (advising
on securities) regulated activity under SFO providing investment
advisory services to and managing investment portfolios for
professional/institutional investors mainly in Greater China and
Hong Kong to the Company.

Mr. Lee has strong experience in portfolio construction, portfolio
management, risk assessment and investment due diligence.
Furthermore, Mr. Lee had been the Managing Director of BOCI
Direct Management Limited from 1992 to 1999. In this private
equity fund, he was responsible for the overall management of the
fund.

CHINA CASTSON 81 FINANCE COMPANY LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2022

FERxE(TERE]D 695 R-T—FH
ANBMAERRAR - $5‘E$Fﬁm%§,\ Eﬂ,a °
FE_EE=FR-_T— )\ FRAZFLRBEK
BITHITHEE(REEESTIE) REL E(?Jt:n
REER)ZAETIINFRAL KEZ
*i ZEZTEHF+Z ﬁ%ﬁf‘aﬁ%fﬁﬁﬁﬁ&éﬁﬁﬁ
NENRAE D P REBHFRIAEGOITETFMHE (1R
Méﬁ%”éﬁ)xiﬁa/E@JZE\E/\E\Z*&Q:
ZF@—)\iz ZoEFTAHBEEARAES R
BHERBEGKROETHME (GRBEHFREEZER)Z
%EE/E@JZ%HEHJ@E CREASISEEBELR -
AR S —hAFE_ZT-_TF+T-_ABEAR
NRAMKRERE  TEARRENEENZE
HIBREERHUREZLARBNERKREHLS -

FREBAMARBREARAR([BRRED FR
EHRMAEHRIETEIR(RHEEER) XA
BERBZBAREABRFABE(BEFRERER) X
RERZFERR KEB-_FT-_—F—A
“tHRERARBNHMRELE  REEFK
HIEHEAAETROBEREEERE) RFE4%E (5
ERREBR)ZIRERY  TER/RATEME
BOEE MEREERHREFARBNERE
REHES -

FREGARENBRREMAS KREMAEGE
B ERFENMREZEBREFSER - I FE
ER—NANZFE-NANANFEEGETRREE
BERARMNEFTALE - ERHEMEEETE

BEESMERERE -



Mr. Lee is currently the chairman and executive director of Mayer
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 1116), a company listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange.

Mr. Lee is currently an independent non-executive director of EV
Dynamics (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 476), a company listed on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Mr. Lee was an independent non-executive director of Imperial
Pacific International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1076), a
company listed on Hong Kong Stock Exchange, for the period from
21 November 2013 to 22 August 2022.

For the period from 1 June 2020 to 27 August 2021, Mr. Lee was
an independent non-executive director of Guoan International
Limited (delisted in November 2022 from the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange/old stock code: 143).
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Dr. Ng Chi Yeung Simon (“Dr. Ng”), aged 65,
Company on 26 November 2013. He is also the Chairman of

joined the

Nomination Committee and a member of Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee of the Company. Dr. Ng is a solicitor in
Hong Kong (non-practising). He was a consultant of Rowland
Chow, Chan & Company, a law firm in Hong Kong, for the period
from 2003 to 31 December 2020.

Dr. Ng holds a bachelor’s of laws degree from the Manchester
Metropolitan University in the United Kingdom in 1986, a master
degree in Chinese and Comparative Law from the City University
of Hong Kong in 1997 and a doctoral degree in worship studies
from the Robert Webber Institute for Worship Studies in June
2013.

Dr. Ng is currently an independent non-executive director of
Winfair Investment Company Limited (stock code: 287), a company
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Dr. Ng was a Part-time Lecturer of the Department of Professional
Legal Education of The University of Hong Kong for the period
from September 2013 to December 2020.

Dr. Ng was an independent non-executive director of a publicly
listed company in Hong Kong, namely, Century Sage Scientific
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1450) for the period from 13 June
2014 to 29 September 2021.
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Mr. Tam Yuk Sang Sammy (“Mr. Tam”), aged 59, joined the
Company on 31 December 2013. He is also the Chairman of Audit
Committee and Remuneration Committee and a member of
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Tam graduated from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in Accountancy, and holds a
Master of Science degree in Professional Accountancy from
University of London. He is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Tam possesses good accounting
and financial experiences and qualification, and expertise in risk
management and sustainability.

Mr. Tam is currently the director of Essentack Limited, a corporate
strategy and management advisory company. Mr. Tam had once
been an independent non-executive director of Huajin International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2738), a company whose shares are
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for the period from 23
March 2016 to 17 March 2023.

Ms. Florence Ng (“Ms. Ng”), aged 59, joined the Company on 31
December 2013. Ms. Ng is also a member of Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee of the
Company. Ms. Ng is a solicitor qualified in Hong Kong since 2011,
focused in corporate and mergers and acquisitions transactions.
Ms. Ng holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from the San Francisco
State University, a Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of
London and a Master of Laws degree from the City University of
Hong Kong. Ms. Ng also holds a Fintech Programme certificate
from the University of Oxford.

Ms. Ng is currently an independent non-executive director of Silver
Tide Holdings Limited since October 20, 2022, a company listed on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock code: 01943). Ms. Ng
currently serves as a consultant for Mega Matrix Corp. (formerly
known as: AeroCentury Corp.) (trading symbol: MTMT), a Delaware
corporation listed in the New York Stock Exchange American LLC,
United States from October 1, 2022, and served as its Executive
Director from October 1, 2021 to September 30, 2022, as its Chief
Operating Officer from March 25, 2022 to September 30, 2022, its
Vice President of Operations and Business Development from
November 1, 2021 to March 25, 2022, and its General Counsel
from October 1, 2021 to November 1, 2021.
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Dr. Yeung Cheuk Kwong (“Dr. Yeung”), CFA, aged 60, joined
the Company on 7 July 2014. Dr. Yeung holds a Doctor degree of
Business Administration from the City University of Hong Kong
with a distinction award, a Master degree in Finance from the City
University of Hong Kong with distinction, a Bachelor degree of
Science (Economics) from the University of London, a Master
degree in Corporate and Financial Law from the University of Hong
Kong and a Bachelor degree of Laws from Manchester
Metropolitan University.

Dr. Yeung is an adjunct professor of Zhongnan University of
Economics and Law, the PRC. He also published a paper in
Asia-Pacific Journal of Financial Studies in 2018.

Dr. Yeung has held senior management positions for about 30
years. He has extensive experiences and knowledge in mergers and
acquisitions, corporate finance, investment in various asset classes,
such as fixed income securities and equities, as well as tax
planning. Dr. Yeung is a CFA charterholder of the CFA Institute, a
Certified Public Accountant (Practising) of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, a Fellow Member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, and an Associate
Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales.

Dr. Yeung Cheuk Kwong has become a fellow member of the
Hong Kong Securities & Investment Institute since 22 November
2021.
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Dr. Yeung was one of the licensed representatives of Silverstone
Investments Limited which carries our type 9 (asset management)
and Type 4 (Advising on Securities) regulated activities under SFO
for period from 2016 to January 2021.

Dr. Yeung Cheuk Kwong has become one of the Responsible
Officers of Type 9 (asset management) and Type 4 (advising on
securities) regulated activities under the SFO of Success Advance
Investments Limited (“Success Adance”), the Investment Manager
of the Company, since 1 August 2022 and he first joined Success
Advance as a licensed representative in May 2021.

Dr. Yeung was the executive director and chief financial officer of
Great Wall Electronic International Limited (now known as EPI
(Holdings) Limited) (stock code: 689) from 1995 to 2000, a
company publicly listed on the Stock Exchange. He was also the
executive director, chief financial officer and company secretary of
Ngai Lik Industrial Holdings Limited (now known as Yuan Heng Gas
Holdings Limited) (stock code: 332) from 2000 to 2010, a company
publicly listed on the Stock Exchange.

Dr. Yeung is currently a deputy managing director and Group CFO
of Ngai Lik Group Limited, a private company controlled by Dr. Lam
Man Chan, Chairman and the deemed substantial shareholder of
the Company. Dr. Yeung is a non-executive director of China
Oriented International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1871) a
company publicly listed on the Stock Exchange. Dr. Yeung has
been an executive committee member of Hong Kong Electronics
Industry Council under the Federation of Hong Kong Industries
since 2015. He has been appointed as a pro-bono director of
Manchester Metropolitan University Alumni Chapter Hong Kong
Limited, since January 2021.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022.

The Company is principally engaged in investment in equity and
debt securities of listed and unlisted companies. During the year,
there were no significant changes to the Group’s principal
activities. Further discussion and analysis of these activities,
particular of important events affecting the Company that have
occurred since the end of the financial year and an indication of
likely future developments in the group’s business can be found in
the Chairman’s Statement and the Management Discussion and
Analysis set out on pages 4 to 10 of this Annual Report. The
description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the group
during the year is set out in the Section 5.2.2 Risk profile and
Section 5.2.3 Principal Risks identified in the Corporate
Governance Report. The above discussion and description form
part of this Report of Directors.

China Castson 81 Finance Company Limited (the “Company”, and
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is an investment
company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) under Chapter 21 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”).

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company may change
the Company’s investment objectives and policies from time to
time. The Company is also subject to the investment restrictions
set forth in the Listing Rules and its Bye-laws. Details of the major
investment objectives, policies and restrictions of the Company are
set out as below:

The Company is an investment company with the primary objective
of achieving capital appreciation as well as generating income
from interests and dividends by investing in listed and unlisted
companies in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), Hong
Kong and Macau (collectively, “Greater China”), United States,
Asia-Pacific Region and any other appropriate countries/capital
markets as the Board may direct from time to time. The Company
also intends to invest in unlisted companies with the potential to
seek a listing on the Stock Exchange or any overseas stock
exchanges.
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investment portfolio. Below are the key details of policies: T

The Group has adopted a diversified investment approach and has
added the use of derivatives for the purposes of hedging the

Investment will normally be made in the form of equity
securities, equity related securities (including but not limited
to convertible notes, preference shares, options, warrants
and/or futures contracts) and/or debt securities in listed and
unlisted companies in Greater China, United States,
Asia-Pacific Region and any other appropriate countries/
capital markets engaged in different industries including (but
not limited to) manufacturing, bio-technology, services,
telecommunication, technology, infrastructure,
pharmaceuticals and property sectors, aiming at maintaining
a balance in the Company’s exposure to different industry
sectors.

The Group may, where the Board considers appropriate, use
or invest in derivatives for hedging purposes. In this
connection, the Group may buy, write or sell warrants,
covered warrants, options or traded options on its underlying
investments. The Group may also short-sell shares, buy or sell
futures contracts on stock indices or shares (if any) as a
means to hedge against adverse price movements of its
investments.

When considering and identifying potential investments, the
Group will seek to identify entities with a record of positive
profit growth, strong management, and high levels of
technical expertise, and research and development
capabilities as well as management commitment to long-term
growth. At the same time, the Group is also flexible in
considering investments in companies or other entities which
are considered by the Board and the investment manager of
the Company as being special or in recovery situations with
return potential.
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4. As to the period of investment, the investments are usually
intended to be held for capital appreciation. The actual
holding period will depend on the return from investment
and the potential of listing on the Stock Exchange or other
internationally recognized stock exchanges. The Group will,
however, realise investments where the Board believes the
realization would be in the best interests of the Group or
where the terms on which such realisation can be made are
considered by the Board as particularly favorable to the
Group.

The above investment policies may be amended by the Board from
time to time without approval by the Company’s shareholders, but
subject to the investment restrictions as set forth below or as
applicable to the Company from time to time.

Under the Bye-laws and the Listing Rules relating to the listing of
investment companies, certain restrictions on investments are
imposed on the Company. The Board has resolved that the
Company may not:

1. either itself or through its wholly-owned subsidiaries or in
conjunction with any connected person take legal, or
effective, management control of underlying investments and
in no event will the Company itself or through its
wholly-owned subsidiaries own or control more than 30% (or
such other percentage as may from time to time be specified
in the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers as being
the level for triggering a mandatory general offer) of the
voting rights in such company or other entity, except in
relation to such wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company;

2. invest in any company or entity other than wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company if such investment will result in
more than 20% of the net asset value of the Company
(calculated in accordance with the provisions of the
Company’s Bye-laws) being invested in such company or
entity as at the date the investment is made;
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3. without the prior approval of the Shareholders by ordinary
resolution, buy or sell commodities, commodity contracts or
precious metals, except that the Group may purchase and sell
future contracts on stock indices and securities which are
secured by commodities or precious metals; and

4. invest more than 30% of the Company’s assets outside
Greater China to the extent of contravening its primary
objective of achieving capital appreciation by investing in
listed and unlisted companies in Greater China.

The Company has to comply with investment restrictions 1 and 2
above at all times while it remains listed as an investment company
under Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules. Investment restriction 3 can
be changed subject to Shareholders’ approval and investment
restriction 4 can be changed without Shareholders’ approval.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
and the state of affairs at that date are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 131 to 211. The Directors do not
recommend the payment of a dividend.

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
audited consolidated financial statements and restated and
reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 212. This summary
does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company are
set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.
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The Company has not purchased, sold or redeemed any of its own
shares during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Donations to charitable organization by the Group during the year
amounted to approximately HK$45,000.

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 135.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had no distributable
reserve because its accumulated losses amounted to be about
HK$366.0 million.

Save for the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed in
the below section headed “Share Option Scheme” below, no
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or
existed during the year.

The Company’s 2012 Share Option Scheme was adopted pursuant
to a resolution passed on 31 July 2012 (the “2012 Scheme”) for
the primary purpose of providing incentives to directors of the
Company and eligible participants (as defined in the Scheme), and
was expired on 30 July 2022.

Under the 2012 Scheme, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) may
grant options to directors of the Company (including non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors) and its eligible
participants to subscribe for shares in the Company.

As at 31 December 2021, the total number of shares available for
issue under the 2012 Scheme was approximately 4,609,646,
representing approximately 3.26% of the issued shares of the
Company.
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The total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the 2012 Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time without
prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The number of
shares in respect of which options may be granted to any individual
in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any point in time, without prior approval from
the Company’s shareholders. Options granted to substantial
shareholders or independent non-executive directors in excess of
0.1% of the Company’s share capital or with a value in excess of
HK$5 million must be approved in advance by the Company’s
shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up on or before the relevant
acceptance date, upon payment of HK$1.00 for the options
granted. Options may be exercised at any time from the date of
grant of the share option to a period to be notified by the Board to
each grantee at the time of making such offer, which shall not
expire later than 10 years from the date of grant.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS
ESEEREE

The movements of the options granted under the 2012 Scheme BE-_ZT——FFEREZEBERERFERNNALR

during the year and as at 31 December 2022 were as follows: B F+_A=1+—BZEHWT :
No. of share options
EREYE
Granted, Exercised
and Cancelled Lapsed during
Grantee Position Date of Grant Exercise period Exercise Price s at 1/1/2022 during the year the year As at 31/12/2022
) ‘ _ ) ) S8 SREM =t et
BRA B RHRH fTEHE & -R-H TR EMm%¥ +-B=t+-H
HKS
BT
Lee Kwok Leung Executive Director ~ 16/09/2019 16/09/2019 to 31/07/2022 1.1601 188,936 - (188,936) -
FER EEEE] ZE-AEARTAR ZE-AFAATSRE
ZRIZELAST-R
Ng Chi Yeung, Simon Independent 16/09/2019 16/09/2019 to 31/07/2022 1.1601 23,617 - (23617) -
258 Non-Executive ZE-AERATAR ZE-AFARTRAZ
Director “E-CELAEH-H
BUENTES
Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy Independent 16/09/2019 16/09/2019 to 31/07/2022 1.1601 23,617 - (23617) -
ik Non-Executive ZE-AEARTAR ZE-AFAATRBEE
Director ZEICELAZT-H
BUEDTES
Florence Ng Independent 16/09/2019 16/09/2019 to 31/07/2022 1.1601 23,617 - (23617) -
RBH Non-Executive ZE-AEABTAR ZE-AFAARTRAZ
Director ZEC-FHA=T-B
BUEHTES
Yeung Cheuk Kwong Chief Executive 16/09/2019 16/09/2019 to 31/07/2022 1.1601 295213 - (295,213) -
ED Officer ZE-NERATAR ZE-NFAATREZ
it ZRCCELAZT-R
Other employees na 16/09/2019 16/09/2019 to 31/07/2022 1.1601 330,638 - (330,638) -
AfhER TR ZE-NERATAR ZE-NFAATREZ
it Juit: 2 1
Total &3t 885,638 - (885,638) -
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Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 27 June 2022, the
Company adopted a new share option scheme (the “2022
Scheme”) for the primary purpose to recognising and
acknowledging the contributions the eligible participants had or
may have made to the Group. Eligible participants include the
full-time and part-time employees, executives, officers, directors
(including executive directors and non-executive directors) of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and other non-employee
participants (as defined in the 2022 Scheme). Unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, the 2022 Scheme will remain valid for a
period of 10 years from the date of its adoption.

The Company was authorised to grant share options under the
2022 Scheme for subscription of up to a total of 14,142,318
shares, representing approximately 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the date of adoption.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the 2022 Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time without
prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The number of
shares in respect of which options may be granted to any individual
in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any point in time, without prior approval from
the Company’s shareholders. Options granted to substantial
shareholders or independent non-executive directors in excess of
0.1% of the Company’s share capital or with a value in excess of
HK$5 million must be approved in advance by the Company’s
shareholders.
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Options granted must be taken up on or before the relevant
acceptance date, upon payment of HK$1.00 for the options
granted. Options may be exercised at any time from the date of
grant of the share option to a period to be notified by the Board to
each grantee at the time of making such offer, which shall not
expire later than 10 years from the date of grant.

The exercise price is determined by the Board at its absolute
discretion and will not be less than the higher of (a) the closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the daily
qguotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant; (b) the average closing price of the shares of the Company
as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the 5 business days immediately preceding the date
of grant; and (c) the nominal value of a share of the Company on
the date of grant.

After the adoption of 2022 Scheme, no further options could be
offered under the 2012 Scheme, but in all other respects the
provisions of the 2012 Scheme shall remain in full force and effect
to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of options
granted prior to its expiration or otherwise as may be required in
accordance with the provisions of the 2012 Scheme and all options
granted prior to such expiration and not exercised at the date of
expiration shall remain valid.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, 885,638 share options
were lapsed and no share options were granted, exercised and
cancelled. There are no shares options outstanding as at 31
December 2022 under the 2012 Scheme and no share options
were granted under the 2022 Scheme.
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The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were as follows:

Dr. Lam Man Chan

Mr. Lee Kwok Leung

Dr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon
Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy
Ms. Florence Ng

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Lee Kwok Leung
and Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy will retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offers themselves for
re-election.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

As at 31 December 2022, pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in
the Listing Rules, below were the interest and short positions of
the directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance) as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to section 352 of part XV of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited:
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Number of Shares held

FiisiRB 8B

Name of No. of Percentage
Directors and Chief Long Short share of Issued
Executive Officer Position Note Nature of interest position position  options held share capital
EER FisERE (HERTRE
TRASER B Az M REHE e KR #H Btk
Lam Man Chan Chairman and 1 Beneficial owner 38,305,770 - - 27.09

("Dr. Lam") Non-executive Director EREBA
M (L)) IRRFHNTESR
Notes: B A -
1. Dr. Lam is the sole shareholder of Goodchamp Holdings Limited. He 1. MIE LK A Goodchamp Holdings Limited 2 iff —

thus has the beneficial interest in the 38,305,770 shares of the
Company and his wife, Ms. Ting Lai Ling, who is one of the
management team members of the Company, is deemed to have an
interest on such shares of the Company.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the share option scheme disclosures in note 29
to the consolidated financial statements, at no time during the year
were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or
their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any
other body corporate.
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As at 31 December 2022, so far as was known to the directors or
chief executive of the Company, the following persons (other than
the interests disclosed above in respect of certain directors and
chief executive of the Company) has, or is deemed to have,
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of
the Company as recorded in the register to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO are set out below:

Goodchamp Holdings Limited 1 Beneficial owner
ERERBA

Dr. Lam 1 Beneficial owner

N EnEAA

Ting Lai Ling 1 Beneficial owner

TE®R EREBA

Note:

1. Dr. Lam is the sole shareholder of Goodchamp Holdings Limited. He

thus has the beneficial interest in the 38,305,770 shares of the
Company and his wife, Ms. Ting Lai Ling, who is one of the
management team members of the Company, is deemed to have an
interest on such shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the directors
and chief executive of the Company are not aware of any persons
who had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as at
the date of this report.

The emoluments policy for the Directors of the Company are
decided by Remuneration Committee, with reference to his
respective qualifications and experiences, duties and responsibilities
with the Company, the Company’s performance and the prevailing
market situation. The Company has adopted a share option scheme
as an incentive to Directors and eligible employees, details of the
scheme are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-Laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

The Company has received, from each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
The Company considers that all the Independent Non-executive
Directors are independent.

No contracts of significance in relation to the Company’s business
to which the Company was a party and in which a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.
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Except as detailed in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, no contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business
of the Company were entered into or existed during the year.

According to the bye-laws, every Director is entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities (to the fullest extent permitted by the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) which he/she
may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his
office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Group has maintained
directors’ liability insurance, which provides appropriate cover for
legal actions brought against the Directors and directors of the
subsidiaries of the Group. The level of the coverage is reviewed
annually.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu resigned as the auditor of the Company
with effect from 28 July 2021 and RSM Hong Kong was appointed
as the new auditor of the Company to fill the casual vacancy with
immediate effect and held office until the conclusion at the next
annual general meeting of the Company. At the 2021 annual
general meeting of the Company, RSM Hong Kong was appointed
as auditor of the Company. Save as disclosed above, there was no
other changes in the Company’s auditor in the past three years.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by RSM
Hong Kong who will retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board

Lam Man Chan
Chairman
Hong Kong, 27 March 2023
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RSM

To the Shareholders of
China Castson 81 Finance Company Limited

29th Floor, Lee Garden Two, 28 Yun Ping Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

(Formerly Known as China Internet Investment Finance Holdings Limited)
(Continued into Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Castson 81 Finance Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 131 to 211, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Companies Ordinance.
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. We have determined that there are no key audit
matters to be communicated in our report.

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all of the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.
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The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal
control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.
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° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ms. Ng Wai Kwun.

RSM Hong Kong
Certified Public Accountants
27 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
ARERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE T -+ A=+ —HILFE

2022 2021
—E== —E-—f
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
iok=a T#&xT FAET
Gross proceeds from operations EIEFTSRIALRE 8 31,896 137,280
Revenue Uz
Dividend income from financial assets at BRAREEAERE
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") ([ A R EE AB])
ZEMEEZREKA 472
Interest income from debt instrument at BRARBEFAEMEEKZE
fair value through other comprehensive ([ZAREFAREMER
income (“FVTOCI") W) BB IR
FEMA 13
Total revenue Rl g 493 485
Net (losses)/gains on financial BARBEFAEBRZE/®
assets at FVTPL BE(FB), /W38 (10,819) 1,096
Other income H U A 9 313 1
Other gains and losses Hfh Wz R B 10 (€19) 8,938
Administrative expenses TR X (16,638) (18,603)
Other operating expenses HEfbh & (1,268) (1,426)
Share of results of an associate FEAE— B DR ELE = (22)
Loss from operations EERE (27,955) (9,531)
Finance costs Bl & Ak AN 12 (36) (48)
Loss before tax FREiRTES 18 (27,991) (9,579)
Income tax expense s fi 2 13 - -
Loss for the year attributable ARREEABIEEERSE
to owners of the Company 14 (27,991) (9,579)
Loss per share attributable AAREAEREEBRER
to owners of the Company 18
Basic (HK cents per share) F AR GEAL) (19.79) (7.59)
Diluted (HK cents per share) BE B L) (19.79) (7.59)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
AeRmREMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 i =2 — T - —F + - A=+—HIFE

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income:

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations

Release of translation reserve upon
deregistration of a subsidiary

Fair value gain on debt instrument
at FVTOCI

Release of FVTOCI reserve upon disposal
of debt instrument

Other comprehensive income for the year,

net of tax

Total comprehensive loss for the year
attributable to owners of the Company
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e B A R

As at 31 December 2022 A+ - A =+—H

2022 2021
—2_- —E-—4F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
iok=a T#&xT FAET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRHEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB MK 19 9,434
Financial assets at FVTPL BARBEFAEBERZEMEE 20 24,208
Interest in an associate AL AANCIPR - Ea 22 _
33,642
Current assets MENEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BAREFABRZSMEE 20 36,775 18,631
Other receivables, prepayments H fth fE Y FRTE - FBAT A
and deposits L& 23 874 1,921
Bank and cash balances RITRIBE AR 24 1,828 35,273
55,825
Total assets EEHE 89,467
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B AR R R R

As at 31 December 2022 A+ - A =+—H

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ExREAE
Equity attributable to owners AREEE ABILRERS
of the Company
Share capital fig 2
Reserves G
Total equity RSB
LIABILITIES a&
Current liabilities mEaE
Accruals FEET R
Secured bank loan AERFIETER
Total liabilities EEHEE
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ExREEHRE
Net current assets MBEEZRE
Net assets BEERE
Net asset value per share (HK$) BREEFEGER)

2022 2021

—E=-= —_F_—
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
H it Fi# T FHT
25 1,414 1,414
27 54,201 82,115
55,615 83,529
3,344 4,287
28 1,130 1,651
4,474 5,938
60,089 89,467
35,003 49,887
55,615 83,529
33 0.39 0.59

Approved by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2023 and are
signed on its behalf by:

Lam Man Chan

FRIC IR

Director

BFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

maEm BBk

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —_F+ A =+—HILEFE

Asat 1 January 2021

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive loss for the year
Lapse of share options

Capital reduction

Transfer to contributed surplus
Issuance of shares upon rights issue

Changes in equity for the year

As at 31 December 2021
and 1 January 2022

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive loss for the year
Lapse of share options

Changes in equity for the year

As at 31 December 2022

\Z5--%-F-H

ERBR
EfEENE

EREEERER
BRERH
BAHIE
EEES NS
G

EREREY

\ZE--F+27
Zt-AR-E-CF
-f-B

ERER
E2Eh

EREEERLER
BREXN

ERERRY

RZE--E+-A=1-H

Share-based
Share Share Contributed  payments  Translation FVTOCI Accumulated

capital  premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total

BOLE

TARBRE
ke RGEE HARR RONREE  EXRE KBRS  ZHER &t
Note HKS'000  HKS'000  HK§'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
it Tin Tin T Tin T Tin T Tién
94,28 75416 225,806 1281 (76) 26 (311,802) 84,887
- - - - - - (9,579) (9,579)
- - - - (1) 26 - 25
- - - - (1) 26 (9,579) (9,554)
- - - (873) - - 873 -
25(1)ib) (93,339) - 93339 - - - - -
27(b)i - (75,416) 15416 - - - - -
250 an 7,725 - - - - - 8,19
92,868) (67,691) 168755 (873) (1) 26 (8,706) (1,358

1,414

1,125

394,561

394,561
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GaRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 H{ & =T = —

FH-A=+-ALFE

2022

—E——
Note HK$'000
iokz3 Ti#x

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax
Adjustments for:
Bank interest income
Dividend income from financial
assets at FVTPL
Interest income from debt
instrument at FVTOCI
Finance costs
Depreciation
Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Derecognition of debt instrument
of FVTOCI
Net losses/(gains) on financial
assets at FVTPL
Share of results of an associate

Operating loss before working
capital changes

Proceeds from disposal of financial
assets at FVTPL

Payments for purchases of financial
assets at FVTPL

Decrease in other receivables,
prepayments and deposits

Decrease in accruals

Interest income received

Dividend income received

Net cash used in operating activities

REXBHEHERE

B 75 Bl 5 18

LA TIER
RITHBUA
BAREFABRZ
TREEZBREBA

BAREFARMEE S E
ZEHTAEZMERA

AR
e

HEME - BB RERERE

RIFEREAAERA

HpzmEKm BB TA
BAREBEHABEZER
BEBE (W) F8

iR Ll NI

BEE LR B 2O BR

HERARBERABRRZ

TREEZMEHA
BERAREFABRSEZ
TREEZMNK

H A fEURIR - TR IR R
Bemd

F& & B SR

B KA B HA

B A B A

REXRBHAZEELEE

(27,991)

9 (1

(17,015)
31,403
(CYR-EY))
1,047

(CLX))

1
493

(32,946)
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2021

HK$'000
TAET

(9,579)
)
(472)
(13)

48
848

(8,935)
25
(1,096)
22
(19,153)
136,795
(118,282)
2,474
(4,203)

14
472

(1,883)



2022 2021

—E-— —ET-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
M aF T FET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REEBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant EEYE  MENLEE
and equipment 19 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME HBEEE
plant and equipment T ErESE 8,935
Proceeds from disposal of debt HERARERAEMEZE
instrument at FVTOCI Wy EEITAEFREZE 1,746
Proceeds from disposal of an associate HeE - AT ERE 458
Net cash (used in)/generated from WEREW (R Ex
investing activities T IR 4 5 11,139
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Gross proceeds from Rights Issue AT TS R IB B %8 25(2) 9,428
Payments for Rights Issue expenses HBEHAL 2 AR 25(2) (1,232)
Repayment of secured bank loan EEEMMIETER (509)
Finance costs B & KA 12 (48)
Net cash (used in)/generated BMEEW (AR EE
from financing activities 4B 7,639
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH RHehBREEEY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (R 2),  EhnEEE (33,522) 16,895
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [k @ &) & 77 (1)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FN2RELRASZEY
AT THE BEGINNING OF YEAR 18,379
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FERZEHEENBAESEEY
AT THE END OF YEAR 35,273
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH ReRBASFEBEHIW
EQUIVALENTS
Bank and cash balances BIT RIS &4 35,273
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZ T -~ F+ A=+ —HIFE

China Castson 81 Finance Company Limited (formerly known
as China Internet Investment Finance Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company continued into
Bermuda as an exempted company under the laws of
Bermuda. The address of the Company’s registered office is
Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 10,
Bermuda and its principal place of business is Flat 18, 9/F,
Block B, Focal Industrial Centre, 21 Man Lok Street,
Hunghom, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at a special general
meeting held on 9 January 2023, the English name of the
Company was changed from “China Internet Investment
Finance Holdings Limited” to “China Castson 81 Finance
Company Limited” and the Chinese name of the Company
was changed from "HFE BT ECHEEEGRAF" to
"HEERESIERAR LG,

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) are principally engaged in investments in equity
and debt instruments. The principal activities of its principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA™).
HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRS"); Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS"); and
Interpretations. These consolidated financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”) and with the disclosure requirements of
the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). Significant accounting
policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.
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The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting year of the Group. Note 3 below provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior
accounting years reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.

The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to
HKFRSs that are first effective for the current
accounting year of the Group.

None of these developments have had a material effect
on how the Group's results and financial position for
the current or prior years have been prepared or
presented. The Group has not applied any new standard
or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting year.
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The Group has not applied any new standard,
amendments to standards and interpretation that have
been issued but are not yet effective for the financial
year beginning 1 January 2022. The new standard,
amendments to standards and interpretation include
the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for

accounting
periods
beginning
on or after
Amendments to HKAS 1 and 1 January 2023
HKFRS Practice Statement
2 - Disclosure of Accounting
Policies
Amendments to HKAS 8 - 1 January 2023
Definition of Accounting
Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 - 1 January 2023
Deferred Tax Related to
Assets and Liabilities Arising
from a Single Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 1 - 1 January 2024
Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
Amendments to HKAS 1 - 1 January 2024

Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants
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Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
Presentation of Financial
Statements - Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 - Sale or Contribution
of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint
Venture

Effective for
accounting
periods
beginning
on or after

1 January 2024

To be determined
by the HKICPA

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what

the impact of these amendments and new standards is

expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it

has been concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to

have a significant impact on the consolidated financial

statements.
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These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, unless mentioned
otherwise in the accounting policies below (e.g. certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair value).

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
made up to 31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an
entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over
the entity. The Group has power over an entity when
the Group has existing rights that give it the current
ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that
significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its
potential voting rights as well as potential voting rights
held by other parties. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability to
exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are
de-consolidated from the date the control ceases.
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The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that
results in a loss of control represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the
sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in
that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net
assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill
and any accumulated translation reserve relating to that
subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in a subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, unless the investment is classified as
held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).

Cost includes direct attributable costs of investments.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received or
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.
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Associates are entities over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of an entity but is not control or joint control
over those policies. The existence and effect of potential
voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible, including potential voting rights held by
other entities, are considered when assessing whether
the Group has significant influence. In assessing
whether a potential voting right contributes to
significant influence, the holder’s intention and financial
ability to exercise or convert that right is not
considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and
liabilities of the associate in an acquisition are measured
at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of
the cost of the investment over the Group's share of
the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets
and liabilities is recorded as goodwill which is included
in the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill)
is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as
a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of
disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.
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The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition
profits or losses and other comprehensive income is
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income. When the Group's
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate (which includes any long-term
interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's
net investment in the associate), the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits,
the Group resumes recognising its share of those profits
only after its share of the profits equals the share of
losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that
results in a loss of significant influence represents the
difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that associate and (ii) the
Group’s entire carrying amount of that associate
(including goodwill) and any related accumulated
translation reserve. If an investment in an associate
becomes an investment in a joint venture, the Group
continues to apply the equity method and does not
remeasure the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of associates have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
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(i)

(if)
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Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"),
which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into the functional currency on initial recognition
using the exchange rates prevailing on the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rates at the end of each reporting
period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates. The
transaction date is the date on which the entity
initially recognises such non-monetary assets or
liabilities. Non-monetary items that are measured
at fair value in foreign currencies are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates when the
fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income. When
a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.
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(iii) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the Company’s
presentation currency are translated into the
Company’s presentation currency as follows:

—  Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at
average exchange rates for the period (unless
this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of monetary items that form
part of the net investment in foreign entities are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the translation reserve. When a
foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are reclassified to consolidated profit
or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

(iii)
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Property, plant and equipment, including buildings and
leasehold land, held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services, or for administrative purposes, are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost, less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

For ownership interests of properties which includes
both leasehold land and building elements, the
leasehold land and building elements are allocated in
proportion to the relative fair values unless such
allocation cannot be made reliably, in which case, the
entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less
their residual values over the estimated useful lives on a
straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as
follows:

Leasehold land and buildings Shorter of lease
term or 4%

Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease
term or 20%
Office equipment, 20%
furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles 33.3%
Yacht 33.3%
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The residual values, useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset,
and is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.
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The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace. All recognised financial assets are
measured subsequently in their entirety at either
amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets.
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Debt investments
Debt investments held by the Group are classified into
one of the following measurement categories:

amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method.

FVTOCI - recycling, if the contractual cash flows of
the investment comprise solely payments of
principal and interest and the investment is held
within a business model whose objective is
achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income, except
for the recognition in profit or loss of expected
credit losses (“ECL"), interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and foreign
exchange gains and losses. When the investment
is derecognised, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled from equity to
profit or loss.
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Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment
the Group makes an election to designate the
investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Such elections are made on an
instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made
if the investment meets the definition of equity from
the issuer’s perspective. Where such an election is
made, the amount accumulated in other comprehensive
income remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling)
until the investment is disposed of. At the time of
disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to accumulated
losses. It is not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends
from an investment in equity securities, irrespective of
whether classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are recognised
in profit or loss as revenue.

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses.
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Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents
for the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument under
HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group
after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and
equity instruments are set out below.

RekBReFEMERERIRNERITR
FHEES  FRNBITRE SR
BEHER  ARABERERAD
HMeBEReZERSRBERE - M
ZEAHRERACHNBERE 2R
BEREBAR=ZEARNIH HHE
AXBENBEEDEAR - UEER
TRERME - BREREEILEK
AEERESEE 8D Z|WITEIR
AARE MRS FEMZERES
BehBReFEVIBEREERR
(TEHEEER]) TG -

CRABREZIADREBMRITLE
WLRBEZ AT RB AW B HRE LY
TRHEBEMERTAZERENR - #
S TADFEARAEELNGME R
BRZEETHANGEDE 2 EMNE
e TXHIRHESRAEMER
TRARMZEFTEE -

TEER 81 @BMBERRR | ZEBEZZFFH



For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZ T -~ F+ A=+ —HIFE

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in
profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using
the effective interest method. Fees paid on the
establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period.

Other payables are recognised initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received,
net of direct issue costs.
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Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected
to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on
behalf of third parties.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured
at amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the
effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset. For credit impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss
allowance) of the asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
rights to receive payment are established.

(i) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as
a result of services rendered by employees up to
the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a
percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The
retirement benefit scheme cost charged to profit
or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.
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(iii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier
of the dates when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits, and when
the Group recognises restructuring costs and
involves the payment of termination benefits.

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments
to certain directors and employees. Equity-settled
share-based payments are measured at the fair value
(excluding the effect of non-market based vesting
conditions) of the equity instruments at the date of
grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of
the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on
a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on
the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest
and adjusted for the effect of non-market based vesting
conditions.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until such
time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.
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To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and
used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset,
the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation
is determined by applying a capitalisation rate to the
expenditures on that asset. The capitalisation rate is the
weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to
the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding
during the period, other than borrowings made
specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying
asset. Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding
after the related asset is ready for its intended use or
sale is included in the general borrowing pool for
calculation of capitalisation rate on general borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

A government grant is recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to it and that the grant will be
received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match
them with the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.
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Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in
profit or loss because of items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax
losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and an associate, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.
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Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in
profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are
reviewed at each reporting date for indications of
impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is written
down as an expense through the consolidated
statement of profit or loss to its estimated recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets. If this is the case,
recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit ("CGU") to which the asset
belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of value in
use and the fair value less costs of disposal of the
individual asset or the CGU.

AEFER IR T E 0 5 HI R A B Il E =X
BEELERIEZHE  REHNEE
BEXAEREEHRBER 2B KRG
B RRERBERBEPER - HHE
BT L 2 T Ui B 9 P T R
ZEBER  AELBER NEEREA
TR EM 2 E Kk B RN SR -

ELEHBEERABZAERBRASE
BREARBRERNRUONEELEE
RBEZERAEMELEZHBER -

=B A TE 7] 58 Il #0174 N B A AR IR
BEANYVARELEMEEH  BE
18 % B [F) — T 75 W R T U 2 RS AR
Bl URASERZFREELH
HEHHAEERAE e HET
MEEERBFEITHEE -

FERMEBEEZEAERNS RS A
BEESHBERENR - WEEDM
B AERAXERE A B RMON
EHMGFAKRESE - RO ER
BREEET MRIFZEELEESL
RO BINEMEEREEMR 2
BeERA - EREBERT  JREISHE
REEMBZReELEN ([REE
EBEUDEE - AKRESERERNE
ExRcELBEUZEREEREAR
REREEXREAZESE -

TEER 81 @BMBERRR | ZEBEZZFFH



For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZ T -~ F+ A=+ —HIFE

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future
cash flows of the asset/CGU. Present values are
computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset/
CGU whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for CGUs are allocated first against
the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata amongst the
other assets of the CGU. Subsequent increases in the
recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates are
credited to profit or loss to the extent that they reverse
the impairment.

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on other
receivables. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition of other receivables.

The Group recognises lifetime ECL for the financial
instruments when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the
credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events on a financial instrument
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date.

CHINA CASTSON 81 FINANCE COMPANY LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2022

EREBEAEE, ReEERA 2
HARBLREZTE - BARKE
WEBEEERLAE, RS
Rr (5F BB ERIE) BB 2 BiATB
REHE -

ReELBUZREBRAELEIEE
ZEBzEE  BRUMOSEZERS
EEBEMNHMEE - AfhsHES
Bz A&l @ ERIE NSt AR
7 EEREREIE -

7 o B 5 EL A S HOB 2 TS B
FRERGERE - EHEEHE
SENEEREAMTUES UK
IR 3 A48 B A MR OB DA SR
Ak 2 -

REBMTAME - W8 VA FERBAR
EERREBRE LT AIAREERER
2HIEMEEER - AN WEMH
BRARERTAZ EEERIL &R
ZLT AAEERZERTAZE
BREMIEz2eBERT —@EARS
EEBBRSEES -

2HBEREEERERERTAREY
S NEE AR EZBOEMHM
BYzBEHEEBE - Bk T2@
ABBEEERIESR T ARES
RERERMET —EARARREELEZ
ENFEHMER 2B 2HMBEHEER
B8 o



Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information
considered includes the future prospects of the
industries in which the Group’s debtors operate,
obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and
other similar organisations, as well as consideration of
various external sources of actual and forecast economic
information that relate to the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

- significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk for a particular financial
instrument;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;
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Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

- significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor;

- an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if:

(i)  the financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(i) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term,
and

(iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
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Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit
risk when the asset has external credit rating of
“investment grade” in accordance with the globally
understood definition or if an external rating is not
available, the asset has an internal rating of
“performing”. Performing means that the counterparty
has a strong financial position and there are no past
due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default
The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria are
generally not recoverable.

- when there is a breach of financial covenants by
the counterparty; or

- information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

- the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
counterparty a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

- it is becoming probable that the counterparty will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or

- the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, including when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised
in profit or loss.
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Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information as described above. As for
the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is
represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the
reporting date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the original effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL
in the previous reporting period, but determines at the
current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime
ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss
allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the
current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZ T -~ F+ A=+ —HIFE

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of
one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of
the reporting period or those that indicate the going
concern assumption is not appropriate are adjusting
events and are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements. Events after the reporting period that are
not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements when material.
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In applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors are required to make
judgements (other than those involving estimations) that
have a significant impact on the amounts recognised and to
make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Property, plant and equipment and

depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives,
residual values and related depreciation charges for the
Group's property, plant and equipment. This estimate is
based on the historical experience of the actual useful
lives and residual values of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. The Group
will revise the depreciation charge where useful lives
and residual values are different to those previously
estimated, or it will write-off or write-down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment as
at 31 December 2022 was approximately HK$8,838,000
(2021: HK$9,434,000).

FEER M a4 Pl VAR B & 5T BUR K -
EXAFHYERATCHEAERZTENH
B OF RAEETHRRIN) - U HEEMEER
ARE © B AE A EMRR - EMIORT
BHBEHNEE - B MERRRIER
EEEBRMEBEIARBENEER - BE
RER A REEE LRI TR -

FSEBRSHFAMEARNRR - GaHEETONE
RIMREZEGFTRETOEE - RER
ARSI HIRER  RETRAKEE
EHIMARKEIE - AIZEERT /O B R AR 2K
HiFR MR

RMER - FRARAKRREMRFS R
ZAETAER 2 T 2HR - AHEHT
—VBRFEZEERABZREAELIRE
RHBBRENE R 2 EBRZIHMAT

(@ ME -BERRBURFE

AEERAEEZYE - BEE&E
BEGAAERFEY  FREENAR
MHEFERS - %A IRERES
RIWEROZYME BERREBZE
BRAERFHERREEMTZBE
REMAIEL - & AR F 8RR R E
BEREGAETRE  AEESY
FERASETAR  HERBE K
1 368 B 3 3F 2R B 2 2 i S SO IMOR

R-ZZE-_—_F+-_A=+—8 %
8B K 5% 2 BRI {E 4) 48,838,000/8
TT(ZEZ—4 : 9,434,000 7T) ©

FEER 81 @MABAMRAR | ZEBZZFFHK



For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZ T -~ F+ A=+ —HIFE

(b) Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at costs less
accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. In
determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group
has to exercise judgment and make estimation,
particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has
occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset
value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of
value in use, the net present value of future cash flows
which are estimated based upon the continued use of
the asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to
be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts
including cash flow projections and an appropriate
discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which
the assets belongs. Changing the assumptions and
estimates, including the discount rates or the growth
rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect
the recoverable amounts.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment as
at 31 December 2022 was approximately HK$8,838,000
(2021: HK$9,434,000).

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, equity price risk, credit risk, liquidity
risk and interest rate risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks, if any, are set out below. The management of the
Group manages and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on the Group’s financial
performance a timely and effective manners.
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The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in the functional
currencies of the Group entities. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in
respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and
liabilities. The Group monitors its foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The Group is primarily exposed to equity price risk
through its investment in listed equity securities, if any.
The management manages this exposure by maintaining
a portfolio of investments with different risk and return
profiles. The Group’s equity price risk is mainly
concentrated on equity securities quoted on the Stock
Exchange.

The sensitivity analysis below was determined based on
the exposure to equity price risk at the end of the
reporting period.

As at 31 December 2022, if the prices of the respective
listed equity had been 10% (2021: 10%) higher/lower,
loss after tax for the year ended 31 December 2022 would
decrease/increase by approximately HK$4,855,000 (2021:
HK$4,284,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of
listed equity securities.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZ T -~ F+ A=+ —HIFE

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet
its obligations under a financial instrument or customer
contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is
exposed to credit risk from its operating activities and
from its financing activities, including equity instruments
and deposits with banks and financial institutions,
foreign exchange transactions and other financial
instruments.

Financial assets at amortised cost

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the financial assets
at amortised cost include bank balances, other
receivables and deposits.

Bank balances

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from bank
balances is limited because the counterparties are banks
and financial institutions with high credit-rating
assigned by international credit-rating agencies, for
which the Group considers to have low credit risk. For
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
Group performed impairment assessment on bank
balances at 12-month ECL by reference to information
published by external credit rating agencies relating to
average loss rates of respective credit rating grades and
concluded the ECL on these balances are insignificant.
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Financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)
Other receivables and deposits

Other receivables and deposits are considered to be low
credit risk when they have a low risk of default and the
issuer have a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term. For the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group
assessed the ECL for other receivables are insignificant
and thus no loss allowance is recognised.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds
which are deposited with several banks, the Group does
not have any other significant concentration of credit
risk.

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will
encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associate
with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivery of
cash or other financial assets. During the period of
COVID-19 pandemic, liquidity risks become the typical
major concern. The directors have established an
appropriate liquidity risk management framework to
meet the Group’s funding and liquidity management
requirements.

The Group regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

RBERLITEZEREE (B)
BEMERZEARZEE
H A FE SR IE R iR @ 10 B Y RS (R A
BT ANEBRETRBAGHRESR
BEETZAKNENNBERL T SHETE
REEEREERR BHEZT=-—
—E—F+ZHA=+—HLF
B AEEFEEMEBGRIBE T
BB WA W EBERE R -

BERRBEBRITZRBDESARE
BREGEEERRESR ZIBERN -
AEEYEEAEBEERRES 2

(EPA

RBDESER AR REBMBH AR
NREIEMEMEEZ ARG ERE
NEcEaERBEAMBENE
Bk - B2019B M AmEHRZIFHAE
REBE S ERK AR FEERAE -
EZeCHITAERBESRKRER
BER UHEAEEESRRBESR
EEHE -

AEETHERBREHZRDE
THE UERESENRSHE
MERRRERRDESTFE -

TEER 81 @BMBERRR | ZEBEZZFFH



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R M E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B ZE T - F+_A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 6. MERREE (&)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) d "BELRR(E)

The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows of the Group’'s non-derivative financial
liabilities is as follows:

BREASEFRTESRABZEOR
BRREREETZEMBONLT

On demand
or less than
1 year Total
LR —F fast
HK$°000 HK$'000

FTER FTHET

As at 31 December 2022 R-B-_-F+-A=+-—
Accruals FEEHRI

Secured bank loan (Note) BEBRITER (L)

As at 31 December 2021 R-B=-—F+=ZA=+—
Accruals FEET X

Secured bank loan (Note) BEFRITER (A 2E)

H

H
4,287 4,287
1,651 1,651

Note: Secured bank loan with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the ‘on demand or less than 1 year’ time
band in the above maturity analysis. Taking into account
the Group’s financial position, the directors do not
believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise
their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The directors believe that such secured bank
loan will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(d)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The maturity analysis of secured bank loan subject to a
repayment on demand clause based on scheduled
repayments is as follows:

6. MBERERE (&)

(d)

Less than
1 year
DR—F
HK$'000

FTHET

REBESREKE (&)
BEBTERRERRAETREEX
BRERZBEERBITERETZE
HBESHHIT

Between
2 and

5 years
MEZELF
HK$’000
FExT

Between
1 and
PACETS
—EWMF
HK$'000
Fi#x

Total
st
HK$'000
Fi# T

As at 31 December 2022 =Sl - -
+=H=+—H
Secured bank loan BEIMETER
As at 31 December 2021 N—EB-—%F
+=H=+—H
Secured bank loan HEMIBITER 557 557 604 1,718
Interest rate risk (e) FER M

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk primarily relates
to the above variable-rate bank loan. It is the Group’s
policy to maintain its borrowing at commercial loan
rates, which include a floating rate of interest within
reasonable range so as to minimise the fair value
interest rate risk. The Group currently does not have an
interest rate hedging policy. However, management
monitors interest rate exposure closely and will consider
other necessary actions when significant interest rate
exposure is anticipated.

The effect of changes in interest rates is not expected
to be significant to the consolidated financial
statements. The Group has no other significant
interest-bearing assets and liabilities except for bank
deposits and secured bank loan, the Group’s income
and operating cash flows are substantially independent
of changes in market interest rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE L - —F+-_A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 6. HMKERER (&)
(f) Categories of financial instruments as at 31 ) MN=ZB==—F+=-H=+—H
December 2022 2T BEER
2022 2021
=F== —EZ—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT
Financial assets: ERMEE:
Financial assets at FVTPL: BAREFABREZEMEE:

Mandatorily measured at FVTPL BHEIIEAREFTAER 42,839
Financial assets measured at amortised cost KA E S REE 36,150
Financial liabilities: cmMaE:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost HEHENATEZSREE 5,938

(g) Fair values
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets

and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximated their
respective fair values.

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The following
disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair value
hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs to
valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the
Group can access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers
out of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or
change in circumstances that caused the transfer.
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7.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy as at 31

E’\‘\: =
December 2022: ZAR
Fair value measurements using:
ERARERE: by
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2022
F1R H2R 38 —®2-C
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Flx Tix Thx THL
Description it
Recurring fair value measurements: BEMDMEHE:
Financial assets SHEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BARET A BRZEREE
- Listed equity securities - FRAES 48,549 48,549
Fair value measurements using: Total
RAAREHE: &%
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2021
E1 EVi 3 %
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT FHL T TR
Description ik
Recurring fair value measurements: ~ EH#EQREHE:
Financial assets SHEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BAREABRRZEREE
- Listed equity securities - FRAES 42,839 - - 42,839
During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,  E TN _FTE-_—%F+_-H

there were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
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ARE B S R R MR
For the year ended 31 December 2022 B ZE T - F+_A=+—HILFE

8. GROSS PROCEEDS FROM OPERATIONS

8. EEMBRERE

2022 2021
—E—-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FAT

Gross proceeds from disposal of EERAABEFABREZ
financial assets at FVTPL %nﬂﬁ%ZFﬁ BRiaRE

Dividend income from financial BARBEFABEZEMEEZ
assets at FVTPL iz B A

Interest income from debt RARBEFAERMEEREZ
instrument at FVTOCI BEHETAEZMERA

9. OTHER INCOME

9.

H A WA

31,403 136,795
493 472

13

137,280

2022 2021

=t = —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FAET

Government grants received (Note) W B IR T A B (A AE)

Bank interest income RITH B A

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
recognised government grants of approximately HK$312,000
(2021: HK$Nil) related to Employment Support Scheme
provided by the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
Government (“2022 Employment Support Scheme). The Group
has complied all attached conditions under the 2022
Employment Support Scheme before 31 December 2022.
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10. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 10. Htt B R EE

2022 2021
—¥—__ —F-—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Exchange gain [ 5 5 28
Gain on disposal of property, HEME  MEREEH W
plant and equipment 8,935
Derecognition of debt instrument RIEFERR AR ERA
at FVTOCI Hitz2mkaszEHIA (25)
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary HE-HETARIZER -
8,938
11. SEGMENT INFORMATION 1. 7 EEF
The Group’s principal activity is investment in equity and debt AREBZEBEBRITHARERNKAKLE
instruments. For the purpose of resources allocation and BIER RERSELAFERIRMS @ B
assessment of performance, the management regularly EBiAAEETHERALNEERNER &
reviews and manages the Group’s investments on a portfolio EoFHREEBREZENEEZERIEE
basis. Information is regularly provided to the management FARBEEHRZ AR BEREEWRA - Bt
and mainly includes fair value of respective investees and the BUABREEBREAEWRETHEEN  WES
related investment income. Therefore, no segment 5D EBE R o
information is presented other than entity-wide disclosures.
The Group's revenue is generated from operations in Hong AEBZWRZFREEBEZEE AEEZ
Kong. The Group’s non-current assets (excluding financial ERBEE (BAREFAEG EREE

assets at FVTPL) are located in Hong Kong. BN BRI N B -
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13.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £ — T - F +-_A=+—HIFE

FINANCE COSTS

12. &K A

2022 2021
—E-= =

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAT

FTiER

BHEMRT

Interest on secured bank loan

INCOME TAX EXPENSE
The Group is not subject to any taxation under the
jurisdiction of the Bermuda during the year (2021: Nil).

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax and People’s Republic
of China (“PRC") Enterprise Income Tax was required since
the Group had no estimated assessable profit for the year
(2021: Nil).

Under the two-tiered Profits Tax regime, Profits Tax rate for
the first HK$2 million of assessable profits of the qualifying
Group entity established in Hong Kong will be taxed at
8.25% (2021: 8.25%), and profits above that amount will be
subject to the tax rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%). The profits
of the Group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered Profit
Tax rate regime will continue to be taxed at a rate of 16.5%
(2021: 16.5%).

PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been provided at a rate of
25% (2021: 25%).

CHINA CASTSON 81 FINANGE COMPANY LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2022

13. FABHEX

AREERFERBAEBMERERDEIERZ
EARB(ZF=—F &) -

HAAEEY EFEGAERRBEN (ZF
_—i'ﬁf) WHBATE B NS %R&EPEE
HAE (TR E ) DEMEHA R -

BEFSHERBS  REBKRILZEER
% [E F 82 12,000,000/ 7T & 8 % K 2
MEBMHEERE A825% BHLEMEEY
A IR R16.5%%F (Z T = —F ¢
16.5%) c THAEFEHMBEH 2 EEMEE
2R B IR R E16.5% %R (Z T = —
F:165%) °

FEGEREBEBE255% (Z T —
F 0 25%) 5B -



13.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 13.
The reconciliation between income tax expense and product

of loss before tax multiplied by the applicable tax rates is as
follows:

Fﬁ SHA X (E)
SHAYERHAIGERERAMRE &

Zﬁf,ﬂEﬁDT-

2022 2021
—F-- —EB_—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Loss before tax bR B AT ES 18 (9,579)
Tax at the Hong Kong Profits REBIEHHE16.5%
Tax rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) (ZZFZ—%F :16.5%)
STE2BIE (1,581)
Tax effect of income that is not taxable BARBIMA 2B & (1,557)
Tax effect of expenses that are TR MBRE BB EE
not deductible 279
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses AL AEREEER Y
not previously recognised Mz e (1,321)
Tax effect of share of results of an associate % — RI5E & 2 Tﬁﬁzmi‘“ &5 4
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERHBEEBREZRETE 2,646
Other HAh 1,530
Income tax expense FriS®if X -

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$500,632,000 (2021:
HK$472,485,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax assets have been recognised due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The estimated tax
losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of approximately HK$5,163,000 (2021:
HK$5,492,000). No deferred tax asset was recognized as it
was not probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences
can be utilised.

REEHR AEEEARDARES
500,632,000 L (ZE = — & :
472,485,000/ 7T ) A] AR 88 R 2K & F o
F A A TEDRI SR 2R g I 2RORR - B w3 4
RIBEERIE & E o (5T I8 E5 18 ] & R A7
4 El o

RMEBRR AEEBAI MBI G R E5E
5,163,000/8 7T (ZZF =~ —4 : 5,492,000
JL) ° BT AL B S0 FE BRI g HK 8H
ATER A MM R ERE - Al
WRELERIEEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B ZE T - F+_A=+—HILFE

14. LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF 14, ZATEEAE(LEEEE
THE COMPANY

The Group's loss for the year attributable to owners of the RARHEA ANEIEASEFEEBED MK
Company is stated after charging the following: T%|EE :
2022 2021
—B-f —E-—fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Auditor’ remuneration ZERD B & 400
Depreciation e 848
Donation B® 45
Brokerage commission expenses (Note) B meRx (K1) 319
Investment management fees (Note) LEEEE (Mit) 505
Custody services fees (Note) AERBE(HiT) 52
Note: They were de minimis continuing connected transactions of Mt LIEAREWRBEMATIMETHFA K
the Company under Rule 14A.73(1) of the Listing Rules. REEKFEZRDNBIFERESS -
15. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 15. EERABAX
2022 2021
—BZ-=f —E-—fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Salaries, bonuses and allowances b A AW 1:k] 11,469
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3R K#& 7 5 &1 4 5% 296
11,765

CHINA CASTSON 81 FINANCE COMPANY LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2022



15. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 15.

(a)

Five highest paid individuals
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during

the year included two (2021: two) directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in
note 16. The emoluments of the remaining three (2021:
three) individuals are set out below:

& &= A < ()

(@) BABREHFAL
FRARBRAAREHA LT ERA
REF(CT-—F MB)  BEZ
B RO MY SE 1657 2 51 2 547 R Bt =
BT=Z&AL(ZT=—F:=£)2
BRI mT -

2022 2021
—E—-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FiEx FAT

Salaries, bonuses and allowances e~ TEAL MR RE
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3Rk i@ 5 2 4 2%

7,009

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

e BRATEHR :

Number of individuals

AEBL
2021
—E -4
HK$Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 =% 7T 21,000,000/ 7T 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 75 £2,500,0007 7T 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7T £4,000,00078 7T 1
3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

H
,%/T\A

B 7% ¥k & MY A
For the year ended 31 December 2022 B ZE T - F+_A=+—HILFE

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the

disclosed

Companies Ordinance is set out below:

16. EEBARF =
() EBRTHEIME
RBER EmRAIRABEOI#E 2
BE_Z-_—_gRk-_ZF-_—F+-H1
=t+—BIEFEZES RITBAEMH
ST -

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

BRRRELRREANELTRM 2 ESRACNDBUME

Employer's contribution
Salaries, and to a retirement benefit
Fees allowances scheme Total
fg HeREs BINENHE 2 BEGR )
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
CECCF ekl —TCCF bl 2 —F Iablabuidl 25 abdaiid
FICS 0100 511 ST0[ ™ FIKS 00 0 (€ 01T IS HIKS 000 ST € S [0 R HIKCS 000 ST € 1)
il TAT R TR Rl TEn Ti#n TEL
Chairman and IRREUTES
Non-executive director
Lam Man Chan 3¢
Executive Director #iTEs
Lee Kwok Leung g
Independent BIFHTES
Non-executive directors
Ng Chi Yeung, Simon g+
Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy il
Florence Ng S2E
Chief Executive Officer THAS
Yeung Cheuk Kwong =1=3 3,716 SN

2,188 2,188 4289
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16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments

(Continued)
No emoluments were paid by the Group to the chief

executive officer or any of the directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office (2021: Nil).

Neither the chief executive officer nor any of the
directors waived any emoluments during the year (2021:
Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits
None of the directors of the Company received any

termination benefits during the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the

Company did not pay considerations to any third parties
for making available directors’ services (2021: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, bodies corporate
controlled by and entities connected with such

directors
As at 31 December 2022, there are no loans,

quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of the directors,
their controlled bodies corporate and the directors’
connected entities (2021: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements and contracts
Save as disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated

financial statements, no other significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts to which the Company was
a party and in which a director of the Company and the
director’s connected party had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year (2021: Nil).

6. EER|A R A= ()

(a)

EERITHRARME (&)

AEEBERTREARSITANESS
NERME  (EAFEMNARERK
RIMAREE & 2 REN S e AR
B(ZZ=Z—F :f8) o

FAMETRAH TN ESMEST
e (ZE=—F : 8)

EENHRERF
HE-_ZT-_—_F+-A=+—HLF
B ARAESHEWIEMRERE
M(ZE=—F®|) -

ARHESHREMEAE=SIR
HOEHE

BE_Z-__F+_A=+—RHLF
B ARARWERREEFRRE AT
ME=AZNHE(ZT—F &) -

EEUNES - ZESEHNZE
AERBNELEEEEENE
RAEAZRZANER EERM
HttRXZHWER
R-_ZE-_—_F#+-_A=+—H8 =
=HEGINEABBME S/
BRI FEAMNEN BUERSH
MWRH(ZT=Z—F : &) o

EERREZRERENPZE
A

BEERRG  THREHNFZERF
EREEMBRRW A EEE
Gh - WEBETEMBEARS ©HE R
BRTARRNBABEFR ZETHT AR
NABEEREEFHETRETEEL
FEEE RN FRAFATAEETE
ZERM@Zm(ZEZ_—F: &)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZ T -~ F+ A=+ —HIFE

No dividend was paid, declared or proposed by the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil), nor
has any dividend been proposed since the end of the
reporting period.

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the loss
for the year attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$27,991,000 (2021: HK$9,579,000) and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
141,423,187 (2021: 126,241,050) in issue during the year.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the potential
ordinary shares that may arise from the outstanding share
options issued have not been included in the calculation of
diluted loss per share because they are anti-dilutive. Diluted
loss per share was the same as the basic loss per share for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

The computation of diluted loss per share did not assume the
exercise of the Company’s outstanding share options as the
exercise price of those share options was higher than the
average market price for shares for the year ended 31
December 2021. Diluted loss per share was the same as the
basic loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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RARIRBE-ZTE-__F+=-RA=+—H
LHFETHERMS  ERIBZRARE (=
TZ—F &) TETAREEZENRE
HARBIRSS ©

BREABEBNZARRAER ABIEF
fE B 18 927,991,000 T (T = — 4
9,579,000/% jT) & & i A% o0 4 15
141,423,187 R (ZE=——F : FRETZ
126,241,0500%) 5T & -

HE-_E-_—#+-_A=+—BHLEE -
EETHRITEERENEEENEBTYE
AREAAEREEERAMKRSAGRES
BEMNGEY SREEFEAEE_T
T CF+ A=+ BLEEHNERER
B AR -

BE_Z-_—_F+-A=+—8H1 #R
RAREARITEBERENTEES RS
WIEHTE W ETREEERBRETE
BERZEHERECEITE -



19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. ¥ -BERRZE

Leasehold Office
land and Leasehold furniture Motor
buildings  improvements and fixtures vehicles Yacht Total
e HE  HOE BR
REF E REE RE i )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T AL TEL TEn TEL AL
Cost BA
Asat 1 January 2021 R-E--%-F-H 13,257 1,676 690 5334 16,640 37,597
Wite off k= - - (94) - - (94)
Disposal HE - - - (282) (16,150) (16,432)
As at 31 December 2021 R-B--%
and 1 January 2022 +ZB=+-Ak
—E-CE-A-R 13,257 1,676 5% 5,052 490 21,01
Additions RE - - 19 - - 19
Wite off gE - - (9) - - 9
As at 31 December 2022 K-B-Zf
+ZA=+-H 13,257 1,676 606 5,052 490 21,081
Accumulated depreciation ZHIERAE
and impairment
Asat 1 January 2021 \-2--f-f-H 3,402 1,676 609 5,016 16,612 27315
Charge for the year FRENR 531 - 35 254 28 848
Wite off i - - (94) - - (94)
Disposal HE - - - (282) (16,150) (16,432)
As at 31 December 2021 RZBZ-F
and 1 January 2022 tZA=t-8k
ZEZ2F-A-H 3933 1,676 550 4,988 490 11,637
Charge for the year EnEMk 530 - ] 64 - 615
Wite off ke - - (9) - - 9
As at 31 December 2022 R-B-ZE
+-B=+-H 4,463 1676 562 5,052 490 12,43
Carrying amount KEE
As at 31 December 2022 W=g-zf
+ZR=1-H 8,794 - 4 - = 8,838
As at 31 December 2021 S
TZR=1-H 9,324 - 46 o4 - 9,434
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the leasehold land and RIE_—_FR_E-_—F+_A=+—
buildings were pledged as security for the Group’s bank loan. B AEEANEIRITE R Z ER MK T

HELHRET -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FREMBHRERME
For the year ended 31 December 2022 B ZE T - F+_A=+—HILFE

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

20.

BAREFNAERRZEMEE

2022 2021
=A== —E-
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET

Equity securities listed in Hong Kong, BEELETRAES
at fair value BEAREAE

Analysed as: Pak =

Current assets MEEE

Non-current assets EMEEE

48,549 42,839

36,775 18,631
11,774 24,208

48,549 42,839

Fair values of equity securities listed in Hong Kong are
primarily based on quoted market prices.

As at 31 December 2022, an amount of approximately
HK$11,774,000 (2021: HK$24,208,000) was classified as
non-current assets as the management of the Group
expected that such amount might not be realised within
twelve months after the reporting period.
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W-ZE-—F+-A=+—0 DEAIERE
FEEZ ST A11,774,0008 T (2T = —
% 124,208,000 L) RARAEEEE
EBREZESHEBET TN RERE =
MARNEIR -



PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD BY 21, ZEBREEZ2TERECZER
THE GROUP

Particulars of top ten investments held by the Group as at 31 NREBR _E-_—_FKr_FET-_—F+_4
December 2022 and 2021 disclosed pursuant to the Listing =+ —BEAEZTAKREZERIIRE
Rule 21.12(1) are as follows: MARBE21120)EFEDT -

2022 —ZEFz-—

Percentage of
investment
attributable

Net assets Fair value to the

Nature of Interest attributable Invested (losses)/ Carrying Dividend Dividend  Group's total

Name of investment business held to the Group amount gains amount received cover assets
: : FERGHE

‘ FREs  AEREL e BlRR2
RERH EHME Balt EEFE REE (BR)/ Wl KEE chkE  RShkE ARt

(%) HKSO00  HKS000  HKSOOO  HKSOO0  HKS000 (%) )
TiEx TEx TER TEx TiEx

Financial assets at FVTPL
BLN G EalEEE
Listed equig investments
LHRER

Grown Up Group Investment Holdings Limited ~ Note a : 6,831 6,877 3,689 10,566

("Grown Up Group")
E2EERAZKARAA(E2EE)) fida

China Oriented International Holdings Limited ~ Note b 24,164 12,700 (3,166) 9,534
("China Oriented”) .

ARERERERAR ([RH]) Hih

KNT Holdings Limited ("KNT") Note ¢ 1,335 5,021 (317) 4,644

FERRAERLA([2E)) M

Hong Kong Exchange and Clearing Limited Note d 315 2,945 (247) 2,698
("HKEX")

EERAREEMBRAA(HRH)) Had

China Bright Cutture Group ("Bright Culture”)  Notee 0.6688 4,338 (1,663) 2,675

RELER(EEL) Wi

PT International Development Corporation Note f 0.7483 2,936 (293) 2,643
Limited ("PT International")

FEERRRCXARL ((REER) it

Golden Century International Holdings Group ~ Note g 4,896 (2,432) 2,464
Limited ("Golden Century") .
SEAREREBERAA(2E) Hitg
Shuang Yun Holdin?s Limited ("Shuang Yun") ~ Note h d 4,456 (2,052) 2,404
SERRERLT([2E)) Hih
Tencent Holdings Limited (“Tencent") Note i 5,285 (2,947) 2,338
EABRRARA (TEA)) i
ID.comInc. ("D.com”) Note j 3321 (1,014) 2,307
RESERGARAR(RESE)) Hitj

52,775 (10,502) LYWAE]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E B R Ak B R

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £ — T - F +-_A=+—HIFE

21. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD BY 21 AEBERBEZETFEREZEH
THE GROUP (CONTINUED) (%)
2021 —E-—F
Percentage of
investment
attributable
Net assets Fair value to the
Nature of attributable Invested (losses)/ Carrying Dividend Dividend  Group's total
Name of investment business  Interest held o the Group amount gains amount received cover assets
TEEELE
\ \ fighs AEEEE 0 0k AEREZ
REAR g AR AERE REE (BR)/ & FEE  chkke  RERE BAl
(%) HKS$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 (%) (%)
AL AL AL AL AL
Financial assefs at FYTPL
FLR BT Enl s BEE
Listed equity investments
LaR*ARE
China Oriented Note b 10.50 27,307 12,700 (1,990) 10,710 - N/A 11.97
e M THEE
Miji International Holdings Limited 297 5,646 18,040 (8,695) 9,345 - N/A 10.45
ARERERERAE MER
Tencent Note i 0.0001 1,1 7,550 (2,982 4,568 16 8.60 5.1
B W
Huasheng International Holdings Limited 0.04 392 629 2,362 2,991 14 433 334
ERERERERAA
JD.com Note j 0.0003 963 3,187 (447) 2,740 - N/A 3.06
RE&E W MER
HKEX Note d 0.0004 395 2,520 (243) 2,271 46 2.10 2.55
BRA Had
China Life Insurance Company Limited 0.0004 2,468 2,242 (692) 1,550 91 277 1.73
HEASRBROERDE
China Mobile Limited 0.0001 2,103 1,722 (318) 1,404 101 3.79 1.57
HEBHERAA
Alibaba Group Holding Limited 0.00005 615 2,560 (1,371) 1,189 - N/A 133
MEEEEEERERAF PER
Xiaomi Corporation 0.0002 397 1877 (743) 1,134 - N/A 121
PREE MER

53,027 (15,119) 37,908 268
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A brief description of the business and financial information
of the investee companies, based on their published annual
and interim reports, results announcements and management
accounts, is as follows:

Grown Up Group was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1842.HK). Grown Up
and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in designing,
developing, manufacturing and selling full range of bag,
luggage and accessories, as well as medical related
products, tool storage and tool accessories. For the six
months ended 30 June 2022, the unaudited
consolidated loss attributable to owners of Grown Up
Group was approximately HK$4.9 million and its
unaudited consolidated equity attributable to owners of
Grown Up Group was approximately HK$98.6 million.

China Oriented was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and its shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1871.HK). China Oriented and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of
driving training services in the PRC. For the six months
ended 30 June 2022, the unaudited consolidated profit
attributable to the owners of China Oriented was
approximately Renminbi (“"RMB"”) 59,000 and its
unaudited consolidated equity attributable to the
owners of China Oriented was approximately RMB206.7
million.

EREHRARZEBRYBEN (RIFHE
ETEFREDHERS FELERNER
fRB)BAmT

BESEENFAESHESEMKL  H
BRAD PR B X FT E AR =TT (B3 R 5%
1842 HK) - MEEE R EMBE AT E
BEB AR FE RERHEESR
Ry B RT3 M A R EERE
Em TEAFEFELIARG -BE=
T FRNA=ZTHIEREA - EE
SEHEBABGREEZEREERY
734,900,000/ 7T - BELETEE ALE
HREEZ I E = A /98,600,000
BT °

MARFAESESEMKL  EROR
Bt AZFr MR £ (AR 5% - 1871,
HK) e mA REMB AR EZNHE
HEREEREIRB HEZT
T EXRNA=THIEANEAR M
BEABEREEZEGESHENHNAAR
(T AR#])59,0007T » AF#EER A
ERAKCERGERERNRBARE
206,700,0007T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZ T -~ F+ A=+ —HIFE

KNT was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1025.HK). KNT and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the
manufacturing and trading of garment products and
accessories. For the six months ended 30 September
2022, the unaudited consolidated loss attributable to
owners of KNT was approximately HK$18.1 million and
its unaudited consolidated equity attributable to owners
of KNT was approximately HK$85.5 million.

HKEX was incorporated in Hong Kong and its shares are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 0388.HK). The principal activities of HKEX and its
subsidiaries are own and operate the only stock
exchange and futures exchange in Hong Kong and their
related clearing houses. For the year ended 31
December 2022, the audited consolidated profit
attributable to the shareholders of HKEX was
approximately HK$10,078 million and its audited
consolidated equity attributable to the shareholders of
HKEX was approximately HK$49,728 million.

Bright Culture was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and its shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1859.HK). The principal activities
of Bright Culture and its subsidiaries are in the video
content operation and eCommerce promotion services.
For the six months ended 30 June 2022, the unaudited
consolidated profit attributable to equity shareholders
of Bright Culture was approximately RMB20.9 million
and its unaudited consolidated equity attributable to
the equity shareholders of Bright Culture was
approximately RMB1,204.9 million.
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ZERHESEEEMAY EBROHR
Bt A2 ETE MR £ (AR R 9%+ 1025.
HK) « KB REHRB AR E
CEBREREGREHRERE
S HEZT-_—_FNA=+THL
ANER ZEEAABEREERZ
4R A 1847 /518,100,0008 7T © =&
HEANEBLREERGEEROR
85,500,000/%8 T °

BRENBEBFEMAL HBROGR
Bt 2 T E MR £ (AR 2 1R 9% - 0388.
HK) - BRI REMBAR 2 ZE %
BREBIKLEEBE ——RKE
REER G R HBEEEERT - T
ERCE " REEBINTEERA
ANEEFR BE-_FE-_—F+=-A
=T —HIEFE  BRAKRREGE
%*Z,ZT & 3% #1149 410,078,000,000%

CARRREEREZESER
i’w% 49,728,000,0005% 7T °

BEXCRASESTMA T
B0 PR BE R FT E MR LT (Hxﬁﬁvﬁ :
1859.HK) BB X (L R E M B QA

ERERPFRNDEEREBHER
Ko BE_ZT-—FXA=1+HIEN
A BRI ERRREGRLE
% 5m ) 49 & AR #20,900,0007T &
B bR R E (AR E R Em
ZH A AR ¥1,204,900,0007T °



PT International was incorporated in Bermuda and its
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 0372.HK). The principal activities
of PT International and its subsidiaries are engaged in in
a variety of business activities, including trading of
commodities, petrochemical storage business, metal
recycling, port and port-related services, provision of
management services, financial institute business and
loan financing services. For the six months ended 30
September 2022, the unaudited consolidated loss
attributable to the owners of PT International was
approximately HK$90.3 million and its unaudited
consolidated equity attributable to the owners of PT
International was approximately HK$441.5 million.

Golden Century was incorporated in Hong Kong and its
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 0091.HK). Golden Century and
its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the coalbed
methane gas exploration and exploitation, sale of
electronic components, financial business, wealth
management, comprehensive healthcare and proprietary
investment. For the six months ended 30 June 2022,
the unaudited consolidated loss attributable to owners
of Golden Century was approximately HK$45.9 million
and its unaudited consolidated capital deficiency
attributable to owners of Golden Century was
approximately HK$6.9 million.

REBEBERBREFMARL - EBRH
B RZ BT AR £ (AR 5%  0372.
HK) - RIZEBE RENE AR 2R
EXERHEEY BEEEMRES A
MEIRERES BARBOEEA
7% eREEEBERERRER
BeoBEZETE_FAA=THIEA
BA  REEBEQAFRFEGERLEE
%R A 18 4 590,300,00078 7T © 1R
EEBEARRREGREEZGEE
%5 4 5441,500,00078 7T °

SEREBFMAL  ERORBER
FrE=tr £ (AR A5E - 0091, HK) o
CENENBAREZZERAKER
BDREEFAR BFEHHE 2@
% HEEE BEARELRBZER
E-BE-T-_—FXA=ZtHLRN
BA  2BRQFIRFEGERLEEZE
4 E518 49 £45,900,0008 7T © £
RNAIRRIEEREEZERNEALD
/46,900,000 7T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZ T -~ F+ A=+ —HIFE

Shuang Yun was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and its shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1706.HK). Shuang Yun is a
Singapore based contractor engaged in road works
services and construction ancillary services. For the six
months ended 30 June 2022, the unaudited
consolidated profit attributable to owners of Shuang
Yun was approximately Singapore dollars 1.5 million
and its unaudited consolidated equity attributable to
owners of Shuang Yun was approximately Singapore
dollars 58.6 million.

Tencent was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 0700.HK). Tencent and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of
value-added services, online advertising and fintech and
business services. For the year ended 31 December
2022, the audited consolidated profit attributable to
equity holders of Tencent was approximately RMB188.2
billion and its audited consolidated total shareholders’
of Tencent was approximately RMB782.9 billion.

JD.com was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 9618.HK). JD.com is a leading
technology-driven e-commerce company transforming to
become a leading supply chain-based technology and
service provider. For the year ended 31 December 2022,
the unaudited net income attributable to ordinary
shareholders of JD.com was approximately RMB10.4
billion and its unaudited consolidated total shareholders’
equity of JD.com was approximately RMB273.5 billion.
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EENHSHES MK ERYD

Mﬁ%iﬁim(h@ﬁﬂ-ww.
HK) o &38 R E M BH IRt A8
BIRREETEREIERERESE
EERE #HE-_ZTE-__F A=+
HIEAEA  SEREREABRGER
ICEIZER S5 A% 51,500,000 hnik
T BERBRAEABGREEZS
A 1235 41/558,600,000%7 A3 7T -

BARHESESEMAK - ERHR
B AZ P £k £ (B9 5% : 0700.
HK) - BBl EWB AR X2/ ER
HIZERY  BERESURSRER
POERE -BE_ZT-_—_F+=
A=+—HLLEE BakERH
ANEEEERZRABNNABARE
188,200,000,0007T * AR HEE G
ANELEEZGERRERRENR
AR % 782,900,000,0007T °

FREERAESHES MK
kﬁm%xﬁfﬁimu&ﬁﬁﬂ-
9618.HK) - R & H i — R E L
HEMESER AR - WIEEE AEL
B DA e G A BT 2 BT iR A O
¥ o HEZZT-_F+ZA="+—
BEFE REEEZTEKRKRERE
HAEEZ BN FEORARE
10,400,000,000 7t R HEE 7 K
MEZGERRABERBENAARE
273,500,000,0007C °



22. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 22. R—HEBE N T oS

2022 2021

—¥—__ —EB_—F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FExT FET

Unlisted investment, at cost (Note a) FELTIRE - R (B ita) 9,000
Share of post-acquisition losses and AMEREEEEREMEE

other comprehensive income, Was - HIBR 2 W S

net of dividends received (4,530)

Impairment loss (Note b) B EE (M Eb) (4,470)

Notes: iz -

(@)  The amount represented acquisition cost of 30% shareholding (@ WAKRENBEERAR([BE]) 230%
in Superb Kingdom Limited (“SKL") including a goodwill of g - WK A B ER T — NFWRER
HK$4,613,000 arising from acquisition in Year 2016. E e 2 2 E(E4,613,000/ 7T ©

(b)  The amount represented the impairment loss recognised in (by ABABEFEERBEZRAKRERNBEEE
prior years for the equity share investments in SKL. R ZBERBRE -

Details of the Group’s associate as at 31 December 2022 and RZE_—FR-_E-_—F+-_A=+—
2021 was as follows: H AEBBEATZFREAT :
Place of incorporation Percentage of ownership
and principal place of interest/voting
Name business Issued and paid up capital power/profit sharing Principal activities
RE R AR L B IEmEREER KRR/ ER
1 FEEENE ERTRARRA PERZESL TEER
2022 2021
e —Z_—-fF
SKL Hong Kong 100 Ordinary shares 30% 30%  Sale of LED lighting
BE A% 1008 & AR products
SHELEDRAER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B ZE T - F+_A=+—HILFE

23. OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND 23. HittE W 1E - AAREREZESE
DEPOSITS
2022 2021
—g=-—fF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Other receivables and deposits E b NG R IR S 877
Prepayments T 5K E 1,044
1,921
24. BANK AND CASH BALANCES 24. |RITRBEEER
Bank and cash balances of the Group comprised bank NEBZHRTLRRSESRBERNERRE
balances, cash and short-term bank deposits with an original ZHRITES R RRIBHAR=EANK
maturity of three months or less held by the Group. T2 BHERITER
The bank and cash balances were denominated in the RITRRSEBRUT I EEGE
following currencies:
2022 2021
—F=-= —EZ—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TET FET
HK$ BT 29,788
RMB AR 169
United States dollar (“US$") e 5,102
Others Hib 214
35,273
The conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to i AR H A HNEE B e B O E B IR
the PRC’'s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and GBIy M(EETE  SEERNESIERE)R
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign BR o

Exchange Regulations.
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25. SHARE CAPITAL

25. R

Number of Number of Number of
ordinary ordinary ordinary
shares of shares of shares of
HK$0.10 each HK$1 each HK$0.01 each Par value
BREE BREfE BREE
0.10872 1872 0.01872
EERYA EERYA LERHA ffE
‘000 ‘000 ‘000 HK$'000
Th Th Tk Ti#n
Authorised: FE.
As at 1 January 2021 R-ZE--£-f-A 2,000,000 - - 200,000
Share consolidation (Note (1)) ROARWE13) (2,000,000) 200,000 - -
Capital reduction (Note (1b) TAHE (WA - (200,000 200,000 (198,000)
Capital increase (Note (1c) R (A1) - - 19,800,000 198,000
As at 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 and R-B--£+-f=1-R"
31 December 2022 “E--F-f-HER
ZFCCEtZA=1-H - - 20,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRMR:
As at 1 January 2021 R-B--%-f-H 942,822 - - 94,282
Share consolidation (Note (13)) ROAHWE13) (942,822) 94,282 - -
Capital reduction (Note (1b)) RAEIE (Frid(1e) - (94,282) 94,282 (93,339)
Issuance of shares upon Rights Issue (Note (2)) "RERIRG (WH0) - - 47141 47
As at 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 and R-E--E+-f=1-H-
31 December 2022 “ER-CE-F-HR
S i = - - 141,423 1414
Notes: H1aE -
1. Pursuant to a special resolution of the Company passed on 15 1. BEARARATIR-_ZE-_—F=A+HAHAB

March 2021, a capital reorganisation was approved with effect
from 17 March 2021. Details of the capital reorganisation are
set out in the Company’s circular dated 18 February 2021 and
the Company’s announcement dated 15 March 2021. It
comprised the following changes to the capital structure:

ZEIRER  BASHELHE BT
——FZAt+tRER - BAEMEZFE
HERAARBHA-_ZT-_—F—-A+N\H
ZBEHERAANRBHA-_ST-—F=A
THRBZAE - BRAZEABTEATHBEAR
BRiE 2 NE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZ T -~ F+ A=+ —HIFE

Notes: (Continued)

1. (Continued)
(a) Share consolidation
Every ten issued and unissued shares of par value of
HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company were
consolidated into one share of par value of HK$1.00
each.

(b) Capital reduction

The par value of all the then issued and unissued share
capital was reduced from HK$1.00 each to HK$0.01
each by cancelling the paid-up capital of the Company
to the extent of HK$0.99 on each of all the then
consolidated shares. The issued and fully paid capital
was thus reduced by approximately HK$93,339,000
represented by the multiplication of approximately
94,282,000 shares and HK$0.99.

(c) Authorised capital increase
The authorised share capital of the Company was then
increased from HK$2,000,000 divided into 200,000,000
shares of par value of HK$0.01 each to HK$200,000,000
divided into 20,000,000,000 shares of par value of
HK$0.01 each.

2. Issuance of shares upon Rights Issue
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company
implemented the rights issue on the basis of one rights share
for every two existing shares at the subscription price of
HK$0.2 per rights share (the “Rights Issue”). The Company
received net proceeds of approximately HK$8,196,000 from
the Rights Issue and 47,141,062 rights shares were issued.

Regarding capital risk management, the Group’s objectives
are to safeguard the ability to continue as a going concern in
order to provide returns for stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. The
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amounts of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets
to reduce debt.
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25. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors its
capital structure primarily on the basis of the gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as debt divided by total equity. Debt is
calculated as “borrowing” (representing secured bank loan
as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position).
Total capital is calculated as “total equity”, as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The gearing
ratios as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 were as follows:

25. IR (%8)

AEBHEXEAEMARRAZEIZEANELR
BLHREREREARBZTA - X
REBRARERTE - BFDAERE
& (A& A MR mER MR A BRRITE
) e i@£$ﬁﬁ+§7%?$éﬁﬂ%ﬂﬁ5ﬁ$&%ﬁﬁ
R [etEs] R-TF_—_FR-_FT——

¢+_H:+—EZ§$E% BRI

Borrowing R
Total equity Mg
Gearing ratio BEREELL R

2022 2021
—g=-= T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT
1,651

83,529

2.03% 1.98%

The only externally imposed capital requirements for the
Group is to maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange it has
to have a public float of at least 25% of the shares.

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors of the
Company, the 25% threshold of public float should be
complied with the 25% limit throughout the year.

AREEEAE T — BB Z EARNR
E o RRFBREBRM I EWih - AEEA

Z2LES%ANREHRE -

REARFMEZAHRERRBARAE
SHRTA - 25%@%%&52?3%%53@%
EFEESE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B ZE T - F+_A=+—HILFE

26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE  26. " AR Z BB ABEREES
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY )

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company (a) AT ZEBERRBEE
As at 31 December
m+=—H=+—H
2022 2021
—F== —EZ—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
T8 FAET
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment  #% - R R HE 43
Investments in subsidiaries R B AR ZIEE 2,273
Financial assets at FVTPL BARBEFABRZSMEE 13,498
15,814
Current assets mEBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries & Uk fff & A 51 2k 18 326 a4
Financial assets at FVTPL BARBETABRZESRMEE 36,775 18,631
Other receivables, Hoqth g W3R8 -
prepayments and deposits ERFRIERES 816 1,698
Bank and cash balances RITRIREER 1,155 34,172
39,072 54,545
Current liabilities mEBaE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEHH B A B 18 986 723
Accruals JEET R X 3,293 3,968
Total current liabilities mBaEEEE 4,279 4,691
Net current assets MMEEFE 34,793 49,854
Net assets BERE 37,734 65,668
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26.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

(a)

Statement of financial position of the Company
(Continued)

26.

gﬁﬂz,ﬁ\ﬁ%ﬂﬁiﬂiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ@

A
()
rd

DA 2B BRRHRE ()

As at 31 December

wW+=-—A=+—H
2022 2021
—2_- —E-—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

HyiE TEx THETT

Equity =

Equity attributable to RAEHER AEGER
owners of the Company

Share capital fi&% 2

Reserves f##

Total equity RSB

1,414

27 64,254

65,668

Approved by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2023
and signed on its behalf by:

Lam Man Chan

28782

Director

EF

R-oE-_=F=A-++AgE=e
e THTIWEERKREE !

Lee Kwok Leung
TER
Director

EF

FEBE 81 SMERAT | —R--FFH



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B ZE T - F+_A=+—HILFE

26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE  26. " AR Z BB ABEREES
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED) ) (4
(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b)

3
=)

RRFzf#ERE

Share-based
Share Contributed  payments

premium

FVTOCI Accumulated
reserve losses
BRANE

REGHH FARZE
REE  BARK it KnfE  BHER at
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEn TéR TER TER TERL THL

surplus

reserve

As at 1 January 2021 RZE--FE-F-H 75,416 225,806 1,287 27) (335,479) (32,997)
Loss for the year FEER - - - - (3,840) (3,840)
Other comprehensive income Atz EkE - - - 27 - 2
Total comprehensive loss for the year ~ £E2 EAHELH - - - 27 (3,840) (3,813)
Lapse of share options B L - - (873) - 873 -
Capital reduction RAHlR - 93,339 - - - 93,339
Transfer to contributed surplus ERZHARR (75,416) 75,416 - - - -
Issuance of shares upon Rights Issue (B2 47 R (7 7,725 - - - - 7,725
Changes in equity for the year FEREED (67,691) 168,755 (873) 27 (2,967) 97,251
As at 31 December 2021 RZB-—-%+-R

and 1 January 2022 St-ARZEzzZ

—-A—H 394,561 (338,446)

Loss for the year and total FEFERFECAFEES

comprehensive loss for the year (27,934) (27,934)
Lapse of share options BRELH 414 =
Changes in equity for the year FEEREY - (27,520) (27,934)
As at 31 December 2022 W-Z2--F+-pA=1+-H 1,125 394,561 - (365,966) 36,320
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The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements

therein are presented in the consolidated statement of

profit or loss and other comprehensive income and

consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Share premium

Share premium represents premium arising from
the issue of shares at a price in excess of their par
value per share. The application of share premium
account is governed by Section 40 of the
Companies Act of Bermuda.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Company mainly
represents (1) accumulated amounts transferred
from share premium account in previous years and
(2) the total amounts of credit transfer after
capital reorganisation.

Share-based payments reserve

The share-based payment reserve represents the
fair value of the actual or estimated number of
unexercised share options granted recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for equity-settled share-based payments in note
4(p) to the consolidated financial statements.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 4(d)(iii) to the
consolidated financial statements.

AEE BESERERD2TING
AEAREMRERRENRGAE
HRBWE -

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

I 40 8 18

P47 34 (B 46 DA R I B A B AR 1 (B
ZEBBEITHRDEE ZHE -
Beinim (B EAXAFRE(RT
E)FA0E B EE o

BARER
BABRBRIZRBEFEBER
EERZRAEAZ SR MM
AERBRER ERAR -

B0 13 R

B 1 R AR I A BT S 3R
BT S A(p) Bk A RE 25 45 E R BB 15
BRI 2 B BRI RER
BB fhs TR HA M RITE
BEARAE Y DA E -

BE 5

[E BB RRE RN EBIM S
WRAEEZFBINEZRE - %
R i & B 75 3R R MY EE4(d) i)
Fi#lz @st BURBEE ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE L - —F+-_A=+—HILFE

27. RESERVES (CONTINUED) 27. f#4& (&)
(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued) b) EHEREWN(E)
(v) FVTOCI reserve (v) BAREBEFAREMZEKSE
&
The FVTOCI reserve represents cumulative gains WA B AEME IS FEE
and losses arising on the revaluation of debt REEMEAREFARMEE
instruments at FVTOCI that have been recognised Wz BB TAfEETERE
in other comprehensive income, net of amounts b 2 E TR 2 RET I R
reclassified to profit or loss when those debt BB EERSIEARER
instruments at FVTOCI are disposed of. The reserve AEME2ERZ CEBLIARS
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting HMOBRER S - ZHER
policy in note 4(g) to the consolidated financial AV BHRERNF4FE S
statements. BRI o
28. SECURED BANK LOAN 28. BEARRITER
The secured bank loan is repayable as follows: EERARTERZERBARNOT
2022 2021
—F-= —T_—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH T
Within one year —F R 522
More than one year, but not —F LA EETEBBME
exceeding two years 535
More than two years, but not MEN BT ZRAF
more than five years 594
1,651
Portion of bank loan that are due for BEMRR—FRETAREX
repayment after one year but contain BEGER2BABRITERGIA
a repayment on demand clause (shown mEIAE)
under current liabilities) (1,129)
522
Less: Amount due for settlement within W T A ARNEEESRE
12 months (shown under current FIAREEE)
liabilities) (522)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months + —{f A& jE & E & 58 -
The 10-year instalment loan contains a repayment on demand ZT T BHERMNERBEEGRK - B
clause which is repayable on demand and has been secured EREREBREEREE WULAEBRHEAD
by a mortgage over the Group's office premise (Note 19), EYEZIZIBEERIR (HE19) BFIKE
bearing interest at 2.5% (2021: 2.5%) below prime rate per TARTHRESEMNERE(ZE-_—4F:

annum. 25E)ET R -
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The Company’s 2012 Share Option Scheme was adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 31 July 2012 (the “2012
Scheme™) for the primary purpose of providing incentives to
directors of the Company and eligible participants (as defined
in the Scheme), and was expired on 30 July 2022.

Under the 2012 Scheme, the Board of Directors (the “Board”)
may grant options to directors of the Company (including
non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors) and its eligible participants to subscribe for shares
in the Company.

As at 31 December 2021, the total number of shares
available for issue under the 2012 Scheme was approximately
4,609,646, representing approximately 3.26% of the issued
shares of the Company.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the 2012 Scheme is not permitted to
exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. The number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted to any individual in any one year is
not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders. Options granted to substantial
shareholders or independent non-executive directors in
excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital or with a
value in excess of HK$5 million must be approved in advance
by the Company’s shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up on or before the relevant
acceptance date, upon payment of HK$1.00 for the options
granted. Options may be exercised at any time from the date
of grant of the share option to a period to be notified by the
Board to each grantee at the time of making such offer,
which shall not expire later than 10 years from the date of
grant.

RARZBRESEIDBRER T —Z2F
tA=Zt+—HRBAZABEMRN([=ZZF
—ZFEE]D  FZENAREARNRE
EhAEWR2HEE (EERZTE) 2R
ZEZZFEA=THEM-

RE_ZF—_F58 EF@qRARH
E= (BRIFVTEZTNBEIIFNTESR)
LREEBSBAERKARBARBTBND 2
BB

RZEBE-_—F+A=+—8 " BEZ:t
I nT B 1T 2 B 0 4B B4 B 4,609,646 % -
HARRRIEEITIRMN4I3.26%

EARERRRRRELBER - BIEZATE
AR 2 R S R R (7 B8 - TS
BARRREANEREDETRMOI0% - R
AN AR B ERERT - RERFERE
fa] & 51 A == 7] B8 55 H B IR M 0 I 2 AR 1) £
B TSBBAQARMTAEHBEZEITRND
1% o HAIEZRFXBIIENTESE D
BB A A RIAEZAR0.1% k(B {EHR 85,000,000
BB - BEEEARARREIE

BRZBERELBENBRZAB B A
B R AL ER BRI M1.00/8 7T
ZHE - BEREAHRLAMEEESES
REZBEHNRNEZARAZ AR AL
RTE - B A BRI BER +FR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZ T -~ F+ A=+ —HIFE

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 27 June 2022,
the Company adopted a new share option scheme (the “2022
Scheme”) for the primary purpose to recognising and
acknowledging the contributions the eligible participants had
or may have made to the Group. Eligible participants include
the full-time and part-time employees, executives, officers,
directors (including executive directors and non-executive
directors) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries and other
non-employee participants (as defined in the 2022 Scheme).
Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the 2022 Scheme
will remain valid for a period of 10 years from the date of its
adoption.

The Company was authorised to grant share options under
the 2022 Scheme for subscription of up to a total of
14,142,318 shares, representing approximately 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of
adoption.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the 2022 Scheme is not permitted to
exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. The number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted to any individual in any one year is
not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders. Options granted to substantial
shareholders or independent non-executive directors in excess
of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital or with a value in
excess of HK$5 million must be approved in advance by the
Company's shareholders.
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Options granted must be taken up on or before the relevant
acceptance date, upon payment of HK$1.00 for the options
granted. Options may be exercised at any time from the date
of grant of the share option to a period to be notified by the
Board to each grantee at the time of making such offer,
which shall not expire later than 10 years from the date of
grant.

The exercise price is determined by the Board at its absolute
discretion and will not be less than the higher of (a) the
closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant; (b) the average closing price of the shares of
the Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued
by the Stock Exchange for the 5 business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (c) the nominal value of a
share of the Company on the date of grant.

After the adoption of 2022 Scheme, no further options could
be offered under the 2012 Scheme, but in all other respects
the provisions of the 2012 Scheme shall remain in full force
and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the
exercise of options granted prior to its expiration or otherwise
as may be required in accordance with the provisions of the
2012 Scheme and all options granted prior to such expiration
and not exercised at the date of expiration shall remain valid.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, 885,638 share
options were lapsed and no share options were granted,
exercised and cancelled. There are no shares options
outstanding as at 31 December 2022 under the 2012 Scheme
and no share options were granted under the 2022 Scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
niﬁ ZT ﬁgg qdi %ﬁé BTT ;35

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B ZE T - F+_A=+—HILFE

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 29. BT (4E)
2012 Share Option Scheme (Continued) —E-—FHEREE (E)
Details of the movement of share options under 2012 BIE-_ZT——FE8REZ2EBREREZ
Scheme during the years are as follows: —CE A+ RA=T—RALBHAZE
BT -
2021
—E-—F
Weighted Weighted
Number of average Number of average
share options  exercise price share options exercise price
mE¥s3 1
BRENH TEE BREHA 1@
HK$ HK$
BT
Outstanding at the beginning FRARITE
of the year 885,638 . 15,600,000 0.189
Adjustment resulted from share FRRME G R AR
consolidation during the year (14,040,000) 1.890
Adjustment resulted from FRHBRAMEIB AR
Rights Issue during the year - 282,128 1.601
Lapsed during the year FRRR (885,638) : (956,490) 2.008
Outstanding at the end of the year FRHAKRITE 885,638 1.160
Exercisable at the end of year ERAFIE 885,638 1.160
As at 31 December 2021, the options outstanding had a RZE_—F+A=T—BRKRTEE
weighted average remaining contractual life of 0.58 year and f&HE 2 T T & 4 FH R0.585 -
the exercise prices was HK$1.160. FTEER1.160/8 T °
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30. PARTICULARS OF SIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARIES 30 XEMBATZFHE
Particulars of the significant subsidiaries of the Company as RZE-_—_FR-_FE-_—F+_A=+—
at 31 December 2022 and 2021 were as follows: B ARREEMBRARIZFHBOT :

Principal country of

operation/
Country of
incorporation/ Percentage of
registration and ownership interest/
operation/ Particular of voting power/profit Principal
Name of Company Kind of legal entity  issued share capital sharing Indirect activities
TEEEAR/
RIAEXR
EMEIER EREEES RRE/
NARHE ERERRE BRITRE HANPEEZELL IEXRH
2022 2021
—E-C —E-_—%
Greater Sino Ventures Hong Kong/British 2,100,000 ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited Virgin Islands/Limited  shares of US$1 each
liability company
B/ EBRLES,/ 2,100000BER1ETZ REARR
BREERA Lk
Nicefield Asia Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong/ 15,000,000 ordinary shares 100% 100%  Asset holding
Limited liability
company
EENER L BB/ BR/ 15,000,000% i@ % BEEE
BRELRAA
31. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 3. EEEKHR
As at 31 December 2022, the office premise with a carrying RIE-_—_F+-_A=+—8 " EEENAE
amount of approximately HK$8,794,000 (2021: 8,794,000/ 5t (—ZF — — £ : £99,324,000
HK$9,324,000) was pledged for an instalment loan. BIL)ZMAEYHEC R —ENBHERME

AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZ T -~ F+ A=+ —HIFE

With effect from 1 December 2000, the Group joined the
mandatory provident fund scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) for
all the eligible employees of the Group in Hong Kong.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employees are required to
contribute 5% of their monthly salaries up to a maximum of
HK$1,500 and they can choose to make additional
contributions. The employer’s monthly contributions are
calculated at 5% of the employee’s monthly salaries up to a
maximum of HK$1,500. The employees are entitled to 100%
of the employer’s mandatory contribution upon their
retirement at the age of 65, death or total incapacity.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operates in
the PRC are required to participate in a retirement scheme or
other similar defined contribution provident fund operated by
the respective local municipal government. The contributions
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the scheme/fund.

Employees employed by the Group’s operations in Macau
Special Administrative Region (“SAR”) are members of
government-managed social benefits schemes operated by
the Macau SAR government. The Macau SAR operations are
required to pay a monthly fixed contribution to the social
benefits schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the social benefits schemes
operated by the Macau SAR government is to make the
required contributions under the schemes.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
Group had no forfeited contributions under the PRC
Retirement Scheme, MPF Scheme and Macau Retirement
Scheme which might be used by the Group to reduce the
existing level of contributions. There were no such forfeited
contributions available as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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BE-_EETF+_A—HEE AEEAHE
REBZIIBEAEREEMAGEHMERTRE
TETEI([BBELTE]) -

RIFRESFTE  EENVBRERAFH 5%
(EFR1,500870) tER AR 3R - WAl B IZ1EH
BIMIR - EX 2B RARRBEERAFZ
5% (EFR1,50087T) © 8 B I F [E655% 1R
KFH  BRHTE2ERTIEENFE T
ZHE100% BT H 2Bt -

AEEBRTHEAZSENBERARZEEEAS
B B M 28 2 RREH I A
EUZRERFABEEES - ZFEHK
TR RREBE R 2 RERTXN
R Bt RS

XERAKBERRMFRITHRERZ EED
BB 2 18 819 &R IR BI 17 IR R BT P & o
VHBNFERZHERMAEZKE - R
FIsRITTR R L EN AT ARZ L eRE
MEt B E R - AR B BRI FT
AR o AN B BB PT R B 1T IR BUR P
EMZHERAEAREZR-TER
RIBZTEMEL R EHRK -

HE—_TS-——#p-_FT-—F+=-f=+—
AIEFE - AEBEIWELZUHBERAKTE -
RSB MBPIRIRGTEI T ATRE AR S
BERAERERGHRIKFEZHR - RZF
ToFRZEZ—FF+ZRA=1+—HILE
AR E 2 U Z R -



32.

33.

34.

35.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)
The total cost charged to consolidated statement of profit or
loss of approximately HK$203,000 (2021: HK$296,000)
represented contributions payable to these schemes by the
Group in respect of the current accounting year.

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE

The calculation of the net asset value per share at the end of
the reporting period is based on the Group’s net assets of
approximately HK$55,615,000 (2021: HK$83,529,000) and
the number of ordinary shares of 141,423,187 (2021:
141,423,187) in issue as of that date.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.

32.

33.

34.

EAREANEE(E)
AEERASHEEH LS EMA 2 H®
%EW%FFA%§%§%Zﬂ$%%
203,000/ 70 (ZF = —4 : 296,000/ L) °

BREEFE
RBEERRZEREEFEDDRER
ZTEZF+ZR=F+—HZEBEE®
B 455,615,000 T (=& = — F :
83,529,000 T) B EZHEBETE AR
141,423,187 (ZF = —4F : 141,423,187
B&) o

REREREBRME
a) MEZBFELEEEZHIR

TERFAINAEEREETHAELR
BZEHFE BRASRIFRSE
Ho-mELTPELECABNEAGBL
REMEBXRKRERERAEELER
BRERERTHIERBELTDAR S

=
//ZI'I\:E °

Secured bank loan

F1

Rehe

At the beginning of year
Cash flows

At the end of year FR

BIEHRITER
2022 2021
—2g-_- —E -4
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FAT
2,160
(509)

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities (2021: Nil).

35.

jl‘\\ﬁ%
RZEBE-Z—_F+-_A=+—H XxEEWL
BEMNERSIABE(ZZE_—F: &)
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NOTES TO THE CONSDUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE T - —F + - A=+—HIFE

36. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 36. EXAZEAEIRERBAERS
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(a) Transactions with related parties and connected () BEAIRZIRBERS
persons
In addition to those related party transactions and BRRGEMBERREMESMEE L
balances disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated BBEBALTRGRRGEHIN  NEE
financial statements, the Group had the following REANBERGEANTHETTIIRS :

transactions with its related parties and connected
persons during the year:

2022 2021
—g-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHT FAT
Investment management fees paid and ENRENKEERE
payable to Success Advance Investments BREREBRRAR
Limited (“Success Advance”) (Note (i) ([B&R2 1) (H320)) 505
Brokerage commission expenses paid to EfEEZESFARAQA
Topper Dragon Securities Limited (“Topper [8E[E ) 2 &4 M EH X
Dragon”) (Note (i) (K7 aEai) 319
Employee benefits expense paid and EffkEMEERAMFX
payable to:
Ting Lai Ling (Note (ii)) TR (K7t (i) 2,272
* The balance represented an amount less than HK$1,000. * It &7 H1,000/ 7T
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36. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(b) Compensation of key management personne
The key management personnel of the Group comprise
all directors and the chief executive officer. Details of
their emoluments are disclosed below:

6. EXBHEATRERBERS
(#&)
b) TEEHEE XS &M
AEMTIECHEEREOERGES
RATHMEE - HE 2 We S5 REN
T

2022 2021

=gz —EZ—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

T FET

Fees e 2,188

Salaries and allowances e KoER 4,801

Contributions to retirement benefit schemes R K& F 5+ 2|t 7 36 45
Notes: Hfat -

(i) Pursuant to Rule 14A.08 of the Listing Rules, any
investment manager, investment adviser or custodian (or
any connected person thereof) is regarded as a
connected person. Success Advance was appointed as
the Company’s new investment manager with effect
from 25 January 2021. Mr. Lee Kwok Leung (“Mr. Lee"),
Executive Director of the Company is the responsible
officer of Success Advance, and his son, Mr. Lee Wang
Ho, was the responsible officer of Success Advance until
18 August 2022. In August 2022, Dr. Yeung Cheuk
Kwong Chief Executive of the Company was also
appointed as one of the responsible officers of Success
Advance.

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2021, Ms. Lam Mee
Yee, (“Ms. Lam"), daughter of the Chairman and
Non-executive director, Dr. Lam Man Chan (“Dr. Lam"),
was the controlling shareholder of Topper Dragon. In
February 2022, Dr. Lam and Ms. Lam disposed of their
entire share holding in Topper Dragon.

(iii)  Ms. Ting Lai Ling, wife of Dr. Lam, acted as the Project
and Administration General Manager of the Company
and received employee benefits in exchange for services
rendered to the Company.

37. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The net losses on financial assets at FVTPL as at 31 December
2022 to the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements amounted to HK$3,033,000.

() MRIELETWHBEI14A.0815 £
WELRE REBBKTE A (K
BEZAMNBEAL) HERABHE
BAL -BEER-_ZTE=-_—F—A
ZtThHHRBEZEAERRBFE
BIEIE - RARITESTREARE
E(MEZERE]D) RBERZATAER
HFfFEEENSARBEZAR
AB BEE-_Z-_—F€N\A+/N\H
- EZZE=-Z=—FNA ARAZ
TRESEBEXBLIEZITABE
Z2BEAEB-

iy HE-_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—81
FE EERENTESHER
T(MBL) 2ZZmEELLTA
BEEZIERKE R - —F =
A MBLTEMZETe HEEREAR
2 BEDE 2 EPRARAE -

(i) MELzETBERLTEETARF
ZHEBRITHAEKRE  THREAR
RERFEZRBUWERRERERF -

37. REHEEIE
R-EBE-—F+ - A=+—HBHHEAZERA
REFABRZEMEE  DEFRAMBE®
FHULE B EIE - E1EFEE 40 483,033,000
T e

HEHE 81 2RERAR | —BE--EEH
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hFMBEBRE

RESULTS

E

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1+—HLHFE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
= el T —F ZT-TF ZT-NF ZT-N\F
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FET FHT FHET FHT
Loss before tax Briiig 5 iE (27,991) (9,579) (43,928) (49,958) (53,840)
Income tax expense Frisfif - - - - -
Loss for the year attributable AR TIHEA AFE(L
to owners of the Company FEEB (9,579) (43,928) (49,958) (53,840)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAaE
As at 31 December
W+=—B=+—H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E-= —Eo—F —E-FTF —T-AF T )N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAT FHET FHET FHET
Total assets BEEME 89,467 95,537 139,575 152,081
Total liabilities BEBE (4,474) (5,938) (10,650) (10,713) (10,040)
Total equity B m 83,529 84,887 128,862 142,041
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Unit 18, 9/F, Block B, Focal Industrial Centre,
21 Man Lok Street, Hunghom, Kowloon, Hong Kong

BARNBABMRET 21 RESTEPLBEIE 18 F

Tel 3% : (852) 3589 6710
Fax 25 : (852) 3102 2970
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